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NOTICE OF 69TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the 70th Annual General Meeting of INDIAN POTASH LIMITED (“the Company”) 
will be held on Saturday, the 2nd August, 2025 at 12:30 P.M. through Video Conferencing / Other Audio 
Visual Means (VC / OAVMs) to transact the following business: 

ORDINARY BUSINESS: 

To consider, and if deemed fit, pass the following items as an Ordinary Resolutions : 

Item No.1- Adoption of Financial Statements 

To receive, consider and adopt: 

a)  The Audited Standalone Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2025, 
together with the Report of the Board of Directors and Auditors thereon. 

“RESOLVED THAT the Audited Standalone Financial Statements of the Company for the Financial Year 
ended March 31, 2025, the Report of the Board of Directors and Auditors’ thereon placed before the 70th 
Annual General Meeting be and are hereby adopted”. 

b)  The Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for the Financial Year ended 
March 31, 2025, together with the Report of the Auditors thereon. 

RESOLVED THAT the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for the Financial Year 
ended March 31, 2025, the Report of the Board of Directors and Auditors’ thereon placed before the 70th 

Annual General Meeting be and are hereby adopted”. 

Item No. 2- Declaration of Dividend 

To consider and declare Final Dividend of Rs. 20/- per fully paid-up Equity Share face value of Rs. 10/- 
each for the Financial Year 2024-25 and the same be paid out of the profits of the Company to those 
shareholders whose names appear in the Register of Members as on 11th July 2025. 

RESOLVED THAT a dividend of Rs. 20/- per fully paid-up Equity Share of Rs. 10/- each be declared for 
the Financial Year ended March 31, 2025 and that the same be paid out of the profits of the Company to 
those shareholders whose name appear in the Register of Members as on 11th July 2025. 

Item No.3- Re-appointment of Shri Manish Gupta (DIN: 01335184) who retires by rotation 

To appoint a Director in place of Shri Manish Gupta (DIN: 01335184) who retires by rotation and being 
eligible, offers himself for re- appointment. 

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 152 and all other applicable provisions, if any, 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules made thereunder (including any statutory modification(s) 
or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force), Shri Manish Gupta (DIN: 01335184), who retires 
by rotation and being eligible for re-appointment, be and is hereby re-appointed as a Director of the 
Company, liable to retire by rotation”.  

Item No. 4 - Re-appointment of Shri Kamal Dayani, IAS (DIN: 05351774) who retires by rotation 

To appoint a Director in place of Shri Kamal Dayani, IAS (DIN: 05351774)  who retires by rotation and 
being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.

NOTICE OF 70TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 152 and all other applicable provisions, if any, 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules made thereunder (including any statutory modification(s) or 
re-enactment thereof for the time being in force), Shri. Kamal Dayani, IAS (DIN: 05351774), who retires 
by rotation and being eligible for re-appointment, be and is hereby re-appointed as a Director of the 
Company, liable to retire by rotation”. 

Item No. 5 – Re-appointment of Shri Alok Kumar Singh, IAS  (DIN: 07915523 ) who retires by rotation 

To appoint a Director in place of Shri Alok Kumar Singh, IAS  (DIN:07915523) who retires by rotation and 
being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment. 

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 152 and all other applicable provisions, if any, 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules made thereunder (including any statutory modification(s) or        
re-enactment thereof for the time being in force), Shri Alok Kumar Singh, IAS (DIN: 07915523), who 
retires by rotation and being eligible for re-appointment, be and is hereby re-appointed as a Director of 
the Company, liable to retire by rotation”. 

SPECIAL BUSINESS 

Item No. 6 - To ratify / approve the remuneration of Independent Directors 

As per Section 149, 197 and 198 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Article 93 of the Articles of 
Association of the Company, the Board may remunerate to the Directors either by a fixed sum and / 
or by a percentage of profits or otherwise and such remuneration may be either in addition to or in 
substitution for any other remuneration to which he / she may be entitled. The said remuneration to the 
Independent Directors would be paid subject to ratification / approval of the Members. 

Accordingly, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC) had considered the proposal and 
recommended for the payment of Rs. 5 Lakhs each as remuneration to the Independent Directors for         
FY 2023 – 24. Further, the Board of Directors in their Meeting held on 12th  November 2024 endorsed the 
decision of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, subject to ratification / approval of Members 
of the Company.  

“RESOLVED THAT Pursuant to the provisions of Section 149, 197,198 of the Companies Act, 2013 read 
with Article 93 of Articles of Association of the Company, ratification / approval is being accorded for the 
payment of Rs. 5 Lakhs to each Independent Director as remuneration for FY 2023 – 24.” 

Item No. 7 - Re-Appointment of Dr. P S Gahlaut as a Managing Director of the Company 

To consider and if thought fit to pass with or without modification(s), the following Resolution as a 
Special Resolution:-

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 196, 197, 198, 203 read with  Schedule V and all 
other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies  Act, 2013 (Including any statutory modification(s) or 
re-enactment (s) thereof, for the time being in force) and  the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration 
of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 and subject to such other consents / approvals as may be required, 
Dr.  P. S. Gahlaut, (DIN 00049401) be and is hereby re-appointed as the Managing Director of the Company 
for a further period of one year commencing from 1st August 2025 till 31st July 2026 on the existing 
terms and conditions of his employment the details of which are reproduced hereunder:
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Basic Pay In the time scale of Rs. 2,00,000- 6,000- 3,70,000 subject to an
   increment of 3% per annum with an existing basic of Rs.3,20,400/-

Dearness Allowance On Industrial DA pattern which is fixed quarterly Allowance 
based on the All India Consumer Price Index as  applicable in 
the Public Sector.

Perquisites:

a) Housing House Rent Allowance @ 27 per cent of Basic Pay or the  
Company  will provide un-furnished accommodation subject to  
a ceiling of 40 per cent of Basic Pay over and above 10 per cent 
of the Basic Pay payable by Dr. P.S. Gahlaut.

b) Gas, Electricity, Water,  The expenditure on gas, electricity, water and soft & hard 
furnishings will be subject to a ceiling of total  20 per cent of 
the salary with a cap of 10 per cent each.

c) Newspaper / Books / subject to a ceiling of total 10 per cent of the  salary with a cap 
of 5 percent each. 

   
d) Professional development Subject to a maximum of 5 per cent of the Salary   
 Allowance

e) Medical Reimbursement Subject to a maximum of 5 per cent of the Salary      

f) Leave Travel Concession  For self and family subject to a maximum of 10 percent of salary. 

g) Performance Pay  As  may  be  approved  by  the Board Sub - Related Committee on
              executive compensation on year to year basis in accordance with 

the guidelines on  the  subject  applicable to CPSEs. 

h) Company’s Contribution to Benefit of Company’s Contribution to Provident  Provident Fund  
as per the Rules of the Company.

i) Company’s Contribution to As per the Rules of the Company at the rate fifteen per cent of 
the salary. Contribution to Provident Fund and Superannuation 
Fund will not be included in the computation of the ceiling 
on perquisites to the extent these are not  Taxable under the 
Income Tax Act.

j) Club Fees  Fees of Clubs subject to a maximum of two excluding admission 
and Life Membership Fees.

k) Gratuity As per the rules of the Company  Contribution for Dr. P.S. Gahlaut 
calculated actuarially  will continue to be made into the 
approved Fund.

l) Transport Free use of car on Company’s business.

m) Telephone Free  Telephone  facility  at residence and the Company to bear  
all expenses  in connection therewith except for personal long 
distance calls.

Furnishings

Periodicals and Servant /   
watchman / Gardener

Provident Fund

Superannuation

Mobile phone
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“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT in any Financial Year during the of tenure of  Dr. .P. S. Gahlaut, the company 
has no profits or its profits are inadequate, it may pay remuneration to Dr. P. S. Gahlaut the total of which 
shall not exceed the ceiling limit as provided in Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013 or such amounts 
as may be specified by any amendment to the Act;

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Dr. P. S. Gahlaut, Managing Director of the Company will not be liable to retire 
by rotation;

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT in the event of relaxation by the Government on ceilings on Managerial 
Remuneration, the Board of Directors be and is hereby authorized to increase the remuneration and / 
or perquisites, if any,  of Dr. P. S. Gahlaut, if it is in absolute discretion think fit within such guidelines on 
ceilings wherever applicable and for which consent of the company as required be and is hereby granted  
under the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013; and 

FURTHER RESOLVED THAT the Board of Directors and Company Secretary be and are hereby severally 
authorized to do and perform all such acts, deeds, matters and things, as may be considered necessary, 
desirable or expedient to give effect to the above resolutions”.

Item No. 8 - To ratify the appointment of Cost Auditors for the Financial Year 2025 - 26 and fix their 
remuneration 

To consider and if thought fit, to pass, with or without modification(s), the following resolution as an 
Ordinary Resolution: 

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with the Companies (Audit 
and Auditors) Rules, 2014 and subject to such guidelines and approval as may be required from the 
Central Government, the appointment of  M/s. R. M. Bansal & Co. Cost Accountants, Lakhanpur, Kanpur, 
Uttar Pradesh (U.P.) as Cost Auditors of the company to conduct audit of cost accounting records 
maintained by the Company for Fertiliser (SSP Unit - Muzaffarpur), Sugar and Sugar Products etc. for 
the Financial Year ending on 31st March 2026 at a remuneration of  Rs. 25,000/- (Rupees Twenty Five 
Thousand only) for each unit / factory exclusive of taxes, traveling and out of pocket expenses incurred 
in connection with the audit, be and is hereby ratified; 

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Managing Director / Chief Financial Officer / Company Secretary of the 
Company be and are hereby authorized severally to do acts, deeds and things and take all necessary 
steps as may be necessary proper and expedient to give effect to this resolution”.

  

 By order of the Board
 For Indian Potash Limited    
  
  
 Dr.  Girish Kumar
                                                                                Company Secretary
 FCS 6468

Registered Office
Seethakathi Business Centre
1st Floor, 684 -690, Anna Salai 
Chennai  - 600 006
CIN : U14219TN1955PLC000961 

Date   :  04th July, 2025
Place  :  Chennai
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NOTE: 

1. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) has vide Circular No. 14/2020 dated April 8, 2020, Circular 
No. 17/2020 dated April 13, 2020, Circular No. 20/2020 dated May 5, 2020, Circular No. 02/2021 
dated January 13, 2021 and General Circular  02 / 2022 dated May 5, 2022, Circular No. 10/2022 
and 11/2022 dated December 28, 2022 followed by General Circular No. 09 / 2023 dated September       
25, 2023 and General Circular No. 09 / 2024 dated September 19, 2024 (collectively referred to as 
“MCA Circulars”) and all other relevant circulars issued from time to time, permitted the holding 
of AGM through VC / OAVMs without the physical presence of the Members at a common venue. 
Hence, in compliance with the Circulars, the AGM of the Company is being held through VC / OAVMs 
without the physical presence of the Members. The proceedings of the AGM will be deemed to be 
conducted at the Registered Office of the Company which shall be the deemed venue of the AGM.

2. An explanatory statement pursuant to Section 102 of the Companies Act, 2013 relating to the         
special business to be transacted at the Annual General Meeting is annexed hereto.

3. As the AGM shall be conducted through VC / OAVMs, the facility for appointment of proxy by the 
members is not available for this AGM and hence the Proxy Form and Attendance slip including 
Route Map are not annexed to this Notice. 

4. Institutional / Corporate Members are requested to send to the Registered Office of the Company 
a scanned copy of the Board Resolution authorizing its representative(s) to attend and vote at the 
AGM pursuant to Section 113 of the Companies Act, 2013. 

5. The Members are requested to notify any change in their E-mail address immediately to the             
Company. 

6. All the documents referred to in the accompanying Notice and Explanatory Statement shall be 
available for inspection at the Registered Office of the Company. 

7. Register of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel and their shareholding maintained under           
Section 170 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Register of Contracts or arrangements maintained       
under  section  189  of  the Companies Act, 2013, if any shall be available for inspection at the  
Registered Office of the Company. 

8. The link for the zoom meeting is given herein: 

 https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88566219987?pwd=MIDHjlCicAsJ3anJle3T6VVsClRu0S.1 

 Meeting ID  :  885 6621 9987 

 Passcode  :  02082025 

9. The shareholders shall login on the meeting in the above mentioned ID by giving the above 
mentioned Meeting ID and Passcode. In case of any difficulty in login into the meeting, the members 
can write to girish.kumar@potindia.com and selvam@potindia.com or contact at the Office No. 
044 – 28297855 / 044 – 4211 8986 / 044 – 4211 8917. 

10. Members are requested to login to the above link at least 30 minutes before the meeting time so 
that last minute rush can be avoided. The meeting shall be conducted by the company in accordance 
with MCA Circulars issued from time to time. 

11. Attendance of the members participating in the 70th AGM through VC / OAVMs facility shall be 
counted for the purpose of reckoning the quorum under section 103 of the Companies Act, 2013.
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EXPLANATORY STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 102 OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013 

The following Explanatory Statement pursuant to Section 102 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("ACT”) sets 
out all material facts relating to the items mentioned in the SPECIAL BUSINESS are given below: 

Relevant documents in respect of the said items are open for inspection by the members at the Registered 
Office of the Company on all working days during 2.30 p.m. to 4.30 p.m. up to the date of the Meeting. 

Item No. 6 - To ratify / approve the remuneration of Independent Directors

As per Section 149, 197 and 198 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Article 93 of the Articles of 
Association of the Company, the Board may remunerate to the Directors either by a fixed sum and / or by 
a percentage of profit or otherwise and such remuneration may be either in addition to or in substitution 
for any other remuneration to which he / she may be entitled. The said remuneration to the Independent 
Directors would be paid subject to ratification / approval of the Members. 

Accordingly, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC) had considered the proposal and 
recommended for the payment of Rs. 5 Lakhs each as remuneration to the Independent Directors for       
FY 2023 – 24. Further, the Board of Directors in their Meeting held on 12th November 2024 endorsed the 
decision of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, subject to ratification / approval of Members 
of the Company.  

The Directors recommend the Resolutions at Item No. 6 of the accompanying Notice for the ratification 
/ approval of the Members of the Company. 

None of the Directors and Key Managerial Personnel or their relatives are concerned or interested to the 
extent stated above in the passing of the resolution at Item No. 6. 

Item No. 7 - Re-Appointment of Dr. P. S. Gahlaut as a Managing Director of the Company  

Dr. P. S. Gahlaut was appointed as Managing Director of the Company on 1st August 2023 for a period 
of two years and his tenure as Managing Director will be completing in 31st July 2025. The Board of 
Directors at its meeting held on 10th June 2025, have re-appointed Dr. P. S. Gahlaut as the Managing 
Director of the Company on existing terms and conditions after considering the recommendation of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee for a further period of one year commencing from 1st August 
2025 to 31st July 2026 by considering his contribution towards overall performance and growth of the 
Company.   

The Directors recommend the Resolutions at Item No. 7 of the accompanying Notice for the approval by 
passing the speical Resolution of the members of the Company.

Except Dr. P. S. Gahlaut, being an appointee, none of the Directors and Key Managerial Personnel of the 
Company and their relatives is concerned or interested, financial or otherwise, in the resolution set out 
at Item No. 7.

Item No. 8 -  To ratify the appointment of Cost Auditors for the Financial Year 2025 - 26 and fix their 
remuneration

As per the provisions of Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013, the company is required to appoint a 
Cost Auditor with the prescribed qualifications.  As per the proposal received from the Audit Committee 
for appointment of Cost Auditor for the Financial Year 2025 - 26, the Board proposed to appoint                       
M/s. R. M. Bansal & Co., Cost Accountants, Lakhanpur, Kanpur, Uttar Pradesh (U.P.) as Cost Auditors of the 
Company for the Financial Year 2025 - 26. 
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Registered Office  
Seethakathi Business Centre 
1st Floor, 684 -690, Anna Salai 
Chennai  - 600 006
CIN : U14219TN1955PLC000961

Date   : 04th July, 2025
Place  : Chennai

As per Rule 14 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules 2014, the appointment and remuneration 
payable to the Cost Auditors is to be ratified by the shareholders of the Company. Hence this resolution 
is put for the consideration of the shareholders. 

The Directors recommend the Resolutions at Item No. 8 of the accompanying Notice for the approval of 
the Members of the Company. 

None of the Directors and Key Managerial Personnel or their relatives are concerned or interested in the 
passing of the resolution at Item No. 8. 

  By order of the Board
  For Indian Potash Limited    

  
             Dr. Girish Kumar
                                                                              Company Secretary
  FCS 6468
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Dear Shareholders,

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their 
70th Annual Report along with audited accounts 
of the Company for the year ended 31st March 
2025.

GENERAL

Fertilizers play a vital role in Indian agriculture, 
ensuring food security and supporting the 
country's economic growth. The fertilizers 
contribute towards increasing agricultural 
productivity in India by enhancing crop yields, 
quality, and fertility. As one of the fundamental 
sectors in the country, fertilizer production along 
with importation to balance the demand-supply 
gap, has consistently demonstrated positive 
growth since last many years and India stands 
among the leading global consumers of fertilizers, 
experiencing continual growth in domestic sales.   
This is despite fertilisers being exposed to global 
risks spanning geopolitics, conflict, economics 
and climate. Towards meeting above objective 
despite inherent challenges, your company has 
placed itself in a good position where it helped 
the country achieve balanced fertilisation, ensure 
availability of fertilisers across PAN India and to 
farthest places and at affordable cost. 

India received 125.9 mm rainfall during pre-
monsoon 2024 season which is 4% below more 
than its Long Period Average (LPA) of 130.6 mm.  
During this season, out of 36 meteorological 
subdivisions, 7 received large excess rainfall, 
5 received excess rainfall, 14 received normal 
rainfall, 9 received deficient rainfall and                          
1 received large deficient rainfall.

The southwest monsoon rainfall in India is crucial 
as it supports the country's agricultural sector, 
which employs nearly half of the population and 
contributes significantly to the economy. 

The southwest monsoon season rainfall over 
the country as a whole during 2024 was normal 
(108% of the Long Period Average (LPA).  During 
the 2024 monsoon season, the El Niño-Southern 

Oscillation (ENSO) and Indian Ocean Dipole 
(IOD) conditions were neutral. The homogeneous 
regions of Northwest India (107% of LPA) received 
normal monsoon rainfall, whereas Central India 
(119% of LPA), and South Peninsula (114% of 
LPA) received above normal monsoon rainfall.  
Out of the total 36 meteorological sub-divisions, 
2 sub-divisions covering 9% of the total area 
of the country received large excess seasonal 
monsoon rainfall, 10 sub-divisions constituting 
26% of the total area received excess rainfall, 
21 sub-divisions covering 54% of the total area 
of the country received normal rainfall, and 3 
sub- constituting 11% of the total area received 
deficient seasonal rainfall.

During the post-monsoon season (October 2024 
– December 2024), country received 117.4 mm 
rainfall which was 3% below normal.  Out of 36 
meteorological subdivisions, 8 received large 
excess / excess rainfall, 14 received normal 
rainfall and 10 received deficient and 4 met 
subdivisions received large deficient rainfall.

The live storage in 161 major reservoirs as on 
31st March 2025 was 77.324 Billion Cubic Meter 
(BCM), which is 116% of total live storage of 
corresponding period of last year of 66.644 BCM 
and 115% of normal storage.

India is expected to receive above-normal 
rainfall during the upcoming monsoon season as 
per forecast shared by The India Meteorological 
Department. It is believed that this will boost 
the rural economy, control food inflation and 
crucial for agriculture and will lead to increase 
in fertilizer consumption.

SALES

The international prices of raw materials, 
intermediates and finished fertilisers showed 
considerable volatility during the year 2024-25.

The Flagship product of the company namely 
DAP has remained loss-making due to volatility 
in international prices and thus, in the absence of 
any committed assurance from the Government 
of India (GOI) on compensating this loss, there 
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was reduction in  DAP imports, thereby resulting 
in reduction in the inventory levels in the current 
calendar year.

While per se international prices have no direct 
bearing on our fertiliser sales in the domestic 
market but these price-movements result in 
major changes in the subsidy rates.  The present 
subsidy computation methodology lacks a 
scientific basis as it does not capture all the 
costs that are incurred in the manufacturing or 
import & distribution of fertilisers and losses are 
incurred on every tonne of sale of P&K fertilisers 
and more so for DAP which accounts for more 
than 60% of turnover of Indian Potash Limited.  
Moreover, the existing methodology takes Forex 
rates of preceding six months whereas actual 
payments are made in the following months of 
actual arrivals.  As the value of Indian Rupee 
has been on a continuous decline with 1 USD 
value being Rs. 83.41 on 31/3/2024 to 1 USD = 
Rs. 85.48 on 31/3/2025.  In addition, financial 
losses are inevitable on the inventory held by 
the companies at various levels whenever the 
subsidy gets revised downward.

The Nutrient-Based Subsidy (NBS) rates notified 
for FY 2025 translated into continued pressure 
on profitability for Diammonium Phosphate 
(DAP) throughout the year, while the same for 
other grades of NPKs witnessed an improvement.  
Government of India  did offer a special package 
of Rs. 3500/MT to reimburse some of the costs 
to cover from port to farm gate excluding CFR 
and customs duty to make DAP profitable. This 
was initially made effective from April 2024 – 
September 2024 and after industry’s continued 
dialogue with the Department of Fertilisers, 
special package was extended till end March 
2025. However, with the continued increase 
witnessed in import prices, DAP remained a loss-
making proposition. This background, admittedly 
the company’s sales were consciously calibrated 
under Board directives so as to comply with the 
Government orders and meet trade requirements 
with minimum operating losses.

The policy of limited imports was followed 
by other importers as well and by mid -               
September 2024,  the country was staring at heavy 

shortage of Phosphatic Fertilisers specially DAP 
in Rabi season and finally Government agreed to 
compensate importers on a ‘ vessel -to- vessel’ 
basis with base rate fixed both for CFR and US 
dollar rate. 

The new circular dated 1st October, 2024 wherein 
the decision of the Cabinet was conveyed 
on passing on the advantage/disadvantage 
on upward/downward trend of CFR prices of 
imported P&K Fertilisers to the importers  on a 
‘ vessel to’ vessel’ basis has been made effective 
for  arrivals  from  1st  September,  2024  to        
31st March, 2025 but no mention of provision of 
compensation for earlier imports.  

The Company in compliance with the 
Government circular of October 2024 and with 
detailed modalities as regards submission of 
claims remains pending, we have conservatively 
accounted 85% (approx.) of the claim amount as 
income in the financial statements and lowered 
the losses to that extent.

It is in this background that First Point Sales of 
the Company for all fertiliser products together 
(excluding canalised Urea) total 5.8 million MTs 
against sales of 5.9 million MTs in the previous 
fiscal. The POS sales of the Company also 
reflected decline for two major products namely 
MOP showing de-growth of 7.32%, DAP by 5.35% 
but a positive growth in Complex Fertiliser sales 
by 31.4%.

On the guidelines of January 2024 issued by 
Government of India to regulate Maximum 
retail price (MRP) for Phosphatic and Potassic 
(P&K) fertilisers, specifying a reasonableness 
for the profit margins by fixing a % separately 
for manufacturers / traders / integrated 
manufacturers, broadly, the company is 
compliant on the Government’s instructions 
on reasonableness of profits.  However, it had 
sought some clarifications / amendment to the 
policy guidelines and company is hopeful of a 
favourable consideration by the Government in 
this regard.

On Sugar division performance, Sugar industry 
witnessed a dip in the production levels mainly 
due to low cane yields across the State of Uttar 
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Pradesh resulting ultimately in marginally lower 
revenues for the company and under-absorption 
of fixed costs. However, the margins are expected 
to show improvement in FY 2026 supported by 
higher distillery sales with removal of cap on 
sugar diversion for ethanol production along 
with firmed up domestic sugar prices.  The 
company’s diversification into distillery and 
Biofuels has enhanced further to the profitability 
of the company.  The recently commissioned 
Grain based distillery unit at State of Odisha 
has successfully commenced its commercial 
operations towards end of March 25 and year 
2025/26 will have its full stream of 12 Months 
period for its share of revenue and the profits.  
Order position of distillery unit is comfortable 
and expect further off take from the customers 
in the coming months.

On Dairy division performance, the demand for 
liquid milk segment was relatively stable and 
revival in this segment is seen in increased 
customer orders. This increased consumption 
has enabled us to maintain the performance of 
this division during the year 2024-25 at previous 
year levels.

FINANCIAL RESULTS FOR THE YEAR 2024-25

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Particulars

Amount in
(Rs. Crores)

Amount in
(Rs. Crores)

Mar-25 Mar-24

Total Income 21,955.94 22,033.43 

Total Expenses 20,179.56 20,993.16 

Profit Before Tax, Finance cost 
and Depreciation

2,344.17 1,484.74 

Less: Finance Costs    499.42   383.76 

Less: Depreciation and Amorti-
zation Expenses

       68.37       60.71 

Profit Before Tax 1,776.38 1,040.27 

Current Tax    420.44   253.00 

Deferred Tax       24.79           9.94 

Profit after Tax (PAT) 1,331.15    777.33 

The total volume sales of all products at 5.8 
million tonnes (excluding Urea on DOF account 
at 1.7 million tonnes) is showing a marginal 
1.47% (approx.) de-growth over 5.9 million 
tonnes clocked during the previous year.

The total income of the company during FY 2024-
25 at Rs. 21,955.94 Crores shows a de-growth 
of 0.35% (approx.) compared to turnover of               
Rs. 22,033.43 Crores clocked in the same period 
last year.  Had the value of High sea sales made 
towards Urea imported on DOF account for FY 
2024-25 at Rs. 5,222.42 Crores were to be added, 
the absolute value of the turnover at gross will 
stand at Rs. 27,178.36 Crores.  However, for the 
purpose of disclosure in the financial statements, 
the canalizing transactions of Urea imported on 
DOF account is shown after reducing the cost 
of import of urea from the gross High sea sales 
value leaving the margin reported at net level.

The reduction in volume sales is almost entirely 
due to reduction in DAP sales  by 1.25 Lakh 
MTs (approx.) and MOP sales by 1.80 Lakh 
MTs (approx..) and the sales were consciously 
calibrated under Board directives so as to comply 
with the Government orders and control the 
losses.  

The reduction in MOP sales were partly made 
good by higher sales of Potash derived from 
Molasses (“ PDM ”) and Polyhalite which are also 
sources of K-nutrient. 

But, regardless of this set back, the Profit Before 
Tax (PBT) stands at Rs.1,776.38 Crores and 
thereby registering a growth of 71% over the 
previous year which stood at Rs.1,040.27 Crores.  
The Profit After Tax (PAT) at Rs. 1,331.15 Crores 
shows 71% growth over last year PAT of Rs. 
777.33 Crores.  The variance in PBT is also due to 
receipt of dividend income of Rs 1,040.09 Crores 
(Previous year 2023-24: Rs 785.51 Crores) from 
our Associate Company – M/s JPMC, Jordan.

It is also pertinent to bring to the kind attention 
of Shareholders the following facts which had a 
bearing on the profitability of the Company:

1. The value of Indian rupee was weakening 
during the year with much volatility in 
market condition experienced during the 
period of July 2024 – March 2025. The rupee 
which had opened at USD 1 = Rs. 83.41 on 
1/4/2024, USD 1 =  Rs. 83.39 on 30/6/2024, 
USD 1 = Rs. 83.80 on 30/09/2024 , USD 1 = 
Rs. 85.62 on 31/12/2024 and finally closed 
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at USD 1 = Rs. 85.48 on 31/03/2025 and 
the Company booked a forex loss of Rs. 54 
Crores (Previous year 2023-24: Rs. 267.06 
Crores) on account of above volatility seen 
in the 12 months ended March 2025.

2. Finance costs increased by Rs. 115.66 Crores 
(after considering impact of Rs.140.52 
Crores towards forex costs on buyer’s credit 
in line with disclosure requirements per  Ind 
AS 23  for grouping under finance costs) due 
to increased forex coverage rates despite 
the company’s judicious borrowing and 
optimal utilization of surplus funds.

3. The Company always carefully monitors and 
controls operational cost, selling expenses 
and administrative expenses and aligns its 
expenses to the sales volume.

4. There has been an overall improvement in 
the performance of Dairy and Cattle feed 
division under several operations / financial 
metrics.

5. Sugar Division achieved Profit for Rs. 81.00  
Crores for the period ended March 2025 
from Rs. 89.56 Crores for the corresponding 
previous period mainly attributed to lower 
cane yields.  Profits from new diversification 
into distillery, Bio-CNG and successful 
integration of manufacturing activities at 
Dhenkanal, State of Odisha has further 
added to Sugar division profits.

The Company’s internal control systems are 
commensurate with the nature of its business, 
the size and complexity of its operations and 
such internal financial controls with reference to 
the Financial Statements are adequate.

Grain Based Distillery Project 

The Company’s Green field project of developing 
and constructing a 190 KLPD Grain based 
distillery project at Talajaring, State of Odisha 
has been successfully commissioned after trial 
run and commenced commercial operations in 
end March 2025.  Plant is working under full 
capacity and the Year 2025-26 will see revenue 
/profit stream for full operational period of 12 
months with the order book remain comfortable 
against committed offtake. 

Acquisition on Long Lease of three Co-operative 
Sugar Mills in State of Gujarat

As part of the Company’s diversification build, 
the Company during the year under review 
has entered into a definitive agreement taking 
operation and management control by Long 
lease of 30/40 years of three Co-operative sugar 
mills based at Kodinar (Capacity 3500 TCD with 
distillery capacity of 18 KLPD) in District Gir 
Somnath, at Talala (Capacity 1500 TCD) in District 
Gir Somnath and at Valsad in District Valsad and 
all 3 mills are based in State of Gujarat. The 2 
sugar mills will be operationally ready for next 
sugar season starting from November 2025 
while Valsad unit is already operational and will 
add to the profitability of Sugar division in year 
2025/26.  With this, the company will emerge as 
a strong sugar player in the sugar industry and 
will be ranked in Top 5 amongst sugar industries 
in terms of capacity levels.  The consideration 
totaling to Rs. 416 Crores covering all the 3 Sugar 
mills were treated as “Right of Use Assets” and 
amortised over the lease period in the financial 
statements. 

EXTENSION & PROMOTION ACTIVITIES 
CONDUCTED DURING 2024-25

We have always been making our strenuous 
efforts for promoting balanced fertilization 
to achieve the ideal NPK use ratio of 4:2:1. To 
achieve that, we conduct a large number of field 
oriented activities and intensive promotional 
campaigns to educate the farmers on best 
management practices to increase fertilizer use 
efficiency and crop productivity under IPL and 
collaborative projects.

Under IPL Extension & Promotion budget, 
we have laid out 241 Crops Demonstrations, 
conducted 225 numbers of Field Days. We have 
organized 138 Sales Campaigns, 242 Farmer’s 
Meetings, 23 Crop Seminars and 28 numbers 
of Dealer's Training Programs. We have also 
participated in 43 Agri Fair/ Exhibitions. We have 
done 3, 18, 814 sq. ft. of Wall / Trolley paintings in 
rural areas. We have also created 68 IPL Farmers 
Clubs, 14 IPL Opinion Leader and also made 210 
short video films on various IPL products. Apart 
from this, we have also done 2,473 Audio-Visual 
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Programs through which we have educated 
farmers about balanced fertilization with special 
reference to role of potash in crop production.

We have also distributed promotional literatures 
like Polyhalite Leaflet in 10 regional languages,  
Polyhalite Potato Folder in Hindi, Nano Urea plus 
folder in 09 regional languages, Nano DAP folder 
in 09 regional languages, NPK 16-16-16 Folders 
in 5 languages, Bio Potash Leaflet, Potash Folder, 
POTASH-I folder & literatures in 10 regional 
languages, TSP folder in Hindi, Gujarati and 
Punjabi, Soybean Folder, Sugarcane Folder, Paddy 
Folder, Vegetables Folder, Fermented Organic 
Manure Leaflet,  Wheat Folder, Mustard Folder, 
Maize Folder, City Compost Leaflet, Groundnut 
Leaflet in Gujarati, Sugarcane Leaflet in Gujarati 
& Hindi, Banana Leaflet in Gujarati, Paddy Leaflet 
in Gujarati, Cotton Leaflet in Gujarati, Polyhalite 
Leaflet in Gujarati, Wheat leaflet in Gujarati, 
General Recommendation of Fertilizer Leaflet 
in Gujarati, City Compost Leaflet in Gujarati, 20-
20-0-13 Folder in Marathi & Hindi language, Tea 
& Coffee folder in English & Bengali languages, 
Nano Urea plus & Nano DAP Carry Bags and 
MOP & Polyhalite Carry Bag in 12 languages, 
IPL Pocket diary, IPL logo printed Key chains, 
POTASH-I danglers, Paper weight and Balloons. 
These promotional measures are an integral part 
of the company's initiative to reach out to farmer 
community at large.

BNPP : (BALANCE NUTRITION PROMOTION 
PROJECT)

The BNPP project which was started in the 
year 2021-22 and is now being implemented 
in 08 states: Telangana, Karnataka, West Bengal, 
Maharashtra, Uttar Pradesh, Kerala, Madhya 
Pradesh  &  Tamil  Nadu.  During  the  year   2024-
25, we had laid out 146 Crop Demonstrations, 
conducted 119 Field Days, organized 166 Group 
and Small Farmer Meetings, 15 nos. of Crop 
Seminar, 29 nos. of Sales Campaigns, participated 
in 11 nos. of Farmer’s Fairs and Exhibitions and 
also done 34,481 sq. ft. of Wall Paintings.

IPL-APC PPP: (POTASH PROMOTION PROJECT)

IPL-APC PPP was started in the year 2024 & 
was implemented in 06 states namely State of 
Odisha, Haryana, Himachal Pradesh, Rajasthan, 

Gujarat, and Tamil Nadu. During the year 2024, 
we had laid out 146 Crop Demonstrations, 
conducted 107 Field days, and organized 127 
Farmer's Meetings, 02 nos. of TV Campaigns,                                        
05 Dealers / Retailers Training Programmes and 
also done 42,973 sq. ft. of Wall Paintings.

PROSPECTS FOR 2025-26

The overall agriculture sector in India showed 
positive signs, supported by healthy reservoir 
levels and robust crop production, which are 
expected to sustain rural demand. Government 
interventions and favorable harvests also helped 
moderate food inflation. The Reserve Bank of 
India (RBI) projected a real GDP growth of 6.5% 
for 2025-26, indicating a continued recovery 
momentum.  

India Meteorological Department (IMD) 2025 
monsoon rainfall forecast of 105% of 105% of 
long-period average (LPA) of 87cm is good news 
for not only farmers but also the economy in 
general. However, a lot would depend on how it 
is spread over space and time. If the spread is 
close to normal without any significant weather 
shocks due to climate change/shock, India may 
see another year of reasonable agriculture gross 
value addition (GVA) growth of around 4.0%. This 
augurs well for fertilizer consumption growth in 
the economy. We already had two good crops – 
Kharif 2024 and Rabi 2024, and the expectation 
of another two good crops in FY26 along with 
inflation under control (closer to RBI’s target of 
4%) and monetary easing has the potential for 
the Indian economy to withstand the adverse 
impact of reciprocal tariffs , which the global 
trade is currently into. 

Agriculture has been a bright spot and continued 
demand for fertilizers will be backed by Minimum 
Support Price (“MSP”) for kharif and rabi crops 
for 2025-26 and likely to add momentum to 
fertilizer industry.

Timely payment of subsidy by Government is 
thus expected to improve credit profile of the 
Company.  Any delay will impact the liquidity 
position of the company.

As per ISMA’s revised estimates, sugar production 
in FY 2025 is expected to decline mainly due to 
lower cane yields across the three of the largest 
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sugar producing states and with domestic sugar 
prices continue to remain firmed up at elevated 
levels, the sugar division is expected to pose 
higher profits in the year 2025-26.

The Company is also expected to reap the fullest 
benefits of recently commissioned Grain based 
distillery project at State of Odisha as Year 2025-
26 will see full year of operations enhancing to 
the company’s profitability levels.

The Cattle Feed / Dairy Division has been 
generating small profits on steady basis for the 
Company on every year and we hope to continue 
the same in 2025/26 as well.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Authorised Share Capital of the Company 
stands at Rs. 61,20,00,000.    The Issued, Subscribed 
and Paid-up Share Capital of the Company as on                              
March 31, 2025 is Rs. 28,59,72,000 comprising of 
2,85,97,200 Equity Shares of Rs.10/- each. There 
was no change in the issued, subscribed and fully 
paid up share capital of the Company during the 
year under review.

DIVIDEND

Considering the current performance of your 
company during the year 2024 – 25 and 
challenges ahead for 2025 - 26, the Directors 
recommended a Dividend of Rs. 20/- per Equity 
Share of Rs. 10/- each, subject to the approval of 
Shareholders.

DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARY COMPANY 

Pursuant to provisions of Section 129(3) of 
the Act together with Rule 8 of the Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014, a statement containing 
salient features of the financial statements 
of the Company’s subsidiary in Form AOC-1 
is attached to the financial statements of the 
Company. Pursuant to the provisions of section 
136 of the Act, the financial statements of the 
Company, consolidated financial statements 
along with relevant documents and separate 
audited accounts in respect of the subsidiary        
is available for inspection at the Registered 
Office of the Company.

DEPOSIT

The company did not invite or accept any deposit 
from public during the period under report.

PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES OR 
INVESTMENTS

Loans, guarantees and investments covered 
under Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 
form part of the Notes to the financial statements 
provided in this Annual Report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Following were the changes in the position of 
Directors of the Company during the Financial 
Year 2024-25:

• Shri Manish Gupta, Director, Indian Farmers 
Fertilisers Cooperative Ltd as a Nominee 
Director in the place of Shri Prem Chandra 
Munshi.

• Shri. Alok Kumar Singh, IAS, Managing 
Director, The Madhya Pradesh State 
Cooperative Marketing Federation Ltd. as a 
Nominee Director in the place of   Dr. Sunil 
Kumar Singh.

• Thiru Siva Muthukkumarasamy, Additional 
Registrar/ Managing Director, The Tamil 
Nadu Cooperative Marketing Federation 
Ltd. as a Nominee Director in the place of 
Dr. Sekhar Babu Geddam.           

• Adv. Sony Sebastian, Chairman The Kerala 
State Cooperative Marketing Federation 
Ltd. as a Nominee Director in the place Shri 
Shridhar Baburao Dube.

• Shri Manoj Kumar Jain, Chairman & 
Managing Director, Madras Fertilisers 
Limited as a Nominee Director in the place 
of Shri Kishor Rungta.

• Shri Santosh Kumar Dash, OAS (SS), 
Managing Director, The Odisha State 
Cooperative Marketing Federation Ltd 
as a Nominee Director in the place of                      
Dr.  M. V. Rao.

• Shri Amandeep Singh Thind, Chairman, 
The Punjab State Cooperative Supply and 
Marketing Federation Ltd. as a Nominee 
Director in the place of  Shri. Girish Dayalan.
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The Board is pleased to place on record the 
valuable services rendered by  Shri Prem 
Chandra Munshi, Dr. Sunil Kumar Singh,                                               
Dr. Sekhar Babu Geddam, Shri. Shridhar Baburao 
Dube,  Shri.  Kishor  Rungta, Dr. M.V. Rao and 
Shri. Girish Dayalan during their tenure as 
Nominee Director of the Company.  The Board 
also extends a warm welcome to the Directors 
who have been nominated on the Board during 
the current year under review.

Shri Sudhir Bhargava, Shri Arvind Kumar Kadyan 
and Ms. Vandana Chanana, Independent Directors 
have given their declarations that they meet the 
criteria of Independence as laid down under 
Section 149 (6) of the Companies Act, 2013.

Directors liable to retire by rotation

In accordance with Section 152 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 read with Articles of Association of 
the Company, the following Directors will retire 
by rotation at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting of the Company:

1. Shri. Manish Gupta
2. Shri. Kamal Dayani, IAS
3. Shri. Alok Kumar Singh, IAS

All of them are eligibles for re-appointment and 
have offered themselves for re-appointment.  

Key Managerial Personnel

The following are the Key Managerial Personnel 
of the Company:
Dr. P. S. Gahlaut, Managing Director
Shri. R. Srinivasan, Chief Financial Officer and 
Dr. Girish Kumar, Company Secretary  

NUMBER OF MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

Regular meetings of the Board are held to 
discuss and decide on various business policies, 
strategies etc. The Board met Four (4) times 
through Physical as well as  VC / OAVMs held 
in accordance with the circulars issued by the 
Ministry of Corporate affairs from time to time. 

The Board Meetings held on 10th June 2024, 
23rd August 2024, 12th November 2024 and             
06th March 2025 during the Financial Year 
2024–25.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Pursuant to the provisions under Section 177 of 
the Companies Act, 2013, the Audit Committee 
met on 06th June 2024 and 23rd August 2024 
which was attended by all the members of the 
Audit Committee. 

The terms of reference of Audit Committee is as 
per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 
and rules made thereunder.

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 178 of 
the Companies Act, 2013, the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee of the Board (“NRC”) 
met on 27th September 2024 which was attended 
by all the members of the Committee. 

The terms of reference of NRC is as per the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules 
made thereunder.

STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIP COMMITTEE

The Company has constituted Stakeholders 
Relationship Committee of the Board which is 
in compliance with the provisions of the Section 
178 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules 
made thereunder as follows:

S. 
No

Name of the 
Director

Details of 
the 

Director
(DIN)

Designation /   
Nature of

Directorship

1 Shri Sudhir 
Bhargava              00247515 Chairman

2 Shri Alok Kumar 
Singh            07915523 Member

3 Shri Manish Gupta                   01335184 Member

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Company has constituted Investment 
Committee of the Board comprising of the 
following Directors during the period under 
report:
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S. 
No

Name of the 
Director

Details of 
the 

Director
(DIN)

Designation /   
Nature of

Directorship

1 Shri Rakesh Kapur 00007230 Chairman

2 Shri Arvind 
Kumar Kadyan 09264784 Member

3 Dr. P.S. Gahlaut 00049401 Member

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR) 
COMMITTEE

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 135 
of the Companies Act, 2013, read with CSR 
Rules, the CSR Committee of the Board met on                              
12th November 2024 which was attended by all 
the members of the CSR Committee. 

The terms of reference of CSR is as per the 
provisions of the Companies Act 2013 and rules 
made thereunder.  As a part of its initiative under 
the “Corporate Social Responsibility” (CSR) drive, 
the Company has emphasized on the following 
Six thrust areas for CSR activities in accordance 
with Schedule VII of the Act and the Company’s 
CSR policy for the Financial Year 2024 – 25.

a) Promoting Preventive Health Care.
b) Promoting education 
c) Promoting Skill Development and 

Livelihoods.
d) Promoting Sanitation by Providing Public 

Toilets and Provision of Drinking Water
e) Promoting Rural Development Activities 
f) Promoting conservation of natural resources 

and climate action.

Details of CSR activities undertaken during the 
year are annexed to this Report as Annexure 1.

CSR - IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

The Impact Assessment of Udbhav Shiksha 
Niketan, Sakhoti Tanda, Meerut, UP and Udbhav 
Shiksha Niketan, Jarwal Road, Bahraich, UP for 
the year 2022-23 was carried out by CRISIL Pvt. 
Ltd., Mumbai during FY 2024-25. 

The Summary of the Impact Assessment Report 
are as follows:

The IPL Udbhav Siksha Niketan, Sakhoti Tanda, 
Meerut, UP and Jarwal Road, Bahraich, UP both 
the schools have a vision to provide opportunity 
for holistic quality education and development 
to the children from underserved communities 
which is at par with the private schools. These 
schools will set a precedent for the country to 
develop a Public Education System that not 
only supports academics but also aid in holistic 
development of children.

The initiative by IPL in providing quality 
education to the underserved children is critical 
and much appreciated by the parents, teachers 
as well as the students. The stakeholders 
appreciated the infrastructure support, quality of 
teaching as well as the transportation facilities. 
The students and parents have observed a 
sustainable positive impact on the academic 
performance as well as holistic development due 
to extra-curricular activities. The IPL schools can 
serve as a successful example of CSR funded and 
managed schools which can be replicated and 
scaled for greater impact.

The Company has constituted CSR Committee in 
compliance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder as 
follows:

S. 
No

Name of the 
Director

Details of 
the 

Director
(DIN)

Designation /   
Nature of

Directorship

1 Shri Pankaj Kumar 
Bansal, IAS 05197128 Chairman

2 Shri Arvind 
Kumar Kadyan 09264784 Member

3 Ms. Vandana 
Chanana 07238012 Member

A detailed report regarding Corporate Social 
Responsibility is annexed to and forms part of 
this report.
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AUDITORS

Pursuant to Section 139 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and the Rules framed thereunder 
M/s. MSKA & Associates, Firm’s Registration 
No. 105047W were appointed as the Statutory 
Auditors for a period of 5 years to hold office 
from the conclusion of the 67th Annual General 
Meeting until the conclusion of the 72nd Annual 
General Meeting of the company. 

In response to the auditor’s qualifications / 
observations on the FIR filed by CBI which is a 
repeat of last year, we would like to state that 
there has been no progress in the case so far. The 
status quo, therefore, continues in the matter 
and for the sake of brevity, details as given in the 
Directors’ Report for the year 2022-23, are not 
being repeated here.

The Company has a strong internal control 
mechanism in place for various activities and it 
would continue to evaluate and strengthen its 
internal controls further wherever warranted.

SECRETARIAL AUDITOR AND SECRETARIAL 
AUDIT REPORT

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 204 of the 
Act and rules made thereunder, the Company 
has appointed Shri Ssohan R. Baggmar, Company 
Secretaries to undertake the Secretarial Audit 
for the Financial Year 2024 – 25 of the Company. 
The Secretarial Audit Report is annexed as 
Annexure 2.

COST AUDITORS

The Board of Directors of the company, on 
the recommendation of the Audit Committee, 
have re-appointed  M/s. R. M. Bansal & Co, 
Cost Accountants, Lakhanpur, Kanpur, U.P as 
a Cost Auditor for auditing the Cost accounts 
in respect of  SSP Unit  (Muzaffarpur), Sugar 
products of the Company for the Financial Year 
2025-26.  Necessary approval in respect of their 
remuneration will be obtained at the ensuing 
Annual General Meeting of the company. 

EXTRACTS OF ANNUAL RETURN

Pursuant to sub-section 3(a) of Section 134 and 
sub-section (3) of Section 92 of the Companies 

Act 2013, read with Rule 12 of the Companies 
(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014 
the extracts of the Annual Return as at March 
31, 2025 is available on the Company website 
at https://www.indianpotash.org. Further a copy 
of the Annual Return of the Company containing 
the particulars prescribed under  section 92 of 
the Act, in Form MGT – 7 as on March 31, 2025 
is made available on the Company’s website at: 
https://www.indianpotash.org. 

RISK MANAGEMENT

A standardized Risk Management Process and 
System is in place across the Company to support 
our business to manage and effectively mitigate 
critical risks. The Board is responsible for the 
overall process of risk management throughout 
the organisation. Executive Management 
ensures there is a common and efficient process 
in place. Our business units and corporate 
functions address risks by following the requisite 
process and system aligned to our objectives. 
The Business risk is managed through cross-
functional involvement and communication 
across businesses. 

BOARD EVALUATION 

The annual evaluation process of the Board of 
Directors, Individual Directors and committees 
was conducted in accordance with the provisions 
of the Companies Act,  2013. The Board evaluated 
its performance after seeking inputs from all the 
Directors on the basis of criteria such as the 
Board composition and structure, effectiveness 
of Board processes, information and functioning, 
etc. The performance of the Committees was 
evaluated by the Board after seeking inputs 
from the committee members on the basis of 
criteria such as the composition of committees, 
effectiveness of the committee meetings, etc.

PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES 

The particulars of employees as required Rule 
5(2) of Chapter XIII, the Companies (Appointment 
and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) 
Rules, 2014 as amended from time to time is 
attached as Annexure-3 which forms part of this 
report.
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PARTICULARS OF CONTRACTS OR 
ARRANGEMENTS MADE WITH RELATED PARTIES

All contracts / arrangements / transactions 
entered by the Company during the financial 
year with related parties were in the ordinary 
course of business and on an arms’s length basis. 
During the year, the Company had not entered 
into any contract / arrangement / transaction 
with related parties which could be considered 
materially significant which may have potential 
conflict with interest of the Company at large. 
Your Directors draw attention of the members to 
Note No. 25 to the financial statement which sets 
out related party disclosures.

The related party transactions are duly approved 
by the Audit Committee and the Board.

VIGIL MECHANISM / WHISTLE BLOWER POLICY 

The Company has a Whistle Blower Policy 
to report genuine concerns or grievances 
& to provide adequate safeguards against 
victimization of persons who may use such 
mechanism. The Whistle Blower Policy has been 
posted on the website of the Company at http: //
www.indianpotash.org.com

INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROL SYSTEMS AND 
ADEQUACY

The Company’s internal control systems are 
commensurate with the nature of its business, 
the size and complexity of its operations and 
such internal financial controls with reference to 
the Financial Statements are adequate. Also refer 
to company’s response to auditors qualification / 
observations as aforesaid.

DISCLOSURE UNDER THE SEXUAL HARASSMENT 
OF WOMEN AT WORKPLACE (PREVENTION, 
PROHIBITION AND REDRESSAL) ACT, 2013

The Company has in place an Anti Sexual 
Harassment Policy in line with the requirement of 
the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace                                  
(Prevention, Prohibition & Redressal) Act, 2013. 
During the year under review, no Complaints were 
received pursuant to the Sexual Harassment of 
Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition & 
Redressal) Act, 2013. 

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY 
ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE 
EARNINGS AND OUTGO

The particulars relating to conservation of 
energy, technology absorption, foreign exchange 
earnings and outgo, as required to be disclosed 
under the Act, are provided in Annexure - 4 to 
this Report. 

SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS PASSED 
BY THE REGULATORS

There are no significant material orders passed 
by the regulators or courts or tribunals which 
would impact the going concern status of the 
company and its future operations. 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

According to the information and explanations 
obtained, pursuant to Section 134(5) of the 
Companies Act, 2013, your Directors hereby 
confirm that:

a) In the preparation of the Standalone and 
Consolidated Annual Accounts for the 
Financial Year ended 31st March 2025, 
the applicable accounting standards had 
been followed except in so far as relating 
to amalgamation of a subsidiary company 
where standards were applied as approved 
by regulatory authority.

b) The Directors have selected such accounting 
policies and applied them consistently and 
made judgments and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent, so as to give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
company at the end of the financial year 
and of the profit or loss of the company for 
that period.

c) The Directors have taken proper and 
sufficient care for the maintenance of 
adequate accounting records in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013 for safeguarding the assets of the 
company and for preventing and detecting 
fraud and other irregularities.



22

d) The Directors have prepared the annual 
accounts for the Financial Year ended 31st 
March 2025 on a going concern basis.

e) The Directors have laid down Internal 
financial controls to be followed by the 
Company and such internal financial 
controls are adequate and were operating 
effectively.  Also refer to management 
response as referred above.

f) The Directors have devised proper systems 
to ensure compliance with the provisions of 
all applicable laws and that such systems 
were adequate and operating effectively. 

STATUTORY INFORMATION AND OTHER 
DISCLOSURES

The Disclosure required under Section 197(12) 
of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the 
Rule 5(1) of the Companies (Appointment and 
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 
2014, is annexed as Annexure ‘5’ and forms 
an integral part of this Report. A statement 
comprising the names of top 10 employees in 
terms of remuneration drawn and every persons 
employed throughout the year, who were in 
receipt of remuneration in terms of Rule 5(2) of 
the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration 
of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 is annexed 
as Annexure - 5 and forms an integral part of 
this annual report. The above Annexure is not 
being sent along with this annual report to 
the members of the Company in line with the 
provisions of Section 136 of the Companies Act, 
2013. Members who are interested in obtaining 
these particulars may write to the Chief Financial 
officer at the Registered Office of the Company. 
The aforesaid Annexure is also available for 
inspection by Members at the Registered Office 
of the Company, 21 days before and up to the 
date of the ensuing Annual General Meeting 
during the business hours on working days. None 
of the employees listed in the said Annexure is a 

relative of any Director of the Company. None of 
the employees hold (by himself or along with his 
spouse and dependent children) more than two 
percent of the Equity Shares of the Company.

DISCLOSURE UNDER IBC

The details of application made or any proceeding 
pending under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy 
code, 2016 (31 of 2016) during the year along 
with their status as at the end of the financial 
year.

NIL

DETAILS OF CRYPTO CURRENCY OR VIRTUAL 
CURRENCY   

NIL

LOAN RESTRUCTURING UNDER ONE TIME 
SETTLEMENT 

The details of difference between amount of the 
value done at the time of one time settlement 
and the valuation done while taking loan from 
the banks or financial Institution along with the 
reason thereof.

NIL

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The company is grateful to the Ministry of 
Chemicals & Fertilizers, Ministry of Agriculture, 
Ministry of Finance, Department of Revenue and 
other Departments of the Central Government, 
Department of Agriculture of various State 
Governments and the consortium of Banks for 
their guidance, co-operation and support. 

The Directors acknowledge with gratitude 
the support of the company’s distributors, 
Institutional customers, Overseas and indigenous 
suppliers. The Directors also wish to place on 
record their appreciation of the dedicated and 
sincere services of the employees of the Company 
at all levels.

On behalf of the Board

Pankaj Kumar Bansal
Chairman
DIN: 05197128Date :  10th June 2025 
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ANNEXURE  -  1
ANNUAL REPORT ON CSR ACTIVITIES INCLUDED IN THE BOARD’S REPORT                                            

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2024 – 25
1. Brief outline on CSR Policy of the Company: 

 a)  Promoting Preventive Health Care.
 b)  Promoting education 
 c)  Promoting Skill Development and Livelihoods.
 d)  Promoting Sanitation by Providing Public Toilets and Provision of Drinking Water
 e)  Promoting Rural Development Activities 
 f)  Promoting conservation of natural resources and climate action.

2. Composition of CSR Committee:   

Sl.
No

Name of
Director

Designation
/ Nature of 

Directorship

Number of meetings of 
CSR Committee held 

during the year

Number of meetings of 
CSR Committee attended 

during the year

  1 Shri Pankaj Kumar Bansal  Chairman  1 1

  2 Shri Arvind Kumar 
Kadayan  

Member  1 1

  3 Ms. Vandana Chanana   Member 1 1

3. Web-link(s) where Composition of CSR Committee, CSR Policy and CSR Projects approved by the 
Board are disclosed on the website of the Company: 

 The Composition of CSR Committee, CSR Policy and CSR Projects details are available on the 
Company’s website on: https://www.indianpotash.org

4. Executive summary along with web-link(s) of Impact Assessment of CSR Projects carried out in 
pursuance of sub-rule (3) of rule 8, if applicable.  

 Executive summary along with web-link(s) of Impact Assessment of CSR Projects are available on 
the Company’s website on: https://www.indianpotash.org

 5. 
 a.  Average net profit of the company as per sub-section (5) of section 135.  - Rs. 879,12,24,666.67/-
 b.  Two percent of average net profit of the company as per sub-section  (5) of section 135. – 
   Rs. 17,58,24,493.33/-
 c.  Surplus arising out of the CSR Projects or programmes or activities of the previous financial   

  years – Rs. 65,73,000/-  
 d.  Amount required to be set-off for the financial year, if any. –  Rs.2,43,65,424/-
   [Amount required to be set off is Rs.67,52,633, Rs. 85,74,059 and  Rs. 90,38,732/- for the 
   F.Y. 2021 - 22, F.Y. 2022-23 and F.Y. 2023 – 24 respectively].
 e.  Total CSR obligation for the financial year [(b)+(c)-(d)]. – Rs. 15,80,32,069/-
6 
 a.  Amount spent on CSR Projects (both Ongoing Project and other than Ongoing Project). – 
   Rs. 6,19,51,717/-
 b.  Amount spent in Administrative Overheads. Rs.1,30,823/-
 c.  Amount spent on Impact Assessment, if applicable. NIL  [Payment of Rs. 13,45,000/- is 
   being made in FY 2025-26]
d. Total amount spent for the Financial Year [(a)+(b)+(c)].  Rs. 6,20,82,540/-
e. CSR amount spent or unspent for the Financial Year: 
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 Total Amount 
Spent for the 
Financial Year. 

(in Rs.) 

 Amount Unspent (in Rs.)  
Total Amount transferred to 
Unspent CSR Account as per 

subsection (6) of section 135. 

Amount transferred to any fund specified 
under Schedule VII as per second proviso to 

sub-section (5) of section 135.  
Amount. Date of 

transfer.
Name of the 

Fund
Amount Date of 

transfer

6,20,82,540 11,72,74,000 25.04.2025 NIL  

(f) Excess amount for set-off, if any: 
Sl. No.  Particular   Amount  (in Rs.) 

(1) (2) (3) 
(i) Two percent of average net profit of the company as per sub-section (5) 

of section 135
17,58,24,494

CSR obligation for the Financial Year                                                      15,80,32,069*
(ii) Total amount spent for the Financial Year [Total amount spent / 

unspent]
17,90,51,950

(iii) Excess amount spent for the Financial Year [(ii)-(i)] 2,75,92,880**
(iv) Surplus arising out of the CSR projects or programmes or activities of 

the previous Financial Years, if any 
65,73,000

(v) Amount available for set off in succeeding Financial Years  [(iii)-(iv)] 2,10,19,880

* Note:  The amount excludes the excess Amount Carried Forward for the F.Y. 2021-22, 2022-23 and 
2023 – 24. 
**Note: Excess Amount spent for the Financial Year before adjustment of surplus arising out of the CSR 
projects or programmes or activities of the previous Financial Years.

7. Details of Unspent Corporate Social Responsibility amount for the preceding three Financial Years

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
S. 

No.
Preceding 
Financial 
Year(s) 

 

Amount 
transferred to 
Unspent CSR 

Account 
under sub-

section (6) of 
section 135 

(in Rs.)  
 

Balance 
Amount in 

Unspent CSR 
Account 

under sub-
section (6) 

of 
section 135 

(in Rs.)

Amount 
Spent in the 

Financial 
Year

 (in Rs) 
 

Amount transferred to a 
Fund as specified under 

Schedule VII as per 
second proviso to 

sub-section (5) 
of section 135,  if any

Amount 
remaining to 
be spent in 
succeeding 
Financial 

Years
  (in Rs)

Deficiency, 
if any 

Amount 
(in Rs)

Date of 
Transfer

1 2024-25 11,72,74,000 11,72,74,000 6,20,82,540 - - 11,72,74,000 -

2 2023 - 24 6,63,11,000 6,63,11,000 3,95,28,447 - - 2,67,82,553 -

3 2022 - 23 10,46,75,000 1,93,00,492 64,19,600 - - 1,28,80,892 -
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8. Whether any capital assets have been created or acquired through Corporate Social Responsibility 
amount spent in the Financial Year: Yes

      Yes                     No 

 If Yes, enter the number of Capital assets created / acquired  

Furnish the details relating to such asset(s) so created or acquired through Corporate Social Responsibility 
amount spent in the Financial Year: 

Sl. 
No. 

Short particulars of
the property or 

asset(s)
[including 
complete

address and
location of the 

property]

Pincode 
of the

property 
or asset(s)

 

Date of 
creation 

Amount of 
CSR 

amount spent 
 

Details of Entity/ Authority/ Beneficiary 
of the registered owner

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6)
CSR 

Registration 
Number, if 
applicable 

Name Registered address 

1 New block School 
Building at Udbhav 
Siksha Niketan, 
Sakhoti Tanda, Meerut

250223 25.02.2025 1,76,21,621.82 CSR00031006 IPL 
Foundation

IPL Foundation, Sakhoti 
Tanda, Meerut. Pin code 
250223

2 Furniture & Fixture at 
Udbhav Shiksha Ni-
ketan, Sakhoti Tanda, 
Meerut

250223 21.02.2025 5,30,077.00 CSR00031006 IPL 
Foundation

IPL Foundation, Sakhoti 
Tanda, Meerut. Pin code 
250223

3 School Building 
at Udbhav Siksha 
Niketan, Jarwal Road, 
Bahraich

271901 22.10.2024 7,84,977.00 CSR00031006 IPL 
Foundation

IPL Foundation, Sakhoti 
Tanda, Meerut. Pin code 
250223

4 Sugar cane Harvester 
(Austoft 4010 Maxx 
Trem stage IV), 2 nos. 
of Tractors (50 HP 
each) and 2 nos. of 
Infielders (5 MT)

251202 24.04.2024 1,27,05,000.00 CSR00031006 IPL 
Foundation

IPL Foundation, Sakhoti 
Tanda, Meerut. Pin code 
250223

5 Laptop/Dell- G15 
5530 (Potash Bhawan, 
10 B, Rajendra Park, 
Pusa Road, New Delhi)

110060 12.02.2025 1,06,200.00 CSR00031006 IPL 
Foundation

IPL Foundation, Sakhoti 
Tanda, Meerut. Pin code 
250223

6
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6 Desktop/Dell Optiplex 
Tower 7010 (Potash 
Bhawan, 10 B, 
Rajendra Park, 
Pusa Road, New Delhi)

110060 12.02.2025 67,850.00 CSR00031006 IPL 
Foundation

IPL Foundation, Sakhoti 
Tanda, Meerut. Pin code 
250223

(All the fields should be captured as appearing in the revenue record, flat no, house no, Municipal Office/
Municipal Corporation/ Gram panchayat are to be specified and also the area of the immovable property as 
well as boundaries) 

9. Specify the reason(s), if the company has failed to spend two per cent of the average net profit as per 
subsection (5) of section 135: Not Applicable.

Dr. P. S. Gahlaut Pankaj Kumar Bansal
Managing Director  Chairman - CSR Committee
DIN: 00049401 DIN: 05197128
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ANNEXURE  -  2
Form No. MR-3

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT 
[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 

and Rule No.9 of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial 
Personnel) Rules, 2014]

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED: 31.03.2025

To
The Members, 
Indian Potash Limited
1st Floor, Seethakathi Business Centre
684-690, Anna Salai
Chennai – 600 006.

I have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and the 
adherence to good corporate practices by Indian Potash Limited  (CIN: U14219TN1955PLC000961) 
(hereinafter called the “Company”) Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided me a 
reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and expressing my 
opinion thereon. 

Based on my verification of the Company’s books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and 
other records maintained by the Company and also the information provided by the Company, its officers, 
agents and authorized representatives during the conduct of secretarial audit, I hereby report that in 
my opinion, the Company has, during the financial year ended on March 31, 2025 (the audit period) 
generally complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder and also that the Company has proper 
Board-processes and compliance-mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner and subject to the 
reporting made hereinafter: 

I have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained 
by the Company during the audit period according to the provisions of: 

1. The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made thereunder;                                                                                                         
2. The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA’) and the rules made thereunder;
3. The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed thereunder; 
4. Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made thereunder to 

the extent of Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External Commercial 
Borrowings;    

Other laws specifically applicable to the Company:
i. The Factories Act, 1948
ii. The Payment of Wages Act, 1936
iii. The Minimum Wages Act, 1948
iv. The Payment of Bonus Act, 1965
v. Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972
vi. The Employees Provident Fund and Miscellaneous Provisions Act,  1952;
vii. The Employees State Insurance Act, 1948
viii. The Maternity Benefit Act, 1961
ix. The Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (PD & R) Act, 2013
x. Employees Compensation Act 1923 and rules thereunder
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xi.  Water (Prevention & Control of Pollution) Act 1974 and rules there under
xii.  Air (Prevention & Control of Pollution) Act 1981 and rules  there under
xiii.      Environment Protection Act 1986 and rules made thereunder 
xiv.  Other Central and State Acts, rules, guidelines and regulations to the extent applicable to the  

 Company.

I have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following: -

1. The Secretarial Standards with regard to Meeting of Board of Directors (SS-1) and General Meetings 
(SS-2) issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India under the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013.

2.  During the period under review, the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, 
Regulations, Guidelines, Standards etc. mentioned above, except to the extent as mentioned below: -

• The composition of the Board of Directors was in compliance with the provisions of the Act and rules 
made thereunder.

• The composition of Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee Stake holders 
committee and Corporate Social Responsibility Committee is reconstituted in compliance with the 
requirements of the Act and rules made thereunder.

Based on the information received and records maintained, I further report that: -

• The composition of the Board of Directors was in compliance with the provisions of the Act and 
rules.  The changes in the composition of the Board of Directors that took place during the period 
under review were carried out in compliance with the provisions of the Act.

• I have not examined compliance by the Company with the applicable financial laws like direct and 
indirect tax laws, since the same have been subject to review by statutory financial audit and other 
designated professionals. 

• Adequate notice is given to all Directors to schedule the Board Meetings, agenda and detailed 
notes on agenda were sent at least seven days in advance (and at a Shorter Notice for which 
necessary approvals obtained), and a system exists for seeking and obtaining further information 
and clarifications on the agenda items before the meeting and for meaningful participation at the 
meeting. 

• As per the minutes of the Board Meetings and Committee Meetings, the decisions of the Board and 
Committee as the case may be were carried out with requisite majority. I understand that there were 
no dissenting views for being captured in the minutes.

 I further report that based on the compliance mechanism established by the Company, I am of the 
opinion that there are systems and processes in the Company commensurate with the size and 
operations of the Company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations 
and guidelines, however; there is scope for further improvement.

 I further report that during the audit period no specific major events have happened which are 
deemed to have major bearing on the Company’s affairs in pursuance of the above referred laws, 
rules, regulations, guidelines, standards, etc.

For Ssohan R Baggmar

Practising Company Secretary
ACS:20671; CP: 8219

Peer Review Certificate No. 3609/2023
UDIN: A020671G000575951

Date  : 10th June 2025
Place : Chennai
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ANNEXURE TO SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

To 

The Members
Indian Potash Limited
1st Floor, Seethakathi Business Centre
684-690,  Anna Salai
Chennai – 600 006.

Dear Members,

Sub:- My Report of even no. dated  10/06/ 2025 for the Financial Year 2024-25 is to be read along with 
this letter.

1.  Maintenance of secretarial record is the responsibility of the management of the Company. My 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these secretarial records based on our audit.

2.  I have followed the audit practices and processes as were appropriate to obtain reasonable 
assurance about the correctness of the contents of the Secretarial records. The verification was 
done to ensure that correct facts are reflected in secretarial records. I believe that the processes 
and practices, I followed provide a reasonable basis for my opinion.

3.  I have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and books of accounts 
of the Company.

4.  Wherever required, I have obtained the management representation about the compliance with 
relevant laws, rules and regulations and happening of events etc.

5. The compliance with the provisions of Corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regulations, 
standards are the responsibility of management. My examination was limited to the verification of 
procedures on test basis.

6.  The Secretarial Audit report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor of 
the efficacy or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

For Ssohan R Baggmar

Practising Company Secretary
ACS:20671; CP: 8219

Peer Review Certificate No. 3609/2023
UDIN: A020671G000575951

Date   :   10th June 2025 
Place :   Chennai 
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ANNEXURE 4 - TO THE DIRECTORS 
REPORT

Particulars of Conservation of Energy Technology 
Absorption and Foreign Exchange Earnings and 
Outgo required under the Companies (Accounts) 
Rules, 2014. 

A) Technology Absorption, Adaptation and 
Innovation

1. Cane Harvester Implementation: 

 Introduced cane harvesters for cane 
cutting from farmers’ fields to reduce the 
cut-to-crush period, ensuring fresher cane 
for crushing at the sugar mill.

2. Installation of Higher SSC TG Set: 

 Implemented a 10 MW TG set to generate 
higher power using the same amount 
of steam, improving power generation 
efficiency.

3. VFD Installation: 

 Installed Variable Frequency Drives (VFDs) 
on boiler feed pumps, ID, and FD fans (2 
nos. 45 KW, 2 nos. 200 KW, 1 no. 300 KW) 
and injection pumps to optimize energy 
consumption with automation.

4. Replacement of Conventional Gears: 

 Replaced conventional reduction gears 
with two planetary gears on the vertical 
crystallizer, enhancing energy efficiency.

5. DC Motor Replacement: 

 Replaced a 450 KW DC motor with a 750 
KW motor at Mill No. 1 to handle kick 
loads, sustaining crushing capacity without 
increasing energy consumption.

6. Vacuum Pan Replacement: 

 Replaced two vacuum pans for C and B 
Massecuite applications with new pans 
equipped with mechanical circulators, 
VFDs, and automation, reducing boiling 
time, electric power, and water consumption 
for condensing.

7. Capacity Augmentation:

 Expanded crushing capacity from 1600 
TCD to 2500 TCD under the capacity 
augmentation plan.

8. Steam Economy System: 

 Installed a steam economy system, 
reducing process steam consumption from 
52% to 42%.

9. Knives and Hammers Addition:

 Added more knives and hammers to 
improve Preparation Index (PI) and bulk 
density, reducing Pol % in bagasse by 
0.01%.

10. Predictive Maintenance: 

 Due to effective Maintenance in off season 
and Condition based Monitoring and 
Predictive Maintenance, Sugar Units are 
able to reduce Downtime by 2.0%

11. Frequency of MEE Cleaning reduced 

 With correction in sizing of MEE unit 
sizing, frequency of MEE cleaning reduced 
which helped us to improve the Ethanol 
generation capacity

B) Conservation of Energy 

1. Process Steam Reduction : 

 Post-installation of the thermal energy 
conservation system, process steam 
consumption reduced from 55% to 35-
38%, achieving an additional 5-7% fuel 
saving.

2. Lighting Upgrade from Conventional to 
LED : 

 Replaced conventional HPSV, HPMV, and 
FTL lamps with energy-efficient LED 
lamps, reducing power consumption in 
plant and colony lighting.
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3. VFD Energy Savings: 

 VFD installations on various applications 
resulted in reduced power consumption

4. Vacuum Pan Efficiency: 

 New vacuum pans with mechanical 
circulators and VFDs led to electric power 
savings and reduced water consumption 
for condensing.

5. Planetary Drive Installation: 

 Planned installation of planetary drives at 
two 375 KW motors in mills to significantly 
reduce electrical energy consumption.

6. Steam Consumption Reduction: 

 Steam economy system installation led to 
a 5%-6% additional fuel saving.

Date :  10th June 2025

7. Electrical Energy Savings: 

 VFDs, planetary gear boxes, and capacitor 
banks reduced power consumption from 
46-48 units per ton of cane to 33-35 units 
per ton of cane.

8. Bagasse Efficiency :

 Improved PI and bulk density contributed 
to a 0.01% reduction in Pol % bagasse, 
indirectly supporting energy efficiency in 
fuel usage. Bagasse saving improved too.

C)  Utilization of alternative source of Energy 

 In our Dairy Unit we have installed TWO ‘on 
Grid’ Solar Power Plant with a cumulative 
capacity of 120 KW to generate the 
electricity and same is used in production. 

 D)  FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND 
OUTGO:

 Earnings :  Rs. 2,190.16 Crores  

 Outgo  :  Rs. 19,787.86 Crores

   On behalf of the Board

Pankaj Kumar Bansal
Chairman
DIN: 05197128
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF INDIAN POTASH LIMITED 

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial 
Statements

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the accompanying standalone 
financial statements of Indian Potash Limited 
(“the Company”), which comprise the Balance 
Sheet as at March 31, 2025 and the Statement of 
Profit and Loss, including Other Comprehensive 
Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and 
Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the standalone financial statements, 
including material accounting policy information 
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information 
and according to the explanations given to us, 
except for the effects of the matters described 
in the Basis for Qualified opinion section of 
our report, the aforesaid standalone financial 
statements give the information required by the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act") in the manner 
so required and give a true and fair view in 
conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards 
prescribed under section 133 of the Act read 
with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015, as amended (“Ind AS”) and other 
accounting principles generally accepted in 
India, of the state of affairs of the Company as 
at March 31, 2025, and profit (including other 
comprehensive income), changes in equity and 
its cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

As fully explained in Note 24(C) to the standalone 
financial statements, there is an ongoing 
investigation conducted by the Central Bureau 
of Investigation (“CBI”) against the Company’s 
Managing Director, one of its Directors and 
their relatives, who were mentioned in the CBI 
First Information Report (the “FIR”), wherein the 
CBI alleged that the Company had imported 
fertilizers at inflated prices, claimed higher 
subsidies from Government of India and made 
payment of commission by overseas supplier 
through complex transactions to the persons 

mentioned in the CBI FIR, resulting in the 
diversion and siphoning of funds abroad during 
the period 2007-2014, during which period 
the accounts were audited by another firm of 
Chartered Accountants.

Further, during May 2021, a writ petition had been 
filed before the Hon’ble High Court of Delhi (“the 
High Court”) for quashing and setting aside the 
FIR on grounds of lack of jurisdictional powers of 
the authorities and the High Court, vide its order 
dated May 31, 2021, had directed in this respect 
that no coercive steps shall be taken against the 
Company and the above-named persons. The 
matter is pending on account of the ongoing 
investigation by the CBI, while writ petition 
is still pending in the High Court. Pending 
completion of investigation by the CBI, the Board 
of Directors of the Company has not carried out 
any independent investigation and hence, any 
alleged non-compliances with the laws and 
regulations including under the Indian Penal 
Code, 1860 and the Prevention of Corruption Act, 
1988, if any, that may arise on completion of such 
investigation and the consequential impact of 
the same on the standalone financial statements 
of the Company for the year ended March 31, 
2025 is not ascertainable at this stage.

This matter was also qualified in the previous 
year’s audit report on the standalone financial 
statements for the year ended March 31, 2024. 

We conducted our audit of the standalone 
financial statements in accordance with the 
Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under 
section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities 
under those Standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Standalone Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”) 
together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the standalone financial 
statements under the provisions of the Act and 
the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
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these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We 
believe that the audit evidence obtained by us is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our qualified opinion.

Information Other than the Standalone Financial 
Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible 
for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the 
Director’s report including Annexures to Director’s 
Report but does not include the standalone 
financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the standalone financial 
statements does not cover the other information 
and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the standalone 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the standalone financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the 
other information that we obtained prior to the 
date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those 
Charged with Governance for the Standalone 
Financial Statements
The Company’s Management and Board of 
Directors are responsible for the matters stated 
in section 134(5) of the Act with respect to 
the preparation of these standalone financial 
statements that give a true and fair view of 
the financial position, financial performance, 
changes in equity and cash flows of the Company 
in accordance with the accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, including the 
Accounting Standards specified under section 
133 of the Act. This responsibility also includes 
maintenance of adequate accounting records 
in accordance with the provisions of the Act 

for safeguarding of the assets of the Company 
and for preventing and detecting frauds and 
other irregularities; selection and application 
of appropriate accounting policies; making 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent; and design, implementation and 
maintenance of adequate internal financial 
controls, that were operating effectively for 
ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the 
accounting records, relevant to the preparation 
and presentation of the standalone financial 
statement that give a true and fair view and are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the standalone financial statements, 
the Management and Board of Directors are 
responsible for assessing the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Board of Directors either intends to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors are also responsible for 
overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Standalone Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the standalone 
financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these standalone 
financial statements.

We give in “Annexure A” a detailed description 
of Auditor’s responsibilities for Audit of the 
Standalone Financial Statements.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements

1.  As required by the Companies (Auditor’s 
Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”), issued by 
the Central Government of India in terms of 
sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, 
we give in “Annexure B” a statement on the 
matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of 
the Order, to the extent applicable.

2.  As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we 
report that:

(a) We have sought and except, for the possible 
effect of the matter described in the Basis 
for Qualified Opinion above, obtained all 
the information and explanations which to 
the best of our knowledge and belief were 
necessary for the purposes of our audit.

(b)  In our opinion, proper books of account 
as required by law have been kept by the 
Company so far as it appears from our 
examination of those books except for the 
effects of the matters described in the Basis 
for Qualified Opinion paragraph above for 
the matters stated in the paragraph 2(i)(vi) 
below on reporting under Rule 11(g).

(c)  The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit 
and Loss including other comprehensive 
income, the Statement of Changes in Equity 
and the Statement of Cash Flow dealt with 
by this Report are in agreement with the 
books of account.

(d) Except, for the matter described in the Basis 
of Qualified Opinion section above, in our 
opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial 
statements comply with the Accounting 
Standards specified under Section 133 of 
the Act.

(e) The matter described in Basis for Qualified 
Opinion paragraph above, in our opinion, may 
have an adverse effect on the functioning of 
the Company.

(f)  On the basis of the written representations 
received from the directors as on March 
31, 2025 taken on record by the Board 
of Directors, none of the directors are 
disqualified as on March 31, 2025 from 
being appointed as a director in terms of 
Section 164 (2) of the Act.

(g)  The reservation relating to the maintenance 
of accounts and other matters connected 
therewith are as stated in the basis of 
opinion paragraph above and paragraph 2(i)
(vi) below on reporting under Rule 11(g).

(h)  With respect to the adequacy of the 
internal financial controls with reference 
to standalone financial statements of the 
Company and the operating effectiveness of 
such controls, refer to our separate Report 
in “Annexure C”.

(i)  With respect to the other matters to 
be included in the Auditor’s Report in 
accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our 
opinion and to the best of our information 
and according to the explanations given to 
us:

i.  The Company has disclosed the impact 
of pending litigations on its financial 
position in its standalone financial 
statements – Refer Note 24 to the 
standalone financial statements

ii.  The Company did not have any long-
term contracts including derivative 
contracts for which there were any 
material foreseeable losses.

iii.  There has been no delay in transferring 
amounts, required to be transferred, to 
the Investor Education and Protection 
Fund by the Company.

iv. 

a.  The Management has represented 
that, to the best of its knowledge and 
belief,  as disclosed in Note 30(g) to 
the standalone financial statements, 
no funds have been advanced or 
loaned or invested (either from 
borrowed funds or share premium or 
any other sources or kind of funds) 
by the Company to or in any other 
person(s) or entity(ies), including 
foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), 
with the understanding, whether 
recorded in writing or otherwise, 
that the Intermediary shall, directly 
or indirectly lend or invest in other 
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persons or entities identified in any 
manner whatsoever by or on behalf of 
the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) 
or provide any guarantee, security 
or the like on behalf of the Ultimate 
Beneficiaries.

b.  The Management has represented, 
that, to the best of its knowledge and 
belief, as disclosed in Note 30(g) to 
the standalone financial statements, 
no funds have been received by 
the Company from any person(s) 
or entity(ies), including foreign 
entities (Funding Parties), with the 
understanding, whether recorded in 
writing or otherwise, as on the date 
of this audit report, that the Company 
shall, directly or indirectly, lend or 
invest in other persons or entities 
identified in any manner whatsoever 
by or on behalf of the Funding Party 
(“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide 
any guarantee, security or the like on 
behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

c.  Based on the audit procedures 
performed that have been considered 
reasonable and appropriate in the 
circumstances, and according to the 
information and explanations provided 
to us by the Management in this regard 
nothing has come to our notice that 
has caused us to believe that the 
representations under sub- clause (i) 
and (ii) of Rule 11(e) as provided under 
(a) and (b) above, contain any material 
mis-statement.

v.  The final dividend paid by the Company 
during the year in respect of the same 
declared for the previous year is in 
accordance with section 123 of the 
Companies Act 2013 to the extent it applies 
to payment of dividend.

 The Board of Directors of the Company has 
proposed final dividend for the year which 
is subject to the approval of the members 
at the ensuing Annual General Meeting. 
The dividend declared is in accordance 
with Section 123 of the Act to the extent 
it applies to declaration of dividend. (refer 
Note 35 to the standalone Financials)

vi.  Based on our examination which included 
test checks, the Company has used certain 
accounting software(s) for maintaining its 
books of account which has a feature of 
recording audit trail (edit log) facility, except 
in respect to one sugar division audit trail 
feature at the application level was enabled 
from January 5, 2025 and no audit trail 
feature was enabled at the database level 
in respect of certain accounting software(s) 
to log any direct data changes.

 Further, where enabled, audit trail 
feature has been operated for all relevant 
transactions recorded in the accounting 
software(s). Also, during the course of our 
audit, we did not come across any instance 
of audit trail feature being tampered with 
in respect of such accounting software. 
Additionally, the audit trail of prior year(s) 
has been preserved by the Company as 
per the statutory requirements for record 
retention to the extent it was enabled and 
recorded in respective year.

3. In our opinion, according to information, 
explanations given to us, the remuneration 
paid by the Company to its directors is within 
the limits laid prescribed under Section 197 
read with Schedule V of the Act and the rules 
thereunder.

For M S K A & Associates
Chartered Accountants

ICAI Firm Registration No. 105047W

Geetha Jeyakumar
Partner

Membership No. 029409
UDIN :  25029409BMMIQL8231

Place  :  Chennai
Date   :   10th June, 2025
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ANNEXURE A TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT OF EVEN DATE ON THE 
STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIAN POTASH LIMITED
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Standalone Financial Statements
As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the standalone financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the 
Act, we are also responsible for expressing 
our opinion on whether the company has 
adequate internal financial controls with 
reference to standalone financial statements 
in place and the operating effectiveness of 
such controls.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management and 
Board of Directors.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of 
management and Board of Director’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the 
standalone financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure 
and content of the standalone financial 
statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the standalone financial 
statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with 
governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance 
with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with 
them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.

For M S K A & Associates
Chartered Accountants

ICAI Firm Registration No. 105047W

Geetha Jeyakumar
Partner

Membership No. 029409
UDIN :  25029409BMMIQL8231

Place  :  Chennai
Date   :  10th June, 2025
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ANNEXURE B TO INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT OF EVEN DATE ON THE 
STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIAN POTASH LIMITED FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2025
[Referred to in paragraph 1 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ in the Independent 
Auditors’ Report] 

i. (a) A.  The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including 
quantitative details and situation of Property, Plant and Equipment, Investment Property 
and relevant details of right of use assets.

  B.  The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangible assets.
(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination 

of the records of the Company, the Company has a programme of physical verification of its 
Property, Plant and Equipment, Investment Property and its Right to Use by which property, 
plant and equipment, Investment Property and its Right to Use are verified in a phased 
manner over a period of three years. In our opinion, this periodicity of physical verification is 
reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its assets. Pursuant to 
the programme , a part of Property, Plant and Equipment , Investment Property and Right of Use 
Assets have been physically verified by the management this year, no material discrepancies 
were noticed on such verification.

(c) According to the information and explanations given to us, the title deeds of immovable 
properties as disclosed in note 30(k) on Property, plant and equipment and Investment Property 
to the standalone financial statements (other than properties where the company is the lessee 
and the lease agreements are duly executed in favour of the lessee) disclosed in the financial 
statements are held in the name of the company, except for provided below:

Sr. 
No.

Description of 
Property

Gross 
carrying 

value

Held in 
name of

Whether 
promoter 
director 
or their 

relative or 
employee

Period held – 
Indicate range, 
where appro-

priate

Reason for not being held 
in name of Company (also 

indicate if in dispute)

1 Industrial 
factory 
Building 
located at 
Kundli, Sonipat 
(Haryana)

0.89 Goldine 
Milkfood 

and Allied 
Industries 
Limited

No From 
September 
30, 2020 till 
date

Pursuant to the merger 
of Goldline Milkfood and 
Allied Industries Limited  
(including step-down 
subsidiary Sri Krishan 
Fertilizers Limited) 
with the company, the 
title deeds of these 
immovable properties 
are still held in the name 
of erstwhile entities and 
are yet to be registered 
in the name of the 
Company

2 Freehold Land 
of 1 Acre 
located at 
Kundli, Sonipat 
(Haryana)

0.92 Goldine 
Milkfood 

and Allied 
Industries 
Limited

No From 
September 
30, 2020 till 
date

3 Industrial 
Factory 
Building 
located at 
Muzzafarpur, 
Bihar

5.47 Sri Krishna 
Fertilizers 
Limited

No From 
September 
30, 2020 till 
date
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Sr. 
No.

Description of 
Property

Gross 
carrying 

value

Held in 
name of

Whether 
promoter 
director 
or their 

relative or 
employee

Period held – Indi-
cate range, where 

appropriate

Reason for not being 
held in name of Com-
pany (also indicate if 

in dispute)

4 Leasehold land 
measuring 266 
acres located 
in Motipur, 
Bihar

56.2 Members 
of Motipur 

Sugar 
Factory/B 
ihar Sugar 

State 
Corporati 

on Limited

No From FY 2011-12 
till date

Pursuant to the 
merger of Sri 
Krishna Fertilizers 
Limited with the 
Company, the lease 
agreements are in 
the name of the 
erstwhile entity and 
yet to be executed 
in favour of the 
company

5 Leasehold land 
located at 
Muzzafarpur, 
Bihar

0.02 Sri Krishna 
Fertilisers 
Limited

No From September 
2020 till date

(d)  According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not revalued its 
property, plant and Equipment (including Right of Use assets) or intangible assets or both during 
the year. Accordingly, the requirements under paragraph 3(i)(d) of the Order are not applicable to 
the Company. 

(e)  According to the information and explanations given to us, no proceeding has been initiated 
or pending against the Company for holding benami property under the Benami Transactions 
(Prohibition) Act, 1988, as amended and rules made thereunder. Accordingly, the provisions stated 
in paragraph 3(i) (e) of the Order are not applicable to the Company. 

ii. 

    (a) The inventory (excluding stocks with third parties and stocks-in-transit) has been physically 
verified by the management during the year. In our opinion, the frequency, coverage and procedure 
of such verification is reasonable and appropriate, having regard to the size of the Company and 
the nature of its operations. The discrepancies noticed on physical verification of inventory as 
compared to book records were not 10% or more in aggregate for each class of inventory. In 
respect of inventory lying with third parties, these have substantially been confirmed by them 
and in respect of goods in transit, the goods have been received subsequent to the year end. 
No discrepancies of 10% or more in the aggregate for each class of inventories were noticed in 
respect of such confirmation. 

(b)  The Company has been sanctioned working capital limits in excess of Rs. 5 crores at any point of 
time during the year, in aggregate from Banks, on the basis of security of current assets. Based on 
the records examined by us in the normal course of audit of the standalone financial statements, 
quarterly returns / statements filed with such Banks are in agreement with the books of accounts 
of the Company. Refer note 30(b) to the standalone financial statements for borrowings secured 
against current assets. 
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iii. 

 (a) According to the information and explanations provided to us and on the basis of our examination 
of the records of the company, during the year the company has made an investment and the 
Company has not provided any guarantee or security secured or unsecured to companies, firms, 
Limited Liability Partnership or any other parties during the year. The Company has granted 
interest bearing unsecured loan to company and interest free unsecured loans to other parties in 
respect of which the requisite information is as below. 

 (A)  The details of such loans, to subsidiary company is as follows:

Particulars Loans (Rs. In Crores)

Aggregate amount granted/provided during the year
-  Subsidiaries 1.52

Balance Outstanding as at balance sheet date in respect of above 
case
-   Subsidiaries 52.17

  Also refer notes 4(a),4(e) and 25 to the standalone financial statement   

 AND

 (B) The details of such loans or advances in the nature of loans, guarantee or security(ies) to parties 
other than Subsidiaries, Jointly Controlled Entity and Associates are as follows:

Particulars Advances in the nature 
of loans (Rs. In Crores)

Aggregate amount granted/provided during the year
-  Employees and Others

 20.03

Balance Outstanding as at balance sheet date in respect of above 
casess                      
-   Employees and Others

13.02

(b)  According to the information and explanations given to us and based on the audit procedures 
performed by us, we are of the opinion that the terms and conditions in relation to investments 
made, and grant of all loans and advances in the nature of loans and guarantee given are not 
prejudicial to the interest of the Company.

(c)  According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of 
the records of the Company, we are unable to comment on the regularity of repayment of principal 
and payment of interest in the absence of stipulation of repayment terms in respect of the loans 
granted to the Company’s subsidiary amounting to Rs. 52.17 Crores as at March 31, 2025. In the 
case of interest free unsecured loans given to other parties (Employees and others), in our opinion 
the repayment of principal has been stipulated and the repayments or receipts have been regular. 

(d)  According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of 
the records of the Company, in the absence of stipulation of repayment terms on the loans granted 
to the company’s subsidiary, we are unable to comment on the overdue for more than ninety days. 
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(e)  According to the information and explanations provided to us, except for the loan given to wholly 
owned subsidiary, the loans or advances in the nature of loan granted has not fallen due during 
the year. Accordingly, the provisions stated under clause 3(iii)(e) of the Order are not applicable to 
the Company.

(f)  According to the information and explanations provided to us, the Company has granted loans  
/advances in the nature of loans without specifying any terms or period of repayment. The details 
of the same are as follows:

Particulars Related Parties
(Rs. in Crores)

Aggregate amount of loans/ advances in nature of loans
- Repayable on demand (A) Nil

- Agreement does not specify any terms or period of repayment (B) 52.17 

Total (A+B)  52.17

Percentage of loans/ advances in nature of loans to the total Loans 100%

iv.  According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has complied with the 
provisions of Section 185 and 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 in respect of the Loans granted and 
investments made by it. The Company has not provided any Guarantees or security to the parties 
covered under sections 185 and 186.

v.  According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has neither accepted any 
deposits from the public nor any amounts which are deemed to be deposits, within the meaning of 
the provisions of Sections 73 to 76 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules framed there under. 
Accordingly, the requirement to report under clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable to the 
Company. Also, there are no amounts outstanding as on March 31, 2025, which are in the nature of 
deposits. 

vi.  Pursuant to the rules made by the Central Government of India, the Company is required to maintain 
cost records as specified under Section 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 in respect of its products/ 
services. We have broadly reviewed the same, and are of the opinion that, prima facie, the prescribed 
accounts and records have been made and maintained. We have not, however, made a detailed 
examination of the records with a view to determine whether they are accurate or complete.

vii.  

(a)  According to the information and explanations given to us and the records examined by us, in our 
opinion, undisputed statutory dues including Goods and Services tax, provident fund, employees’ 
state insurance, income-tax, sales-tax, service tax, duty of customs, duty of excise, value added 
tax, cess and other statutory dues have generally been regularly deposited with the appropriate 
authorities during the year, though there has been a slight delay in a few cases.
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  No undisputed amounts payable in respect of these statutory dues were outstanding as at March 
31, 2025, for a period of more than six months from the date they became payable.

(b)  According to the information and explanations given to us and the records examined by us, dues 
relating to goods and services tax, provident fund, duty of customs cess and other statutory dues 
which have not been deposited as on March 31, 2025, on account of any dispute, are as follows:

 Name of the 
statute

Nature of 
dues

Amount 
Demanded

(Rs. In crores)

Amount Paid 
under protest 
(Rs. In crores)

Period to 
which the 
amount 
relate

Forum where 
dispute is pending

Customs Act, 
1962

Customs Duty 29.44 - 2001-06 CESTAT, Ahmedabad

Customs Act, 
1962

Customs Duty 15.68 - 2001-06
& 2013-14

CESTAT, Chennai

Customs Act, 
1962

Customs Duty 0.28 0.02 2006-09 Commissioners of 
Customs 
(Appeals)- Mumbai

Income Tax 
Act, 1961

Income Tax 0.77 - 2013-14 Income Tax Appellate 
Tribunal, Chennai

Income Tax 
Act, 1961

Income Tax 0.07 - 2013-14 Commissioner of 
Income Tax (Appeals), 
Chennai

Income Tax 
Act, 1961

Income Tax 5.45 - 2017-18 Commissioner 
(Appeals), New Delhi

Central Excise 
Act, 1944

Cenvat Credit 0.01 - 2008-09, 
2011- 12, 
2014-15

Commissioner (Appeals), 
Meerut

Central Excise 
Act, 1944

Cenvat Credit 0.02 - 2011-12 CESTAT, Allahabad

Central Excise 
Act, 1944

Excise Duty 0.02 - 2010-11, 
2013- 14

CESTAT, Allahabad

Central Excise 
Act, 1944

Excise Duty 0.08 - 2002-03  CESTAT, New Delhi

Central Excise 
Act, 1944

Excise Duty 0.15 - 2010-11, 
2013- 14

Commissioner (Appeals), 
Allahabad

Central Excise 
Act, 1944

Excise Duty 0.02 - 2017-18 Superintendent, Central 
Excise, Gorakhpur

The Finance 
Act, 1994

Service Tax 0.02 - 2009 Commissioner (Appeals), 
Meerut

Uttar Pradesh 
Trade Tax Act, 
1948

Trade Tax
(Entry Tax)

0.01 - 2013-14 Additional Commission-
er (Appeals), Gorakhpur
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 Name of the 
statute

Nature of 
dues

Amount De-
manded

Rs. In crores

Amount Paid 
under protest 
Rs.in crores

Period to 
which the 
amount 
relate

Forum where 
dispute is pending

Uttar Pradesh 
Trade Tax Act, 
1948

Trade Tax
(Entry Tax)

0.18 0.10 2008-09 Additional 
Commissioner 
(Appeals), Meerut

Uttar Pradesh 
Trade Tax Act, 
1948

Trade Tax
(Entry Tax)

0.35 0.03 2005-06 Deputy Commissioner, 
Commercial Tax, 
Muzzaffarnagar

Uttar Pradesh 
Trade Tax Act, 
1948

Trade Tax
(Entry Tax)

0.14 - 1993-94, 
2001- 02, 
2005-06, 
2006-07

Trade Tax Tribunal, 
Meerut

Kerala Value 
Added Tax Act, 
2003

Value Added 
Tax

65.97 - 2005-06, 
2006- 07, 
2007-08, 
2008-09,
2009- 10 

and 
2011-12

Honourable Supreme 
Court of India

Maharashtra 
Value Added 
Tax Act, 2002

Value Added 
Tax

0.20 0.01 2011-12 Deputy Commissioner of 
Sales Tax, Mumbai

Maharashtra 
Value Added 
Tax Act, 2002

Value Added 
Tax

0.02 0.00# 2013-14 Joint Commissioner of 
Sales Tax, Mumbai

Orissa Value 
Added Tax Act, 
2004

Value Added 
Tax

0.28 0.18 2013-14, 
2015- 16, 
2016-17

Honourable High Court 
of Orissa

Tripura Value 
Added Tax Act, 
2004

Value Added 
Tax

0.16 - 2015-16, 
2016- 17, 
2017-18

Assistant Commissioner 
of Sales Tax, Tripura

Uttar Pradesh 
Trade Tax Act, 
2008

Value Added 
Tax

1.07 - 2010-11 Additional 
Commissioner (Appeals), 
Uttar Pradesh

Central Sales 
Tax Act,1956

Central Sales 
Tax

0.02 0.00# 2008-09 Hon’ble Member, Comm. 
Tax Tribunal, Bench-II, 
Meerut

Uttar Pradesh 
Trade Tax Act, 
1948

Trade Tax
(Entry Tax)

0.02 0.00# 2008-09 Hon’ble Member, Comm. 
Tax Tribunal, Bench-II, 
Meerut
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 Name of the 
statute

Nature of 
dues

Amount De-
manded

Rs. In crores

Amount Paid 
under protest 
Rs.in crores

Period to 
which the 
amount 
relate

Forum where 
dispute is pending

The Finance 
Tax Act, 1994

Service Tax 4.46 - 2015-18  Honourable Supreme 
Court of India

Central Goods 
and Services 
Tax Act, 2017

Goods and 
Services Tax 
(GST)

113.00 - 2017-19 Joint Commissioner of 
CGST (Appeals), Ahmed-
abad.

Central Goods 
and Services 
Tax Act, 2017

Goods and 
Services Tax 
(GST)

30.66 - 2018-21 Honourable High Court 
of Karnataka

The 
Employees’ 
Provident 
Fund and 
Miscellaneous 
Provisions Act, 
1952

Provident 
Fund

0.19 - 1991 Honourable High Court 
of Allahabad

 CGST Act 
2017

GST 0.00# 0.00# 2017-18 Dy. Commissioner of 
State Tax

Central Excise 
Act, 1944

Excise duty 0.01 0.01 2013-14 Commissioner Appeals, 
Meerut

 Finance Act, 
1994

Service tax 0.01 0.01 2015-16 to 
2017-18

(upto 
June-2017)

CGST Appeal Meerut

Uttar Pradesh 
Trade Tax Act, 
1948

Trade Tax 
(Entry Tax)

0.00# 0.00# 2002 - 03 Trade Tax Tribunal, 
Meerut

* Excluding Interest payable
# Amounts are less than lakhs

viii. According to the information and explanations given to us, there are no transaction which are not 
recorded in the books of account which have been surrendered or disclosed as income during the 
year in Income-tax Assessment under the Income Tax Act, 1961. Accordingly, the requirement to 
report as stated under clause 3(viii) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

ix. 
(a) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and the records 

of the Company examined by us, the Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or 
borrowings or in payment of interest thereon to any lender.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our audit 
procedures, we report that the Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank 
or financial institution or government or any government authority.
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(c) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations provided to us, money 
raised by way of term loans during the year have been applied for the purpose for which 
they were raised.

(d) According to the information and explanations given to us, and the procedures performed 
by us, and on an overall examination of the standalone financial statements of the Company, 
we report that no funds raised on short-term basis have been utilised for long-term purposes 
by the Company.

e) According to the information and explanations given to us and on an overall examination 
of the standalone financial statements of the Company, we report that the Company has not 
taken any funds from an any entity or person on account of or to meet the obligations of its 
subsidiary, associate, or jointly controlled entity. 

(f) According to the information and explanations given to us and procedures performed by 
us, we report that the Company has not raised loans during the year on the pledge of 
securities held in its subsidiary, jointly controlled entity or associate company. Accordingly, 
the requirement to report under Clause 3(ix)(f) of the order is not applicable to the Company. 

x. 

(a) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company 
did not raise any money by way of initial public offer or further public offer (including debt 
instruments) during the year. Accordingly, the reporting requirement under clause 3(x)(a) of 
the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination 
of the records of the Company, the Company has not made any preferential allotment or 
private placement of shares or convertible debentures (fully, partly, or optionally convertible) 
during the year. Accordingly, the requirements to report under clause 3(x)(b) of the Order is 
not applicable to the Company.

xi. 

(a)  Based on our examination of the books and records of the Company, carried out in accordance 
with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, we report that no fraud by the Company or no material fraud on the 
Company has been noticed or reported during the course of our audit, except for the matter 
referred to in Note 24(c) to the standalone financial statements and under the Basis for 
Qualified Opinion paragraph in the main audit report regarding the ongoing investigation 
initiated by CBI on which we are unable to comment, pending outcome of the investigation.

(b)  During the year, no report under Section 143(12) of the Act, has been filed in Form ADT-4, 
as prescribed under rule 13 of Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central 
Government. Also, refer Note 24(C) to the standalone financial statements and Basis for 
Qualified Opinion paragraph in the main audit report regarding the on-going investigation.

(c)  As represented to us by the Management, there are no whistle-blower complaints received 
by the Company during the year. 

xii.  The Company is not a Nidhi Company. Accordingly, the provisions stated under clause 3(xii)(a) to 
(c) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.
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xiii. According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination of the 
records of the Company, transactions with the related parties are in compliance with Sections 
177 and 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 where applicable and details of such transactions have 
been disclosed in the standalone financial statements as required by the applicable accounting 
standards.

xiv. 

(a) In our opinion and based on our examination, the Company has an internal audit system 
commensurate with the size and nature of its business.

(b) We have considered the internal audit reports of the Company issued till the date of our 
audit report, for the period under audit.

xv.  According to the information and explanations given to us, and based on our examination of the 
records of the Company, in our opinion during the year the Company has not entered into any non-
cash transactions with its directors or persons connected with its directors and accordingly, the 
requirement to report on clause 3(xv) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

xvi. 

(a) The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45 IA of the Reserve Bank of 
India Act, 1934 (2 of 1934) and accordingly, the requirements to report under clause 3(xvi)
(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(b) The Company is not engaged in any Non-Banking Financial or Housing Finance activities 
during the year and accordingly, the provisions stated under clause 3 (xvi)(b) of the Order 
are not applicable to the Company.

(c) The Company is not a Core investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations made by 
Reserve Bank of India. Accordingly, the requirement to report under clause 3 (xvi)(c) of the 
Order is not applicable to the Company.

(d) According to the information and explanations provided to us, the Group (as defined in the 
Core Investment Companies (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016) does not have more than one 
Core Investment Company as a part of its group. Accordingly, the reporting under clause 
3(xvi)(d) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

xvii. Based on the overall review of standalone financial statements, the Company has not incurred cash 
losses in the current financial year and in the immediately preceding financial year. Accordingly, 
the requirement to report under clause 3(xvii) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

xviii. There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year. Accordingly, reporting 
under clause 3(xviii) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

xix. According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of the financial ratios 
(as disclosed in note 30(n) to the standalone financial statements), ageing and expected dates of 
realisation of financial assets and payment of financial liabilities, other information accompanying 
the standalone financial statements, our knowledge of the Board of Directors and management 
plans and based on our examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has 
come to our attention, which causes us to believe that any material uncertainty exists as on the 
date of the audit report that Company is not capable of meeting its liabilities existing at the date 
of balance sheet as and when they fall due within a period of one year from the balance sheet 
date. We, however, state that this is not an assurance as to the future viability of the Company. We 
further state that our reporting is based on the facts up to the date of the audit report and we 
neither give any guarantee nor any assurance that all liabilities falling due within a period of one 
year from the balance sheet date, will get discharged by the Company as and when they fall due.
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xx. 

(a) In respect of other than ongoing projects, there are no unspent amounts that are required to 
be transferred to a Fund as specified in Schedule VII of the Companies Act, 2013 as disclosed 
in note 20(b) to the standalone financial statements.

(b) In respect of ongoing projects, the Company has transferred unspent amount to a special 
account within a period of thirty days from the end of the financial year in compliance with 
Section 135(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 as explained in Note 20(b) to the standalone 
financial statements.

xxi. The reporting under clause 3(xxi) of the Order is not applicable in respect of audit of standalone 
financial statements. Accordingly, no comment in respect of the said Clause has been included in 
the report.

For M S K A & Associates 
Chartered Accountants

ICAI Firm Registration No. 105047W

Geetha Jeyakumar 
Partner

Membership No. 029409
UDIN :  25029409BMMIQL8231

Place  :  Chennai
Date   :  10th June, 2025
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ANNEXURE C TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT OF 
EVEN DATE ON THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 

INDIAN POTASH LIMITED
[Referred to in paragraph 2(h) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ in the 
Independent Auditors’ Report of even date to the Members of INDIAN POTASH LIMITED on the 

Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2025

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under 
Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls 
with reference to standalone financial statements 
of INDIAN POTASH LIMITED (“the Company”) as 
of March 31, 2025 in conjunction with our audit 
of the standalone financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended on that date.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Company, including has, 
in all material respects, an adequate internal 
financial controls with reference to standalone 
financial statements and such internal financial 
controls with reference to standalone financial 
statements were operating effectively as at 
March 31, 2025 based on the internal control with 
reference to standalone financial statements 
criteria established by the Company considering 
the essential components of internal control 
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal 
Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 
(the “Guidance Note”) issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India (‘ICAI’).

Management’s and Board of Director’s 
Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s Management and the Board of 
Directors are responsible for establishing and 
maintaining internal financial controls based on 
the internal control with reference to standalone 
financial statements criteria established by the 
Company considering the essential components 
of internal control stated in the Guidance Note 
issued by ICAI. These responsibilities include 
the design, implementation and maintenance 
of adequate internal financial controls that 
were operating effectively for ensuring the 
orderly and efficient conduct of its business, 

including adherence to Company’s policies, the 
safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and 
detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy 
and completeness of the accounting records, 
and the timely preparation of reliable financial 
information, as required under the Act.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Company's internal financial controls with 
reference to standalone financial statements 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with the Guidance Note and 
the Standards on Auditing, issued by ICAI and 
deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) 
of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit 
of internal financial controls. Those Standards 
and the Guidance Note require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether adequate internal financial controls with 
reference to standalone financial statements was 
established and maintained and if such controls 
operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of 
the internal financial controls with reference 
to standalone financial statements and their 
operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal 
financial controls with reference to standalone 
financial statements included obtaining an 
understanding of internal financial controls with 
reference to standalone financial statements, 
assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and 
operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the standalone financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained, is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion on the Company’s 
internal financial controls with reference to 
standalone financial statements. 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls With 
reference to Standalone Financial Statements

A company's internal financial control with 
reference to standalone financial statements 
is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of standalone 
financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company's internal financial control 
with reference to standalone financial statements 
includes those policies and procedures that (1) 
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect 
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of 
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary 
to permit preparation of standalone financial 
statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts 
and expenditures of the company are being 
made only in accordance with authorizations 

of management and directors of the company; 
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's 
assets that could have a material effect on the 
standalone financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial 
Controls With reference to Standalone financial 
statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal 
financial controls with reference to standalone 
financial statements, including the possibility 
of collusion or improper management override 
of controls, material misstatements due to error 
or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of the internal 
financial controls with reference to standalone 
financial statements to future periods are subject 
to the risk that the internal financial control with 
reference to standalone financial statements 
may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

For M S K A & Associates 
Chartered Accountants

ICAI Firm Registration No. 105047W

Geetha Jeyakumar 
Partner

Membership No. 029409
UDIN :  25029409BMMIQL8231Place  :  Chennai

Date   :  10th June, 2025
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ASSETS 
Non-Current Assets   
Property, plant and equipment 2 (a)   1,541.86   1,212.15 
Capital work-in-progress 2(b)   82.65   216.31 
Right-of-use assets 2(c)   523.85   108.95 
Investment Property 2(d)   14.01   14.44 
Intangible Assets 3  0.59   0.68 
Financial assets   
 i.  Investments 4(a)(i)  1,864.03   1,310.73 
 ii.  Loans 4(e) 23.63   23.63 
 iii.  Other financial assets 4(f)  94.68   30.31 
Deferred tax assets (net) 5  111.18   140.42 
Other non-current assets 6  1,634.90   0.15 
Total non-current assets   5,891.38  3,057.77 
Current assets   
Inventories 7  4,689.84   3,791.79 
Financial assets   
 i.  Investments 4(a)(ii)  794.99   -   
 ii.  Trade receivables 4(b)  4,507.11   3,669.76 
 iii.  Cash and cash equivalents 4(c)  367.15   610.37 
 iv.  Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents 4(d)  53.88   3.24 
 v.  Loans 4(e)  16.19   4.26 
 vi.  Other financial assets 4(f)  175.62   115.24 
Other current assets 6  632.41   2,049.48 
Total current assets   11,237.19   10,244.14 
TOTAL ASSETS   17,128.57   13,301.91 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   
Equity    
Equity share capital 8(a)  28.60   28.60 
Other equity 8(b)  7,486.25   6,155.01 
Total equity   7,514.85   6,183.61 
Liabilities    
Non-current liabilities   
Financial liabilities   
 i.  Borrowings 9(a)(i)  71.80   124.99 
 ii.  Lease liabilities 2(c)   12.96   10.14 
 iii.  Other financial liabilities 9(c)  128.45   114.35 
Provisions 10  1.86   1.68 
Other Non - Current liabilities 12  5.66  - 
Total non-current liabilities   220.73   251.16 
Current liabilities   
Financial liabilities   
 i.  Borrowings 9(a)(ii)  5,191.99   4,449.69 
 ii.  Lease liabilities 2(c)   6.34   4.78 
 iii.  Trade payables 9(b)  
  (a)  total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises   4.71  4.83 
  (b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises   3,742.41   2,047.04 
       and small enterprises
 iv.  Other financial liabilities 9(c)  190.26  235.16 
Provisions 10  22.02   23.13 
Current tax liabilities (net) 11  178.07   41.77 
Other current liabilities 12  57.19  60.74
Total current liabilities   9,392.99  6,867.14 
Total liabilities   9,613.72   7,118.30 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   17,128.57   13,301.91

As per our report of even date 
For M S K A & Associates 
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration Number: 105047W

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Indian Potash Limited 
Pankaj Kumar Bansal 
Chairman 
DIN: 05197128 
Rakesh Kapur 
Director 
DIN: 00007230 
Girish Kumar
Company Secretary
Place: New Delhi
Date : 10th June 2025

Geetha Jeyakumar
Partner
Membership No. 029409 

Place : Chennai
Date : 10th June 2025

P.S. Gahlaut 
Managing Director 
DIN: 00049401 
Sudhir Bhargava 
Director 
DIN: 00247515 
R. Srinivasan 
Chief Financial Officer 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these standalone financial statements.

Standalone Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2025  
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  CIN No. : U14219TN1955PLC000961

Particulars Note As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024



53

Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  CIN No. : U14219TN1955PLC000961 

Particulars Note Year Ended
31 March 2025

Year Ended
31 March 2024

Income    

Revenue from operations 13  20,688.91  20,946.43 

Other income 14  1,267.03  1,087.00 

Total income   21,955.94   22,033.43 

Expenses   

Cost of materials consumed 15  1,414.24   1,228.22 

Purchases of stock-in-trade   16,855.11   16,582.31 

Changes in inventories of work-in-progress, stock-in-trade and finished goods 16  (851.06)  231.04 

Employee benefits expense 17  131.48   129.86 

Finance costs 18  499.42  383.76 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 19  68.37   60.71 

Other expenses 20  2,062.00  2,377.26 

Total expenses   20,179.56  20,993.16 

Profit before tax   1,776.38   1,040.27 

Income tax expense   

 Current tax 21  420.44   253.00 

 Deferred tax charge 5  24.79   9.94 

 Total tax expense   445.23   262.94 

Profit for the year   1,331.15   777.33 

Other comprehensive income   

 Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss :   

 Debt instruments through other comprehensive income 8(b)  (0.20)  (3.32)

 Income tax relating to items that will be reclassified to profit or loss 5  0.79   3.43 

    0.59   0.11 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:   

Gain/ losses on equity instruments at fair value through other 8(b)  17.52   13.91 
comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations 8(b)  4.49  (5.61)

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 5  (5.24)  2.22 

    16.77  10.52 

Total other comprehensive Income, net of tax   17.36   10.63 

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax   1,348.51   787.96 

Earnings per equity share of Rs. 10 each 22 

   Basic (in Rs.)   465.48   271.82 

   Diluted (in Rs.)   465.48   271.82

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these standalone financial statements.

As per our report of even date 
For M S K A & Associates
Chartered Accountants     
Firm Registration Number: 105047W

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Indian Potash Limited 

Pankaj Kumar Bansal 
Chairman 
DIN: 05197128 

Rakesh Kapur 
Director 
DIN: 00007230 

Girish Kumar
Company Secretary

Place: New Delhi
Date : 10th June 2025

Geetha Jeyakumar
Partner
Membership No. 029409 

Place : Chennai
Date : 10th June 2025

P.S. Gahlaut 
Managing Director 
DIN: 00049401 

Sudhir Bhargava 
Director 
DIN: 00247515
 
R. Srinivasan 
Chief Financial Officer 
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Standalone Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2025   
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

a. Equity share capital  

Particulars Note As at 31 March 2025
 No of Shares Amount

Balance as at 1 April 2023  2,85,97,200  28.60 

Changes in equity share capital during 2023-24 8(a)  -    -   

Balance as at 31 March 2024  2,85,97,200  28.60 
Changes in equity share capital during 2024-25 8(a)  -    -   
Balance as at 31 March 2025  2,85,97,200  28.60 

Particulars

Other Equity

Total equity 
attributable 

to equity 
holders of 

the Company

Reserves & surplus  
(Refer note 8(b))

Other Comprehensive 
Income (OCI) 

(Refer note 8(b))
Capital 
reserve

General 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Molasses 
Storage 
Facility 
Reserve 

Fund

Debt 
instrument 

through 
other com-
prehensive 

income

Equity 
instrument 

through 
other com-
prehensive 

income

b.  Other Equity

INDIAN POTASH LIMITED  
Standalone statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 March 2022  
All amounts in Indian Rupees lakhs, unless otherwise stated  

As per our report of even date 
For M S K A & Associates
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration Number: 105047W

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Indian Potash Limited 

Pankaj Kumar Bansal 
Chairman 
DIN: 05197128 

Rakesh Kapur 
Director 
DIN: 00007230 

Girish Kumar
Company Secretary

Place: New Delhi
Date : 10th June 2025

Geetha Jeyakumar
Partner
Membership No.: 029409 

Place : Chennai
Date : 10th June 2025

P.S. Gahlaut 
Managing Director 
DIN: 00049401 

Sudhir Bhargava 
Director 
DIN: 00247515
 
R. Srinivasan 
Chief Financial Officer 
 

Opening balance as at 1 April 2023  98.14   415.57   4,820.06   1.73   48.92   2.65   5,387.07 

Profit for the year    777.33      777.33 

Other comprehensive income /(Loss) (net of tax)    (4.20)   0.11   14.72   10.63 

Total comprehensive income  for the year  -     -     773.13   -     0.11   14.72   787.96 

Transfer to Molasses Storage Facility    (0.16)  0.16     -
Reserve Fund (Refer Note 8(b))   

Final dividend    (20.02)     (20.02)

Closing balance as at 31 March 2024  98.14   415.57   5,573.01   1.89   49.03   17.37   6,155.01 

Opening balance as at 1 April 2024  98.14   415.57   5,573.01   1.89   49.03   17.37   6,155.01 

Profit for the year    1,331.15      1,331.15 

Other comprehensive Income (net of tax)    3.36    0.59   13.41   17.36 

Total comprehensive income/(Loss) for the year  -     -     1,334.51   -     0.59   13.41   1,348.51 

Acquistion of Navsari unit (Refer note 33)  4.18        4.18 

Transfer to Molasses Storage Facility Reserve     (0.26)  0.26     -
Fund (Refer Note 8(b))   

Final dividend    (21.45)     (21.45)

Closing balance as at 31 March 2025  102.32   415.57   6,885.81   2.15   49.62   30.78   7,486.25

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Standalone financial statements.
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Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2025
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  CIN No. : U14219TN1955PLC000961

Particulars Year ended 
31 March 2025

Year ended 
31 March 2024

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit before tax  1,776.38  1,040.27 

Adjustments for

Depreciation and amortisation expense  68.37  60.71 

Finance costs  499.42  383.76 

Unrealised difference on translation of assets and liabilities  9.72  22.13 

Provision for doubtful trade and other receivables, loans and 
advances,(Written back)/ made  (17.18)  47.72 

Dividend from Investments  (1,040.18)  (785.87)

Interest Income on financial assets  (77.20)  (62.16)

Profit on sale of investments, net  (96.68)  (84.76)

(Profit)/Loss on disposal of PPE, net  (0.29)  0.20 
Operating profit before working capital changes  1,122.36  622.00 

Change in operating assets and liabilities

(Increase)/ Decrease in trade receivables  (802.53)  1,734.47 

Increase in other financial assets  (100.87)  (6.92)

(Increase) / Decrease in other non-current assets  (1,634.75)  35.87 

Decrease / (Increase) in other current assets  1,417.07  (343.12)

(Increase) / Decrease in inventories  (898.05)  221.05 

Increase / (Decrease) in trade payables  1,709.46  (3,296.81)

Decrease in other financial liabilities  (30.80)  (15.65)

Increase / (Decrease) in Provisions  3.56  (69.46)

Increase / (Decrease) in other liabilities  2.11  (32.32)
Cash generated from/ (used) in operations  787.56  (1,150.89)

Less: Income taxes paid  (284.14)  (320.88)
Net cash generated from/ (used) in operating activities  503.42  (1,471.77)

Cash flow from investing activities:

Payments for property, plant and equipment, intangible assets,ROU and 
capital work in progress  (656.04)  (256.19)

Acquisition of Business unit ( Refer note 33)  (19.50)  -   

Sale proceeds of property, plant and equipment  1.21  0.31 

Net Increase in non current investments  (536.17)  (241.30)

Investment in Mutual Funds sold (net of Purchases)  (696.28)  151.83 

Net increase in bank deposits  (50.64)  184.16 

Dividend received from Investments  1,040.18  785.87 

Interest received on financial assets  53.32  57.95 

Loans to wholly owned subsidiary  (16.94)  (4.24)

Net cash (used in) / Generated from investing activities  (880.86)  678.39 
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Particulars Year ended 
31 March 2025

Year ended 
31 March 2024

Cash flow from financing activities

Repayment from long term borrowings  (86.44)  (75.40)

Proceeds from long term borrowings  23.60  100.88 

Proceeds from short term borrowings and cane bills payable to banks  741.04  575.96 

Principal paid on lease payments  (25.84)  (5.38)

Dividend paid on equity shares  (21.45)  (20.02)

Finance costs paid  (499.42)  (383.76)

Net cash generated from financing activities  131.49  192.28 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (245.95)  (601.10)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the  
financial year  610.37  1,213.27 

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  2.73  (1.80)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  367.15  610.37 

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents as per statement of cash flows:

Cash and cash equivalents (refer note 4c)  367.15  610.37 

Balances as per statement of cash flows  367.15  610.37 
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1. Overview  and Material accounting policies 

1.1. Company overview 

Indian Potash Limited (IPL) (‘the Company’) is a leading importer involved in distribution of Muriate of 
Potash, Di-Ammonium Phosphate, Sulphate of Potash, Urea etc. across the country including certain in-
accessible areas, duly serviced by Regional offices operating in almost all State Capitals. 

The Company is also involved in the business of manufacturing of Cattle feed products, Milk and milk 
products, Sulphitation and refined Sugar, Distillery and trading of Gold and other precious metals.  

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in India and has its registered 
office in Chennai, Tamilnadu, India. 

1.2. Basis of preparation of standalone financial statements

Compliance with Ind AS

These standalone financial statements are prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards 
(Ind AS) under the historical cost convention on the accrual basis except for certain financial instruments 
which are measured at fair values, at the end of each reporting period as explained in the accounting 
policies below, and have complied in all material respects with the provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013 (‘the Act’) (to the extent notified). The Ind AS are prescribed under Section 133 of the Act read 
with Rule 3 of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 and relevant amendment rules 
issued thereafter.

Historical cost convention

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and 
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price 
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of 
an asset or a liability, the Company takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if 
market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability 
at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and /or disclosure purposes in these financial 
statements is determined on such a basis, except for leasing transactions that are within the scope of 
Ind AS 116, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as 
net realisable value in Ind AS 2 or value in use in Ind AS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the measurement date;

 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e.as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);

 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
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Accounting policies have been consistently applied except where a newly-issued accounting standard 
is initially adopted or a revision to an existing accounting standard requires a change in the accounting 
policy hitherto in use.

1.3. Use of estimates and judgements

In preparing these Standalone financial statements, Management has made judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

1.3.1. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised prospectively.

1.3.2. Judgements are made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on 
the amounts recognised in the Standalone financial statements.

a.  NRV - Expenses related to purchases like freight subsidy is adjusted for calculating the NRV

b.  Tax provision management uses its judgement on the probability of the outcome of the case and 
accordingly provision is created.

1.3.3. Assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material 
adjustment are reviewed on an on-going basis.

The areas involving critical estimates and judgements are:

S.No. Particulars Note

1. Fair value measurements and valuation processes      
(including impairment evaluation) 1.8 and 1.9 

2. Revenue recognition (including Sale of goods, principal 
vs agent considerations and Government Grant) 1.4

3. Provision for doubtful receivables 1.9

4. Physical verification of inventories 1.6

5. Provision for employee benefits 1.14

1.4. Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the value of the consideration received or receivable on sale of goods/rendering 
of services in the ordinary course of the Company’s activities.

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods are transferred to the 
customer. The Company has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements, 
except for certain arrangements, because it typically controls the goods before transferring them to the 
customer.

For certain arrangements, the Company acts either as a principal or an agent. The role of the Company 
either as an agent or a principal is determined based on evaluation of its role as a primary obligor, has 
the pricing latitude in the said arrangements, its exposure to inventory risks, on a case to case basis. If 
the Company is a principal, gross revenue is recognised and if the Company is an agent, net revenue / 
commission / trade margin is recognised. 

Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
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The Company recognises revenue from sale of goods based on a five step model as set out in Ind AS 115, 
Revenue from contracts with customers.

The Company accounts for a contract when it has approval and commitment from the customer, the 
rights of the parties are identified, payment terms are identified, the contract has commercial substance 
and collectability of consideration is probable. The Company applies judgement in determining the 
customer’s ability and intention to pay based on a variety of factors including the customer’s historical 
payment experience.

The Company considers the terms of the contract in determining the transaction price. The transaction 
price is based upon the amount the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring of 
promised goods and services to the customer after deducting returns, trade allowances and rebates and 
excludes applicable indirect taxes.

1.4.1. Sale of goods 

Revenue in respect of sale of goods is recognised at a point in time when control of the goods has 
transferred, being when the goods are delivered to the buyer, the buyer has full discretion over the 
goods and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the buyer’s acceptance of the goods. 
Revenue from the sales is recognised based on price specified in the contract. The Company accounts for 
volume discounts, other discounts and pricing rebates to customers as a reduction of revenue based on 
the rateable allocation of the discounts/rebates amount to each of the underlying revenue transaction 
that results in progress by the customer towards earning the discount/rebate.

1.4.2. Government Grant 

Subsidy income is from sale of products recognised on the basis of the rate notified from time to time 
by the Government of India in accordance with Nutrient Based Subsidy (NBS) policy on the quantity of 
Fertilizers sold by the Company for the period for which notification has been issued. 

Freight and other subsidies is recognised based on the notified rates/policy and when there is a 
reasonable assurance that the Company will comply with all necessary conditions attached to Subsidy.

Cane subsidy for the Sugar operations from the State Government is recognised when there is reasonable 
assurance that the subsidy will be received and all attaching conditions are complied with.

1.4.3. Other income

Other income comprises primarily of interest income, dividend income, exchange gain /loss on forward 
contracts and on translation of other assets and liabilities. Interest income is recognised using the 
effective interest method and accounted on accrual basis. Dividend income is recognised when the right 
to receive payment is established.  

Interest on trade receivables, dispatch/demurrage claim and compensation/recoveries made from 
Government of India are accounted as and when received, on account of uncertainty in their collection.

Insurance claims are accounted for on the basis of claims admitted and to the extent that the amount 
recoverable can be measured reliably and it is reasonable to expect ultimate collection.

1.5. Property, plant and equipment

Freehold land is carried at historical cost and is not depreciated. All other items of property, plant and 
equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.  

Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
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Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component 
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to statement of profit and loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the 
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is included in the profit & loss 
within ‘Other Income’.

Advances paid towards acquisition of property, plant and equipment outstanding at each Balance Sheet 
date is classified as capital advances under other non-current assets and the cost of assets not ready for 
use before such date are disclosed under “Capital work-in-progress”.  

Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual value

The Company depreciates property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives using the 
straight-line method. The useful lives of the assets are based on useful lives as prescribed under Part C 
of Schedule II to the Companies Act, 2013. The residual values are not more than 5% of the original cost 
of the asset. The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the 
end of each reporting period.

1.6. Inventories 

Raw materials and stores, work in progress, traded and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost 
on weighted average basis and net realisable value after providing for obsolescence and other losses, 
where considered necessary.  

Cost of raw materials and traded goods comprises cost of purchases. Cost of work-in-progress and 
finished goods comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and 
fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. 

Cost of inventories also include other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition. Cost of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The Company’s fertilizers are stored in various ports in the form of heaps. The same is verified and 
measured by independent surveyors. Stocks are stored with CFA agents and the availability of the same 
has been confirmed by them. The Company appoints surveyors to estimate the inventories based on 
volumetric analysis and density of the stock

1.7. Financial instruments 

1.7.1. Initial recognition

The Company recognises financial assets and financial liabilities when it becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments.  

All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not at fair 

Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
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value through profit or loss, are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost of 
fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.

1.7.2.  Subsequent measurement

a. Non-derivative financial instruments 

(i) Financial assets carried at amortized cost 

Financial asset that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost (except 
for financial assets that are designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition):

 the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; and 

 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

(ii) Financial assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive  Income (FVTOCI) 

Financial asset that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (except for financial assets that are designated at fair value through profit 
or loss on initial recognition):

  the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Further, in cases where the Company has made an irrevocable election based on its business model, 
for its investments which are classified as equity instruments, the subsequent changes in fair value are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. This election is not permitted if the equity investment is 
held for trading. These elected investments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the “Reserve for equity instruments 
through other comprehensive income”. The cumulative gain or loss is not classified to profit or loss on 
disposal of the investments.

Dividends from such investments are recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Company’s 
right to receive payments is established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with 
the dividend will flow to the entity, the dividend does not represent a recovery of part of cost of the 
investment and the amount of dividend can be measured reliably. 

Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
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(iii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

A financial asset which is not classified in any of the above categories is subsequently fair valued through 
profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at fair value through 
profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss and presented net 
in the statement of profit and loss and included in other Income in the period in which it arises. Interest 
income from these financial assets is included in other income.

(iv) Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. For 
trade and other payables maturing within one year from the Balance Sheet date, the carrying amounts 
approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these instruments.

(v) Investment in subsidiaries and associate

Investment in subsidiaries and associate is carried at cost in the standalone financial statements.

b. Derivative financial instruments 

The Company enters into certain derivative contracts to hedge risks which are not designated as hedges. 
Such contracts are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and 
are subsequently re-measured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The impact of the 
fair value changes are included in other income.

1.7.3.  De-recognition of financial instruments

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire or it transfers the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for de-recognition 
under Ind AS 109. A financial liability (or a part of financial liability) is derecognised from the Company’s 
Balance Sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.   

1.8  Fair value of financial instruments

In determining the fair value of its financial instruments, the Company uses a variety of methods and 
assumptions that are based on market conditions and risks existing at each reporting date. The methods 
used to determine fair value include discounted cash flow analysis, available quoted market prices and 
dealer quotes. All methods of assessing fair value result in general approximation of value, and such 
value may never actually be realized.

The Company has made certain investments which are not held for trading. The Company has elected 
the FVTOCI irrevocable option for these investments. 

1.9  Impairment

a.  Financial assets 

The Company recognises loss allowances using the expected credit loss (ECL) model for the financial 
assets which are not fair valued through profit or loss. Loss allowance for trade receivables with no 
significant financing component is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. For all other financial 
assets, ECLs are measured at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL, unless there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk from initial recognition in which case those are measured at lifetime ECL, as 

Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
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Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

applicable, as the case may be. The amount of ECLs (or reversals, if any) that is required to adjust the 
loss allowance at the reporting date to the amount that is required to be recognised is recognised as an 
impairment gain or loss in the profit or loss.

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are assessed for impairment if there are indicators of 
impairment in accordance with Ind AS 36. 

b.  Non-financial assets 

(i)  Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are evaluated for recoverability whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of fair value less cost to sell and the value-
in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets. In such cases, the recoverable amount is determined for 
the cash generating units to which the asset belongs.

If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognised in the Statement of Profit 
and Loss is measured by the amount by which the carrying value of the assets exceeds the estimated 
recoverable amount of the asset. An impairment loss is reversed in the Statement of Profit and Loss 
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. The carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any accumulated amortization or 
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.

1.10  Trade and other payables 

The amount represents liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end 
of financial year which are unpaid.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid as per payment 
terms of the contract. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is 
not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are recognised initially at their fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

1.11.   Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction 
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings 
using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised 
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be 
drawn down.  

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability 
that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any 
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other gains/(losses).

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.  
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1.11.1  Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete 
and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

1.12.    Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency 

The functional currency of the Company is the Indian rupee. The Standalone financial statements are 
presented in Indian rupee (rounded off to crores; one crore equals 100 lakhs). 

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign-currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities are translated into the relevant functional 
currency at exchange rate in effect at the Balance Sheet date. The gains or losses resulting from such 
translations are included in the Statement of Profit and Loss.  

Transaction gains or losses realized upon settlement of foreign currency transactions are included in 
determining net profit for the period in which the transaction is settled. Revenue, expense and cash-flow 
items denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the relevant functional currencies using the 
exchange rate in effect on the date of the transaction.

Foreign exchange differences regarded as an adjustment to borrowing costs are presented in the 
statement of profit and loss, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are 
presented in the statement of profit and loss on a net basis within other gains / (losses).

1.13.  Income taxes 

The income tax expense comprises current and deferred income tax. Income tax expense or credit for the 
period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income using the income tax rates and tax laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date. The Company periodically 
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is 
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected 
to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all temporary difference arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred 
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that the related tax benefit will be realized.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date and are expected to apply to taxable income 
in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.

The effect of changes in tax rates on deferred income tax assets and liabilities is recognised as income 
or expense in the period that includes the enactment or the substantive enactment date. A deferred tax 

Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
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asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and 
tax bases of investments in subsidiary where it is not probable that the differences will reverse in the 
foreseeable future and taxable profit will not be available against which the temporary difference can 
be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. 
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and 
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

1.14.   Employee benefits

1.14.1. Short-term employee obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits that are expected to be settled 
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service 
are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured 
at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as 
current employee benefit obligations in the balance sheet.

1.14.2. Other long-term employee obligations

The Company has a policy on compensated absences which are both accumulating and non-accumulating 
in nature. The expected cost of accumulating compensated absences is determined by actuarial valuation 
performed by an independent actuary at each Balance Sheet date using projected unit credit method 
on the additional amount expected to be paid / availed as a result of the unused entitlement that has 
accumulated at the balance sheet date and remeasurements as a result of experience adjustments 
and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in statement of profit and loss. Expense on non-
accumulating compensated absences is recognised in the period in which the absences occur.

1.14.3. Post-employment obligations

1.14.3.1 Gratuity

The Company provides for gratuity, a defined benefit retirement plan (‘the Gratuity Plan’) covering 
eligible employees. The Gratuity Plan provides a lump-sum payment to vested employees at retirement, 
death, incapacitation or termination of employment, of an amount based on the respective employee’s 
salary and tenure of employment with the Company.

Liabilities with regard to the Gratuity Plan are determined by actuarial valuation, performed by an 
Independent actuary, at each Balance Sheet date using the projected unit credit method. The Company 
fully contributes all ascertained liabilities to the “Indian Potash Executive Gratuity Fund Trust (‘the Trust’) 
and to “Indian Potash Non-executive Gratuity Fund Trust (‘the Trust’). Trustees of the fund administrator 
makes contributions to the Trusts and contribution are invested in a scheme with SBI Life Insurance 
Company Limited. 

Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
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The Company recognises the net obligation of a defined benefit plan in its Balance Sheet as an asset or 
liability.  Gains and losses through re-measurements, if any, of the net defined benefit liability/ (asset) are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. The actual return of the portfolio of the plan assets, in excess 
of the yields computed by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation is 
recognised in other comprehensive income. The effect of any plan amendments are recognised in the 
Statement of profit and loss.

1.14.3.2 Superannuation

Certain employees of Indian Potash Limited are participants in a defined contribution plan. The 
Company has no further obligations to the plan beyond its monthly contributions which are periodically 
contributed to a trust fund, the corpus of which is invested with SBI Life Insurance Company Limited.

1.14.3.3  Provident fund

Eligible employees of Indian Potash Limited receive benefits from a provident fund, which is a defined 
benefit plan.  Both the eligible employee and the Company make monthly contributions to the provident 
fund plan equal to a specified percentage of the covered employee’s salary. The Company contributes 
a portion to the Indian Potash Staff Provident Fund Trust. The trust invests in specific designated 
instruments as permitted by Indian law. The remaining portion is contributed to the government-
administered pension fund. The rate at which the annual interest is payable to the beneficiaries by 
the trust is being administered by the government. The Company has an obligation to make good the 
shortfall, if any, between the return from the investments of the trust and the notified interest rate. 

1.15  Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision maker.

The board of directors of the Company assesses the financial performance and position of the Company 
and makes strategic decisions. The board of directors has been identified as the chief operating decision 
maker. Refer note 27 for segment information presented. 

1.16.   Rounding off amounts

All amounts disclosed in the Standalone financial statements and notes have been rounded off to the 
nearest Crores as per the requirement of Schedule III, unless otherwise stated.

1.17.   Recent regulatory updates and accounting pronouncements

Ministry of Corporate Affairs ("MCA") notifies new standards or amendments to the existing standards 
under Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. For the year ended 
March 31, 2025 MCA has not notified any new standards or amendment to the existing standards 
applicable to the Company.

Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
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Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

2(b)  Capital work-in-progress

Particulars
As at  

1 April 
2024

 Expenditure 
incurred during 

the year

Capitalised 
during the 

year

Written 
off

Closing as at 
31 March 2025

Capital work-in-progress  216.31  106.68  (236.76)  (3.58)  82.65 

Particulars
As at 

1 April 
2023

 Expenditure 
incurred during 

the year

Capitalised 
during the 

year

Written 
off

Closing as at 
31 March 2024

Capital work-in-progress  23.73  251.86  (59.28)  -    216.31 

A.  Ageing of Capital work-in-progress

Particulars
Amounts in capital work-in-progress for

Less than 
one year

1 – 2 years 2 – 3 years More than 
3 years

Total

As at 31 March 2025: 

(i) Projects in progress  21.50  57.64  3.39  -    82.53 
(ii) Projects temporarily suspended  -    0.12  -    -    0.12 
Total  21.50  57.76  3.39  -    82.65 

B. There are no projects under capital work-in-progress has exceeded its cost compared to its original 
plan as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 and there are no projects under capital work-in-
progress that whose completion  is overdue as of 31 March 2025 and  31 March 2024 

2(c)  Right-of-use assets

Particulars Land Buildings  Plant and 
Machinery 

 Total 

Balance as at 01 April 1,2023  93.82  17.63  1.15  112.60 

Additions  4.04  0.15  -    4.19 

Amortisation  (2.00)  (4.61)  (1.07)  (7.68)

Disposals  -    (0.16)  (0.16)

As at 31 March 2024: 

(i) Projects in progress  208.49  7.51  0.31  -    216.31 
(ii) Projects temporarily suspended  -    -    -    -    -   
Total  208.49  7.51  0.31  -    216.31 

Balance as at 31 March, 2024  95.86  13.01  0.08  108.95 

Additions  24.45  -    402.06  426.51 

Amortisation  (2.76)  (4.63)  (4.13)  (11.52)

Disposals  -    -    (0.09)  (0.09)
Balance as at 31 March, 2025  117.55  8.38  397.92  523.85 
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2(c)  Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Movement of Lease Liability

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Opening Balance  14.92  20.30 

Lease Liabilities addition during the year  30.33  0.15 

Lease Liabilities deletion during the year  (0.11)  (0.20)

Interest  1.51  1.26 

Repayment of Lease Liability  (27.35)  (6.59)
Closing Balance  19.30  14.92 

(i)  Variable lease payments     

 The Company did not enter into lease contracts that contain variable lease options.  

(ii)  Extension of termination options     

Extension and termination options are included in a number of property, plant and equipment leases 
across the Company. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets 
used in the Company's operations. The majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable 
only by the Company and not by the respective lessor.     

Right-of-use assets include unamortised portion of  Rs. 43.70(31 March 2024: Rs.44.64 ) pertaining to 
the amount paid for leasehold land measuring 266 acres located at Motipur, Bihar. The Land was leased 
to the Company by Bihar State Sugar Corporation Limited (BSSCL) in 2011-2012. BSSCL’s title to the land 
was challenged by shareholders of the sugar factory (erstwhile owners of the land) and consequently 
the lease to the Company was also questioned as illegal. The petition filed by the shareholders of Sugar 
Factory is pending before the Supreme Court of India. In the meanwhile, the Company had filed an 
arbitration petition before High Court of Patna against BSSCL for recovery of the Company's losses as a 
result of the aforesaid proceedings. High Court of Patna appointed a sole arbitrator, who passed an order 
granting an award of Rs. 38.27 in favour of the Company. The Company has filed an execution petition 
before High Court of Patna to give effect to the award and the matter is still pending with the High 
Court. The lease agreement is yet to be registered in the name of the Company.    
 

Lease liabilities

Non-current  12.96  10.14 

Current  6.34  4.78 
Total  19.30  14.92 

Expense relating to short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets (shown as ""Godown Rent"" and ""Rent including lease 
rentals"" in Note 20 -Other expenses)

 34.54  46.19 
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During the year, the company entered into lease agreements for three sugar manufacturing units located 
in Gujarat. The details of these agreements are as follows :

Particulars Valsad  Kodinar Talala Total

Lessor

 Valsad 
Sahakari Khand 
Udyog Mandli 

Ltd 

Shree Bileshwar 
Khand Udyog 

Khedut  Sahakari 
Mandali Ltd, Kodinar

 Shree Talala 
Sahakari Khand 
Udyog Mandali 

Ltd 

 

Tenure (in Years)  40  30  30 

ROU Recognised (in Rs.Crores)  314 .21  78.17  23.55  415.93 

2(d)  Investment Property

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Carrying Amounts of:

Land & Building  14.01  14.44 

Fair value of the Company’s Investment properties    
The following table gives details of the fair value of the Company’s Investment properties as at March 
31, 2025

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Land & Building#  19.76  19.76 

#Portion of building which was given on rent to which IND AS 40 applies
Refer Note 2(a)(ii)     

2(c)  Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Total  14.01  14.44 

Gross Carrying Amount

Opening Balance  15.01  -   

Reclassified from Property, Plant and Equipment (Refer note 
2(a)(ii))

 -    15.01 

Disposals

Closing Balance  15.01  15.01 

Accumulated Depreciation

Opening Balance  0.57  -   

Reclassified from Property, Plant and Equipment (Refer note 
2(a)(ii))  -    0.18 

Depreciation for the year  0.43  0.39 

Closing Balance  1.00  0.57 
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a. The fair value of the Company’s Investment properties as at March 31, 2024 have been arrived 
at on the basis of a valuation carried out by M/s. A One Valuer, independent valuers not related 
to the Company.Fair value was derived using the market comparable approach based on recent 
market/government guideline prices without any significant adjustments being made to the 
market observable data. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of 
the properties is their current use.      

b. During the year ended 31 March 2025, Rs. 1.46 Crore (Previous year : Rs.1 Crore) was recognised in 
statement of Profit and loss account in relation to rental income from investment property (Refer 
note 14) 

3 Intangible assets

Particulars Computer  software  Total 
Year ended 31 March 2024:
GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT

As at 1 April 2023  11.31  11.31 
Additions  0.02  0.02 
Disposals  -    -   
Balance as at 31 March 2024  11.33  11.33 
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION 

As at 1 April 2023  10.45  10.45 
Amortisation charge for the year  0.20  0.20 
Balance as at 31 March 2024  10.65  10.65 
NET CARRYING AMOUNT

As at 31 March 2024  0.68  0.68
Year ended 31 March 2025:
GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT

As at 1 April 2024  11.33  11.33 
Additions  -    -   
Disposals  -   
Balance as at 31 March 2025  11.33  11.33 
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION 

As at 1 April 2024  10.65  10.65 
Amortisation charge for the year  0.09  0.09 
Balance as at 31 March 2025  10.74  10.74 
NET CARRYING AMOUNT
As at 31 March 2025  0.59  0.59 

Refer Note 30 for additional Disclosures

2(d)  Investment Property ( Continued)
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4. Financial Assets
4(a) Investments
4(a) (i) Non-Current Investments

Investments measured at FVTOCI

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Investments in equity instruments (fully paid-up)
Quoted
58,440 (31 March 2024: 58,440) equity shares of BSE 
Limited  32.02  14.70 

Sub - Total (A)  32.02  14.70 

Unquoted

2,66,75,000 (31 March 2024: 2,66,75,000) equity shares of 
Indian Commodity Exchange Limited  21.34  21.34 

1,00,000 (31 March 2024: 1,00,000) equity shares of 
Wisekey India Private Limited  0.01  0.01 

Sub - Total (B)  21.35  21.35 

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Investments in government securities
Unquoted   

119 (31 March 2024 :109) units of National Savings 
Certificate - VIII Issue (Face value: Rs.10,000)  0.12  0.11 

51 (31 March 2024:51) units of National Savings 
Certificate - VIII Issue (Face value: Rs.5,000)  0.03  0.03 

15 (31 March 2024 : 15) units of National Savings 
Certificate - VIII Issue (Face value: Rs.1,000)*  0.00  0.00 

2 (31 March 2024: 2) units of National Savings Certificate - 
VIII Issue (Face value: Rs.500)*  0.00  0.00 

Sub - Total (D)  0.15  0.14 

Investments in Debt Instruments
Quoted
75,500 (31 March 2024: 75,500) units of IRFC Tax Free 
Bonds - 2030 - 7.28%  8.66  8.59 

2,85,698 (31 March 2024: 2,85,698) units of NHAI Tax Free 
Bonds - 2031 - 7.35%  30.73  30.60 

1,40,139 (31 March 2024: 1,40,139) units of HUDCO Tax 
Free Bonds- 2031 - 7.39%  15.44  15.84 

Sub - Total (C)  54.83  55.03 

*Amounts are less than lakhs

Investments carried at Amortised Cost
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4(a) (i) Non-Current Investments (Continued)
Investments carried at Amortised Cost (Continued)

Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025  
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Investments in trust securities
Unquoted
13,829 (31 March 2024: Nil) Units of Alternative 
Investment Funds  * (Face value: Rs.1,00,000)  138.29  -   

Sub - Total (E)  138.29  -   
Investments in Debt Instruments 
Quoted
500 (31 March 2024 :500) units of Bank of Baroda  
Perpetual Bond - 8.50%  50.00  50.00 

Nil (31 March 2024 :560) units of Bank of Baroda 
Perpetual Bond - 8.70%  -    56.82 

250 (31 March 2024 :250) units of Bank of Baroda 
Perpetual Bond - 8.25%  25.16  25.16 

500 (31 March 2024 :500) units of Bank of Baroda 
Perpetual Bond - 8.15%  50.00  50.00 

25 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Bank of Maharashtra 
Perpetual Bond - 8.74%  25.31  -   

25 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Bank of India Perpetual Bond 
- 8.57%  25.27  -   

550 (31 March 2024 :550) units of Canara Bank Perpetual 
Bond - 8.5%  55.34  55.34 

25 (31 March 2024 :Nil)  units of Canara Bank Perpetual Bond 
- 8.40%  25.33  -   

75 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Cholamandalam 
Investment and Finance Co. Ltd-9.5%  75.11  -   

75 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Cholamandalam 
Investment and Finance Co. Ltd-9.5%  75.00  -   

25 (31 March 2024:25) units of Punjab National Bank 
Perpetual Bond - 8.40%  24.97  24.97 

150 (31 March 2024:150) units of Punjab National Bank Per-
petual Bond - 8.59%  150.38  150.38 

80 (31 March 2024 :80) units of State Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 7.72%  80.18  80.18 

100 (31 March 2024:100) units of State Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 7.55%  10.02  10.02 

50 (31 March 2024 :Nil)  units of State Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 7.74%  5.00  -   

* Pending for allotment as on 31st March 2025 and units were alloted on April 04, 2025
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4(a) (i) Non-Current Investments (Continued)
Investments carried at Amortised Cost (Continued)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

50 (31 March 2024 :Nil)  units of State Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 7.73%  4.99  -   

100 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Tata International Ltd, - 
9.10%  10.08  -   

100 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Tata Industries Ltd 
Non - Convertible Debentures  12.25  -   

10,000(31 March 2024 :Nil) Units of Telangana State 
Industrial Infrastructure Corporation-9.35%  102.31  -   

60 (31 March 2024:60 ) units of Union Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 8.40%  59.94  59.94 

25 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Union Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 8.40%  25.18  -   

40 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Union Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 8.40%  40.25  -   

5 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Union Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 8.40%  5.04  -   

1 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Union Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 8.64%  1.00  -   

10 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Union Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 8.73%  10.08  -   

Sub - Total (F)  948.19  562.81 

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Investments in equity instruments (fully paid-up) of 
subsidiary companies
Unquoted 
10,00,000 (31 March 2024: 10,00,000) equity shares of IPL 
Sugars and Bio Fuels Ltd  
(Erstwhile IPL Sugars & Allied Industries Ltd)

 1.00  1.00 

Investments in equity instruments (fully paid-up) of Jointly 
Controlled Entity (JCE)

1,85,05,000 (31 March 2024: 60,05,000) equity shares of Vizag 
Multi Purpose Terminal Private Limited

 18.51  6.01 

Sub - Total (G)  19.51  7.01 

Investments measured at cost
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4(a) (ii) Current investments

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Investments measured at FVTPL
Investments in Debt Instruments
Unquoted

Investments in mutual funds  794.99  -   
Total current investments  794.99  -   

Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025  
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated 

Aggregate amount of quoted investments  
(including quoted investments in  Amman stock exchange)  1,684.73  1,282.23 

Aggregate market value of quoted investments  
(including quoted investments in Amman stock exchange)  15,394.04  9,546.44 

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments  179.30  28.50 

Aggregate amount of impairment in the value of 
investments  -    -   

Fair value of Jordan Phosphate Mines Company PLC

Name of entity Place of 
business/ 
Country of 

incorporation

% of 
own-
ership 

interest  

As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Fair value/ 
Recoverable 

value# 

Carrying 
amount

Fair value/ 
Recoverable 

value #

Carrying 
amount

Jordan Phosphate 
Mines Company 
PLC

Jordan 27.38% 14,359.00 
 

649.69  8,913.90 
 

649.69

# Basis the quoted value in Amman stock exchange.

4(a) (i) Non-Current Investments (Continued)
Investments measured at cost (Continued)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Investment in equity instruments (fully paid-up) of an Associ-
ate Company
(Quoted in Amman stock exchange)
6,77,65,500 (31 March 2024: 6,77,65,500 equity shares of 
Jordan Phosphate Mines Company PLC)  649.69  649.69 

Sub - Total (H)  649.69  649.69 

Total non-current investments (A+B+C+D+E+F+G+H)  1,864.03  1,310.73 
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Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025  
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

4(b) Trade Receivables(Unsecured, Considered good unless otherwise stated)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Trade receivables  
(including subsidy receivables Rs.2,805.49 (March 31, 2024: 
Rs.2,266.86)

 4,788.10  3,995.86 

Less: Allowance for credit loss 
(including provision on subsidy receivables Rs.27.67 (March 
31, 2024: Rs. 50.42)

 (280.99)  (326.10)

Total Trade receivables  4,507.11  3,669.76 

Non-current  -    -   

Current  4,507.11  3,669.76 

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Trade receivables considered good - Unsecured  4,788.10  3,995.86 

Trade receivables which have significant increase in credit risk  -    -   

Trade receivables - credit impaired  -    -   

Sub Total  4,788.10  3,995.86 

Allowance for credit loss  (280.99)  (326.10)
Net trade receivables  4,507.11  3,669.76 

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

The movement in allowances for Expected credit loss is as 
follows:

Opening balance  326.10  282.28 

Addition  -    43.82 

Reversal of Provision  (22.19)  -   

Set off against write off of Receivables  (22.92) -

Closing Balance  280.99  326.10 

Notes:        

i)  The Company's trade receivables do not carry a significant financing element. In accordance 
with Ind AS 109, the Company uses the expected credit loss (“ECL”) model for measurement 
and recognition of impairment loss on its trade receivables. For this purpose, the Company uses 
a simplified approach to compute the expected credit loss amount for trade receivables. This 
approach takes into account external and internal credit risk factors and historical data of credit 
losses from various customers adjusted for forward looking estimates.     
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Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025  
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

  
ii  There are no trade or other receivable which are either due from directors or other officers of the 

Company either severally or jointly with any other person nor any trade or other receivable are 
due from firms or private companies respectively in which any director is a partner, a director or a 
member. 

iii  Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 15 to 90 days.
iv  Refer note 9 (a)(ii) for information on trade receivables pledged as security by the Company. 
v  Refer note 29 (i) Credit risk for information on Expected Credit Loss
vi  Refer note 25 for related party disclosures

Particulars Unbilled Not due

Outstanding for following periods from due 
date of payment Total

Less than  
6 Months

6 months 
–  1 year  1-2 years  2-3 years More than  

3 years

As at 31 March 2025
Undisputed trade 
receivables
– considered good  1,190.01  1,352.77  1,063.05  309.86  441.16  65.62  201.70  4,624.17 
 – which have significant 
increase in credit risk  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 – credit impaired  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
Disputed trade receivables

 – considered good  -    -    -    1.16  2.86  8.39  151.52  163.93 
 – which have significant 
increase in credit risk  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 – credit impaired  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total  1,190.01  1,352.77  1,063.05  311.02  444.02  74.01  353.22  4,788.10 

Less: Allowance for  Expected Credit Loss  (280.99)
Total Trade receivables  4,507.11 

Particulars Unbilled Not due

Outstanding for following periods from due 
date of payment Total

Less than  
6 Months

6 months 
–  1 year  1-2 years  2-3 years More than  

3 years

As at 31 March 2024
Undisputed trade 
receivables
– considered good  1,325.30  1,150.83  469.98  581.54  125.91  72.96  133.03  3,859.55 
– which have significant 
increase in credit risk  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

– credit impaired  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
Disputed trade receivables  -   

– considered good  -    -    0.21  -  7.98  9.37  118.75  136.31 
– which have significant 
increase in credit risk  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

– credit impaired  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total  1,325.30  1,150.83  470.19  581.54  133.89  82.33  251.78  3,995.86 

Less: Allowance for Expected Credit Loss  (326.10)
Total Trade receivables  3,669.76 

4(b) Trade Receivables(Unsecured, Considered good unless otherwise stated) (Continued)
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Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025  
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

4(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Bank balances in current accounts*  314.07  593.83 

Bank balances in EEFC accounts  2.86  16.32 

Bank deposits with original maturity of less than three 
months  50.00  -   

Cash on hand  0.22  0.22 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents  367.15  610.37 

*Bank balances in current accounts includes Rs.3.67 (31 March 2024: Rs. 4.75) held in a separate bank 
account for unspent ongoing CSR Projects.

4(d) Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Bank balances in dividend accounts(Refer Note 9c)  1.73  1.35 

Bank deposits with original maturity of more than 3 months 
and less than 12 months  50.00  -   

Molasses storage fund deposit account (Refer note 8(b))  2.15  1.89 

Total Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents  53.88  3.24 

4(e) Loans

Particulars As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
Current Non-current Current Non-current

Unsecured and considered good      

Loans to wholly owned subsidiary 
(net of provisions)#  -    23.63  -    23.63

Loans to employees  3.19 -  4.26  -   

Loans to Others  13.00  -    -   -

Total Loans 16.19 23.63 4.26  23.63 

#Refer Note 25 for Related Party Disclosure

Deposits earmarked against Molasses Storage Facility Reserve 
Fund  2.15  1.89 

Deposits under lien with Pollution Control Boards  0.32  0.25 

Other lien marked deposits  17.03  15.43 
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Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated 

4(e) Loans (Continued)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Loans considered good - Unsecured  52.18  51.42 

Allowance for credit loss  (28.54)  (23.53)

Net loans  39.82  27.89 

The movement in allowances for Expected credit loss is as follows:

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Opening balance 23.53  19.63

Addition 5.01 3.90

Closing Balance 28.54 23.53

Type of Borrower

As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
Amount of 
loan or ad-
vance in the 

nature of loan 
outstanding

% of total 
loans and 

advances in 
the nature of 

loans

Amount of 
loan or ad-
vance in the 

nature of loan 
outstanding

% of total 
loans and 

advances in 
the nature of 

loans

Loan to Related parties (Wholly 
owned subsidiary) 52.18 100.00% 51.42 100.00%

4(f) Other financial assets
 (Unsecured, Considered good, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
Current Non-current Current Non-current

Security deposits  1.40  9.24  8.38  2.31 

Bank deposits with original maturity 
of more than twelve months  105.74  19.88  -    28.00 

Advances to employees  0.13  -    0.19  -   

Interest accrued on deposits  12.58  -    2.13  -   

Interest accrued on bonds and 
Government securities  36.14  -  22.71  -   

Claims receivable*  19.63  65.56  81.83  -   
Total Other financial assets  175.62  94.68  115.24  30.31 

* Claims receivable includes amount receivable of Rs.65.56 crores (net) from a vendor supplying to the 
Company. During the Financial year 2022-23, the Company has filed an Arbitration claim against the 
vendor for failure of supply of urea as per contractual terms.Rs.84.59 crores has been accounted as 
claims receivable and adjusted with an amount of Rs. 19.03 crores payable to vendor which was due to 
invocation of Bank guarantee issued by the vendor.
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Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025  
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

5   Deferred tax assets

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Deferred tax assets:

Provision for compensated absences  2.89  2.32 

Provision for doubtful assets  192.67  202.78 

Disallowances under Section 40(a)(i), 43B of the Income Tax 
Act, 1961  1.92  2.39 

Others (including lease liabilities )  4.86  3.76 

Total of Deferred tax assets  202.34  211.25 

Movement in deferred tax  (Liabilities) / Assets

Particulars
Opening 
balance

Credited / 
(Charged) in 
profit or loss

Credited in 
Other 

Comprehen-
sive Income

Closing 
balance

For the year 2024-25
Deferred tax (liabilities) / asset in 
relation to:

Provision for compensated absences  2.32  0.57  -    2.89 

Provision for doubtful assets  202.78  (10.11)  -    192.67 

Disallowances under Section 40(a)(i), 
43B of the Income Tax Act, 1961  2.39  (1.67)  1.20  1.92 

Others (including lease liabilities)  3.76  1.10 -  4.86 

Right of Use Assets  (27.42)  (0.26) -    (27.68)

Property, plant and equipment  (46.16)  (14.42) -  (60.58)

Investments in Debt and equity 
instruments  2.75  -    (5.65)  (2.90)

Net Deferred Tax (Liabilities) / Assets  140.42  (24.79)  (4.45)  111.18 

Deferred tax liabilities:

On difference between book balance and tax balance of PPE  60.58  46.16 

On reserve for debt and equity instruments through OCI  2.90  (2.75)

Right of Use Assets  27.68  27.42 

Total of Deferred Tax Liabilities  91.16  70.83 

Deferred tax assets (net)  111.18  140.42 
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Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025  
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

5   Deferred tax assets  (Continued)
Movement in deferred tax  (Liabilities) / Assets (Continued)

Particulars
Opening 
balance

Credited / 
(Charged) in 
profit or loss

Credited in 
Other 

Comprehen-
sive Income

Closing 
balance

For the year 2023-24
Deferred tax (liabilities) / asset in 
relation to:

Provision for compensated absences  2.12  0.20  -    2.32 

Provision for doubtful assets  198.05  4.73  -    202.78 

Disallowances under Section 40(a)(i), 
43B of the Income Tax Act, 1961  1.70  (0.72)  1.41  2.39 

Others (including lease liabilities)  0.77  2.99  -    3.76 

Right of Use Assets  -    (27.42)  -    (27.42)

Property, plant and equipment  (42.04)  (4.12)  -    (46.16)

Investments in Debt and equity 
instruments  (15.90)  14.41  4.24  2.75 

Net Deferred tax  (Liabilities) / Assets  144.70  (9.93)  5.65  140.42 

6.    Other assets
       (Unsecured, Considered good, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
Current Non-current Current Non-current

Capital advances  -   1.46    -    0.15 

Advance to suppliers  98.52  77.32  245.99  -   

Balances with statutory authorities ;

- Goods and service tax 
  (net of provision)  531.26  1,556.12  1,800.84  -   

- Others  0.18 -  0.52  -   

Prepaid expenses  2.45 -  2.13  -   

Total  632.41  1,634.90  2,049.48  0.15 
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All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

7 Inventories
 (At lower of cost and Net Realisable value)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Raw materials  66.53  24.90 

Packing Materials  24.70  19.94 

Work-in-progress  31.43  27.28 

Finished goods (other than those acquired for trading)  968.92  890.28 

Stock-in-trade (acquired for trading) * #  3,582.49  2,814.22 

Stores and spares  15.77  15.17 

Total Inventories  4,689.84  3,791.79 

* Includes Goods in transit 1,223.53  659.76 

# A possible reasonable change in the estimates is not expected to have a significant impact on the 
amounts recognised as the same would be recovered from the agent who is managing the inventory.
The cost of inventories recognised an expense in 'Changes in inventories of work-in-progress, stock-in-
trade and finished goods' includes Rs.0.37 Crores  (31 March 2024:Rs 42.56 crores) in respect of write 
down of inventories to net realisable value.
The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year was Rs. 17,418.29 Crores (31 March 24: 
Rs. 18,041.57 Crores)    
Refer Note 9(a)(ii) for details of inventory pledged as security 
8(a) Equity share capital

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Authorised 

6,12,00,000 (31 March 2024: 6,12,00,000) equity shares of 
Rs 10/- each  61.20  61.20 

Issued, subscribed and paid-up

2,85,97,200 (31 March 2024: 2,85,97,200) equity shares of 
Rs 10/- each, fully paid up  28.60  28.60 

Total Equity share capital  28.60  28.60 
(i)  Movement in equity share capital

Particulars As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
No. of shares Amount No. of shares  Amount 

Equity Shares

At the commencement of the year  2,85,97,200  28.60  2,85,97,200  28.60 

Add: Shares issued during the year  -    -    -    -   

At the end of the year  2,85,97,200  28.60  2,85,97,200  28.60 
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8(a) Equity share capital (Continued)

(ii) Terms and rights attached to equity shares  

The Company has one class of equity shares having a face value of Rs. 10 each. Each shareholder is 
eligible for one vote per share held. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the 
approval of the Shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting, except in the case of interim 
dividend. Every holder of equity shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, 
and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote.

(iii)  Particulars of shareholders holding more than 5% of equity shares 

Particulars
As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024

No. of shares % of equity 
shares No. of shares   % of equity 

shares 

Equity shares of Rs 10/- each fully 
paid up, held by:
Indian Farmers Fertilisers 
Cooperative Limited  97,20,000 33.99  97,20,000  33.99 

Gujarat State Co-operative Marketing 
Federation Limited  29,88,000 10.45  29,88,000  10.45 

Gujarat State Fertilisers and 
Chemicals Limited  22,50,000 7.87  22,50,000  7.87 

Andhra Pradesh State Cooperative 
Marketing Federation Limited  17,82,000 6.23  17,82,000  6.23 

Madras Fertilisers Limited  15,84,000 5.54  15,84,000  5.54 

(iv)  The Company has no promoters based on the annual return filed with Registrar of Companies. 
Consequently, this disclosure relating to details of shareholding of promoters is not applicable.

(v)   The Company has not undertaken any buy back of shares during the period of five years immediately 
preceding the reporting date.

8(b) Other Equity

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Capital reserve  102.32  98.14 

General reserve  415.57  415.57 

Retained earnings  6,885.81  5,573.01 

Molasses Storage Facility Reserve Fund  2.15  1.89 

Reserve for debt instruments fair value  through OCI  49.62  49.03 

Reserve for equity instruments fair value through OCI  30.78  17.37 

Total Other Equity  7,486.25  6,155.01 

* Includes Goods in transit #REF!  659.76 
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8(b) Other Equity (Continued)

8(b) (i) Capital reserve

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Opening balance  98.14  98.14 

Movements on acquistion of Navsari Unit(Refer Note 33)  4.18  -   

Closing balance  102.32  98.14 

Represents reserve created on account of business combination and merger which is not available for 
distribution as dividend.

8(b) (ii) General reserve

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Opening balance  415.57  415.57 

Movements   -    -   

Closing balance  415.57  415.57 

General reserve is a free reserve arising from transfers from retained earnings made in the previous 
years.  The balance is available for distribution to the members as dividend or for paying up unissued 
shares to be issued to the members of the Company as fully paid bonus shares.

8(b) (iii) Retained earnings

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Opening balance  5,573.01  4,820.06 

Profit attributable to owners of the Company  1,331.15  777.33 

Other comprehensive income arising from remeasure-
ment of defined benefit obligation, net of tax  3.36  (4.20)

Final dividend  (21.45)  (20.02)

Others - Transferred to Molasses Storage Facility Reserve 
Fund  (0.26)  (0.16)

Closing balance  6,885.81  5,573.01 

Company's share of cumulative earnings since its formation minus the dividends/capitalisation and 
earnings transferred to  general reserve.
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8(b) Other Equity (Continued)

8(b) (iv) Molasses Storage Facility Reserve Fund

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Opening Balance  1.89  1.73 

Transferred  from Retained Earnings  0.26  0.16 

Closing Balance  2.15  1.89 

Represents amount transferred from Retained earnings for utilization towards maintenance of adequate 
storage facilities in accordance with the order issued by the Controller of Uttar Pradesh State Sugar 
Corporation at the stipulated rate. The Company has earmarked bank deposits corresponding to this 
reserve.

8(b) (v) Reserve for debt instruments through OCI

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Opening balance  49.03  48.92 

Changes in fair value of debt instruments  (0.20)  (3.32)

Deferred tax on the above  0.79  3.43 

Closing balance  49.62  49.03 

8(b)  (vi) Reserve for equity instruments through OCI

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Opening balance  17.37  2.65 

Changes in fair value of equity instruments  17.52  13.91 

Tax on the above  (4.11)  0.81 

Closing balance  30.78  17.37 

The Company has elected to recognise changes in the fair value of certain investments in equity/debt 
securities in other comprehensive income.   

These changes are accumulated within reserve for equity/debt investments through OCI within equity.
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9.         Financial liabilities
9(a)      Borrowings
9(a)(i)  Non-current borrowings

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Secured, at amortised cost

From a bank

Term Loan  133.66  196.50 

Total non-current borrowings  133.66  196.50 

Less: Current maturities of long-term debt [included in 
Current borrowings]  (61.86)  (71.51)

Non - current borrowings  71.80  124.99 

Nature of security and terms of repayment for non-current borrowings:  

Term loan from HDFC Bank *  
Maturity date June 2025 
Terms of Repayment 19 quaterly installments 
Installment amount INR 2.5 (FY 2023 -24 : INR 2.5) 
Rate of Interest 9.65% per annum (FY 2023 -24 : 9.40% per annum) 
Security Exclusive charge on the Fixed and floating asset  of the  
 distillery and CNG plant 

Term loan from HDFC Bank *  
Maturity date June 2025 
Terms of Repayment 16 quaterly installments 
installment amount INR 2.54 (FY 2023 -24 : INR 2.54) 
Rate of Interest 9.40 % per annum (FY 2023 -24 : 9.26% per annum) 
Security Exclusive charge on the Fixed and floating asset of the  
 distillery and CNG plant 
Term loan from HDFC Bank *    
Maturity date June 2025   
Terms of Repayment 16 quaterly installments   
installment amount INR 0.28 (FY 2023 -24 : INR 0.28)    
Rate of Interest 9.40 % per annum (FY 2023 -24 : 9.36% per annum)  
Security Exclusive charge on the Fixed and floating asset of the  
 distillery and CNG plant   
Term loan from Axis Bank *    
Maturity date September 2027   
Terms of Repayment 17 quaterly installments   
installment amount INR 8.69  (FY 2023 -24 : INR 7.30)   
Rate of Interest 12M  MCLR (FY 2023 -24 : 12M  MCLR)   
Security Exclusive charge on the Fixed asset (movable / 
 immovable)   of the Greenfield Distillery project at    
 Jaring,  Nandol,District Kalahandi, Odisha.  
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Term loan from Kotak Mahindra Bank*    
Maturity date December 2027   
Terms of Repayment 19 quaterly installments   
installment amount INR 5.26  (FY 2023 -24 : INR 5.26)   
Rate of Interest Repo + 1.85% P.A (FY 2023 -24 : Repo + 1.85% P.A)  
Security Mortgage on exclusive basis over land (around 116.74
  acres)  and building (incl. movable fixed assets) located   
 at Village Haripur and Village Korian, of  District    
 Dhenkanal, Odisha in the name of the Company.  
 
* The Company has entered into interest rate swap agreement (derivative instrument) with HDFC bank 
on term loans obtained from HDFC bank and this derivative instrument is valid till  26-06-2025

Refer note 2(a) for securities mentioned above

9 (a) (ii)  Current borrowings

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Unsecured, at amortised cost

From banks

Other working capital loans  -    350.00

Secured, at amortised cost

From banks

Buyers' credit  5,130.13  4,028.18 

Current maturities of long-term debt  61.86  71.51 

Current borrowings (as per balance sheet) 5,191.99 4,449.69

Nature of security and terms of repayment for current borrowings:

(a)  Secured buyers' credit from consortium of banks are secured against stock and trade receivables 
of the Company and are repayable generally within 180 days of availment. The facilities availed 
carry interest rates based upon SOFR plus agreed basis points with the bankers.

9(a)(i)  Non-current borrowings (Continued)
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9 (a) (ii)  Current borrowings  (Continued)
Net Debt Reconciliation

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Cash and cash equivalents  367.15  610.37 

Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents  53.88  3.24 

Current Borrowings  (5,130.13) (4,378.18)

Non-current borrowings including current maturities  (133.66)  (196.50)

Net Debt  (4,842.76) (3,961.07)

Particulars
Liabilities from financing activities

TotalNon -Current
borrowings

Current
borrowings

Net Debt as at April 1, 2023  (171.02)  (3,792.76)  (3,963.78)

Cash Flows  (25.73) (487.42) (513.15)

Foreign Exchange adjustments -  (78.06)  (78.06)

Interest expense  (9.81)  (313.90)  (323.71)

Interest paid  10.06  293.95  304.01 

Net Debt as at March 31, 2024  (196.50) (4,378.18) (4,574.68)

Cash Flows  62.51 (627.310 (564.80)

Foreign Exchange adjustments -  (140.52)  (140.52)

Interest expense  (7.07)  (299.75)  (306.82)

Interest paid  7.40  315.63  323.03 

Net Debt as at March 31, 2025  (133.66)  (5,130.13)  (5,263.79)

9(b)  Trade payables

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Trade payables

- total outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises#  4.71  4.83 

- total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and 
small enterprises *  3,742.41  2,047.04 

Total Trade payables  3,747.12  2,051.87 

* Of the above trade payables, the Company has issued letter of credits aggregating to Rs. 3,283.64            
(31 March 2024: Rs.1,634.90 ). Refer note 25 for related party disclosures  
# Determined based on the information available with the Company and refer note 26 for MSME 
disclosures   
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9(b)  Trade payables (Continued)

Particulars Unbilled
Outstanding for following periods from the due date

TotalLess than 6 
months

6 months - 
1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 

3 years

As at 31 March 2025

Undisputed trade payables

Micro and small enterprises  -   4.71 -  -  -  -   4.71 

Others  -   3,685.44  15.83  20.49  1.44  19.21  3,742.41 

Disputed trade payables

Micro and small enterprises  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Others  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Total  -   3,690.15  15.83  20.49  1.44  19.21  3,747.12 

9(c)  Other financial liabilities

Particulars As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
Current Non-current Current  Non-current 

Cane bills payable to banks  -    -    48.62  -   

Interest accrued but not due  46.03  -    63.08  -   

Unpaid dividends  1.73  -    1.35  -   

Payables on purchase of Property, 
plant and equipment*  125.13  28.10  12.56  28.10 

Customer discounts  -    5.02  7.56  -   

Employee benefits payable  14.87  5.44  13.60  -   

Trade / security deposits received  2.50  89.89  88.39  86.25 

Total Other financial liabilities  190.26  128.45  235.16  114.35 

*Includes Rs.107.31 Crores towards liability taken over against three newly acquired sugars units    
  

As at 31 March 2024

Undisputed trade payables

Micro and small enterprises  -   4.83  -  -  -  -  4.83 

Others  -   1,912.30  19.46  40.36  7.46  67.46  2,047.04 

Disputed trade payables

Micro and small enterprises  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Others  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Total  -   1,917.13  19.46  40.36  7.46  67.46  2,051.87 
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10  Provisions

Particulars As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
Current Non-current Current  Non-current 

Provisions for Employee Benefits :

- Gratuity  7.67  -    9.50  -   

- Compensated absences & Medical 
Leave  9.58  1.86  7.54  1.68 

-Provident fund (Refer Note 10B)  - -  1.32  -   

Provisions for indirect tax litigations  
(Refer note 24)  4.77 -  4.77  -   

Total Provisions  22.02  1.86  23.13  1.68 
A Provisions for Gratuity  
The actuary has assessed the calculations of the Interest Rate Guarantees based on the guidance note 
issued by the Institute of Actuaries of India. The disclosures required under Ind AS 19 are provided 
below   
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet and the movements in the net defined benefit obligation 
over the year are as follows

Disclosure of Post employment benefits: Gratuity  (Funded)
 31 March 2025  31 March 2024

Interest cost                                                                                                          3.67  3.40 

Current service cost  2.82  2.41 

Expected return on plan assets  (2.98)  (2.90)

Total expense recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss  3.51  2.91 

Remeasurements: 

Actuarial losses/ (gains)

- Demographic assumption changes in DBO

- Financial assumption changes in DBO  2.86  0.68 

- Experience changes on DBO  (7.47)  4.07 

Rate on Plan assets less than discount rate  0.12  0.09 

Total expense recognised in the Other Comprehensive Income  (4.49)  4.84 

Disclosure of Post employment benefits: Gratuity  (Funded)
 31 March 2025  31 March 2024

Net defined benefit liability recognised in the balance sheet:

Present value of Defined benefit obligation (DBO) 48.09 51.28

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year 40.42 41.78
Net defined benefit liability recognised in the balance sheet (7.67) (9.50)



91

Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025  
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

10  Provisions (Continued)

Disclosure of Post employment benefits: Gratuity  (Funded)
 31 March 2025  31 March 2024

Changes in the Defined Benefit Obligation (DBO) during the 
year: 

Present value of DBO at the beginning of year  51.28  45.61 

Interest cost  3.67  3.40 

Current service cost  2.82  2.41 

Actuarial (gains) / losses                                                                                      (4.61)  4.75 

Liabilities Transferred In /Acquisistions  -    -   

Employees contribution  -    -   

Benefits paid                                                                                                        (5.07)  (4.90)

Liabilities assumed / (settled)  -    -   

Present value of DBO at the end of year             48.09  51.28 

Changes in the fair value of assets during the year:                         

Plan assets at beginning of  year                                               41.78  38.83 

Expected return on plan assets                                                                                2.98  2.90 

Remeasurements due to actual return on plan assets less 
interest on plan assets -  -   

Actual Company contributions                                                                                                          0.85  5.04 

Employee contributions -  -   

Benefits paid                                                                                                            (5.07)  (4.90)

Assets acquired / (settled) -  -   

Actuarial gain / (loss)  (0.12)  (0.09)

Plan assets as at end of year                                                           40.42  41.78 

Current portion  7.67  9.50 

Non-current portion -  -   
 7.67  9.50 

Actuarial assumptions:

Discount Rate 7.20% 7.20%

Expected rate of salary Increase 5.00% 5.00%

Attrition Rate 5.00% 5.00%

Mortality Indian Assured  
Lives Mortality 

(2012-14) 
Ultimate

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2012-14) 
Ultimate
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10  Provisions (Continued)

Experience adjustments 2024-25 2023-24

Present value of DBO  48.09  51.28 

Fair value of plan assets  40.42  41.78 

Funded status [Surplus / (Deficit)]  (7.67)  (9.50)

Experience gain / (loss) adjustments on plan liabilities  4.61  4.75 

Experience gain / (loss) adjustments on plan assets -  -   

Provisions for Employee Benefits

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is: 

Change in assumption 
(Gratuity)

Impact on Defined Benefit Obligation
Increase in assumption Decrease in assumption

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

Discount rate 1% 1%  (2.46)  (2.50)  2.76  2.80 

Salary growth 1% 1%  2.51  2.58  (2.31)  (2.38)
 

The above sensitivity analysis are based on a change in assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. 
When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions 
the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit 
credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the defined 
benefit liability recognized in the balance sheet.   

The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change 
compared to the prior period.    

Defined benefit liability and employer contributions   

The Company has agreed that it will aim to eliminate the deficit in defined benefit gratuity plan on 
an yearly basis. Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis and the current agreed contribution 
rate is 12% of the basic salaries in India. The Company considers that the contribution rates set at 
the last valuation date are sufficient to eliminate the deficit over the agreed period and that regular 
contributions, which are based on service costs, will not increase significantly.   

Expected contributions to post-employment benefit plans for the year ending 31 March 2026 are INR 
6.63 Crores

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation ranging upto 9 years (31 March 2024: 
9 years) for executive and non-executive employees respectively. The expected maturity analysis of 
gratuity is as follows:     
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10  Provisions (Continued)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Less than 1 year  7.01  8.48 

Between 1 -2 years  4.89  5.25 

Between 2-5 years  5.93  6.52 

Over 5 years  5.33  5.83 

Total  23.16  26.08 

Major category of plan assets

Asset classification

Insurance Fund 40.42 41.78

B  Note on Provident Fund    

With respect to employees,who are covered under Provident Fund Trust adminstered by the Company, 
the Company shall make good deficiency, if any in the interest rate declared by Trust over statutory limit. 
Having regards to the assets of the Fund and the return on the investments, the Company does not 
expect any deficiency in the foreseeable future. The actuary has assessed the calculations of the Interest 
Rate Guarantees based on the guidance note issued by the Institute of Actuaries of India. The disclosures 
required under Ind AS 19 is as set out below:

Fund and Plan Asset position as follows :

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Present Value of Benefit obligation at the end of the year  93.42  86.98 

Fair value of Plan assets at the end of the year  95.59  85.66 

(Surplus) / Defecit available  (2.17)  1.32 

Liability recognised in Balance Sheet  -    1.32 

The Plan assets are  primarily invested in government Securities, Debt instruments & Special deposit 
scheme

Assumptions for present value of interest rate guarantee are as follows

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Discount rate 6.72% 7.46%

Expected guarantee rate 8.25% 8.15%

Attrition rate 5% 5%
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10  Provisions (Continued)

c)   Compensated absences & Medical Leave (Unfunded) 

The defined benefit obligations which are provided for but not funded are as under 

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Compensated absences

 -Non-Current  1.86  1.68 

- Current  9.58  7.54 
Total  11.44  9.22 

Actuarial assumptions:

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Discount Rate 6.72% 7.20%

Salary Escalation 5% 5%

Attrition Rate 5% 5%

Mortality 
Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2012-14) 
Ultimate

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2012-14) 
Ultimate

11.   Current tax (assets) / liabilities

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Current tax assets 

Advance tax and tax deducted at source  2,752.23  2,703.08 

Total Current tax assets  2,752.23  2,703.08 

Current tax liabilities

Income tax payable  2,930.30  2,744.85 

Total Current tax liabilities  2,930.30  2,744.85 
Net current tax liabilities  178.07  41.77
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12    Other current liabilities

Particulars As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
Current Non-current Current  Non-current 

Advances from customers*  34.01 -  42.52 -

Statutory dues payables  7.24 -  9.88 -

Deferred Income#  0.57  5.66  -   -

Liability towards CSR@  15.37 -  8.34  - 
Total Other current liabilities  57.19  5.66  60.74  - 

*Refer note 4(b) for terms and conditions    
# Deferred Income represents unamortised portion of Government grants of Rs. 6.23 Crores on account 
of setting up of 10200 Kg/ day Bio CNG Plant.    
@ Represents CSR unspent amount

13    Revenue from operations

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Sale of products  14,080.06  14,724.29 

Less : Sales discounts  (316.64)  (334.03)

Less : Freight allowance  (77.59)  (96.23)
Sub Total (A)  13,685.83  14,294.03 
Government subsidy (B)  6,450.63  6,022.73
Revenue from Urea canalizing agent transactions 
(High sea sales)

[Sale Value of goods  5,222.42  12,109.27 

Less: Cost of Quantity imported on Government Account  - Also 
refer note below*]  (5,207.45)  (12,075.49)

Sub Total (C)  14.97  33.78 

Sale of services (D)  491.72  569.19 

Other operating revenues (E)  45.76  26.70 
Total revenue from operations (F = A+B+C+D+E)  20,688.91  20,946.43 

* For arrangements of import of Urea on Government Account, Company acts as a canalizing agent. The 
role of the Company either as an agent or a principal is determined based on evaluation of its role as 
a primary obligor, has the pricing latitude in the said arrangements, its exposure to inventory risks, on 
case to case basis. Net Income representing the trade margin is recognized as revenue as per the terms 
of agreement when such amounts become entitled.
The Company has determined that a disaggregation of revenue using existing segments and the timing 
of the transfer of goods or services is adequate for its circumstances. Refer note 27 - Segment Reporting 
for related disclosures and refer note 25 for related party disclosures. No element of financing is deemed 
to be present as the sales are made with the credit term for a period less than one year. 
Revenue is recognised at the point in time when control of the goods is transferred to the customer. 
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14  Other income

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Interest Income

- Interest income earned on financial assets that are not des-
ignated as at FVTPL  3.97  6.98 

-Bank Deposits (at amortised cost)  8.65  5.21 

- Interest income from Debt instruments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income  64.58  49.97 

Dividend on Investments*  1,040.18  785.87 

Profit on sale of investments, net  96.68  84.76 

Gain/(loss) on sale of Property,Plant and Equipment (net)  0.29  (0.20)

Reversal of ECL Provision 22.36 -

Receipts towards insurance claims  -    14.11 

Receipts towards Settlement of Claims  -    34.52 

Liabilities no longer required (Refer note 10)  -    76.17 

Income from Investment Property  1.46  1.00 

Miscellaneous Income  28.86  28.61 

Total Other income  1,267.03  1,087.00 

*Includes dividend received from Associate Company Rs : 1040.09 Crores (31 March 2024 : Rs. 785.51 
Crores)

15  Cost of materials consumed

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Raw materials

Raw materials at the beginning of the year  24.90  20.70 

Add: Purchases  1,455.87  1,232.42 

Less: Raw materials at the end of the year  (66.53)  (24.90)
Total cost of materials consumed  1,414.24  1,228.22 
Material consumed comprises:

Sugarcane  1,256.25  1,137.80 

Others  157.99  90.42 

Total  1,414.24  1,228.22 
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16   Changes in inventories of Finished goods, work-in-progress and Stock-in-trade

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Inventory at the beginning of the year

Finished goods  890.28  835.55 

Work in progress  27.28  34.70 

Stock-in-trade  2,814.22  3,092.57 

Inventory at the end of the year

Finished goods  (968.92)  (890.28)

Work in progress  (31.43)  (27.28)

Stock-in-trade  (3,582.49)  (2,814.22)
Net (increase)/decrease in inventories of finished goods, work-
in progress and stock in trade  (851.06)  231.04

17.   Employee benefits expense

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Salaries, wages and bonus  107.97  105.58 

Contribution to provident and other funds  10.73  11.08 

Post-Employment Gratuity Benefits*  3.51  2.91 

Leave Compensation Expenses  4.55  4.70 

Staff welfare expenses  4.72  5.59 

Total  131.48  129.86 

*Refer Note 10 for disclosures

18  Finance costs

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Interest on bank overdraft and loans  310.50  252.20 

Interest on delayed remittance of income taxes  0.36  0.15 

Interest expense on lease liability  1.51  1.26 

Exchange difference regarded as an adjustment to borrowing 
costs  140.52  78.06 

Other interest & bank charges  46.53  52.09 

Total  499.42  383.76 

Note :  
(i) During the year, Company has capitalised borrowing cost of Rs.7.41 crores (31 March 2024 : 3.65 crores)  
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19   Depreciation and amortisation expense

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  56.33  52.16 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets  11.52  7.96 

Amortisation of intangible assets  0.09  0.20 

Depreciation of Investment Property  0.43  0.39 
Total  68.37  60.71 

20  Other expenses

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Consumption of stores and spare parts  49.00  64.93 

Power and fuel  24.75  21.20 

Freight and Forwarding charges  1,144.87  1,167.25 

Discharge & clearance expenses  346.47  388.82 

Packing materials Consumed - indigenous  188.14  192.48 

Godown Rent  33.21  44.96 

Rent including lease rentals  1.33  1.23 

Repairs and maintenance - Buildings  3.96  9.33 

Repairs and maintenance - Machinery  54.80  46.58 

Repairs and maintenance - Others  12.74  13.65 

Restitching & Rebagging Charges  1.52  0.69 

Storage & Transit Insurance  17.84  13.90 

Rates and Taxes  30.01  7.07 

Communication  2.10  2.02 

Travelling and conveyance  10.75  7.65 

 Printing and Stationery  0.73  1.62 

Business promotion  11.97  11.28 

Legal and professional Charges  11.41  15.03 

Payments to auditors [Refer note 20(a) below]  0.77  1.38 

Corporate social responsibility expenses [Refer note 20(c) 
below]  17.91  17.43 

Directors sitting fees and commission  1.00  0.65 
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20  Other expenses  (Continued)

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Provision for doubtful trade and other receivables, loans (net) 
Refer Note 20 (b)

 5.01  47.72 

Net loss on foreign currency transactions and translation  54.00  267.06 

Miscellaneous expenses  37.71  33.33 
Total other expenses  2,062.00  2,377.26 

20(a)  Details of payments to auditors:
Particulars 31 March 2025  31 March 2024

As auditor:

  - Statutory Audit fee  0.32  0.32 

  - Tax audit fee  0.04  0.04 

Certification fees  0.37  0.97 

Reimbursement of expenses  0.04  0.05 

Total  0.77  1.38 

20(b)  Details of Provision for doubtful trade and other receivables, loans (net) 
Particulars 31 March 2025  31 March 2024

ECL Provision (Reversal) / Created (22.92) 43.82

Add : Write off of Trade Receivables 22.92 -

Add : Provision towards Loans to related parties 5.01 3.90
Provision for doubtful trade and other receivables, loans (net) 5.01 47.72

20(c)  Corporate Social Responsibility expenditure
Particulars 31 March 2025  31 March 2024

Contribution to projects for rural development, skills  develop-
ment, healthcare, education and environmental conservation  6.21  11.10 

Accrual towards unspent obligations in respect to:

Ongoing project  11.70  6.33 

Other than ongoing projects  -   
Total  17.91  17.43 

Amount required to be spent as per Section 135 of the Act  17.58  16.09 

Amount spent during the year on

(i) Construction/acquisition of an asset

(ii) On purposes other than (i) above  6.21  11.10 
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20  Other expenses  (Continued)

Details of ongoing CSR projects under Section 135(5) of the Act 

Balance as at 1 April 2024 Amount 
required to 

be spent 
during the 

year

Amount spent during the 
year

Balance as at 31 March 
2025

With the 
Company

In separate CSR 
unspent account

From the 
Company’s 

bank 
account

From sep-
arate CSR 
unspent 
account

With the 
Company *

In separate 
CSR unspent 

account

 6.33  4.75  17.91  8.95  4.67  11.70  3.67 

*The Company has transferred the unspent CSR amount to a separate CSR unspent account subsequent 
to the balance sheet date, within the statutory timelines. 

Details of CSR expenditure under Section 135(5) of the Act in respect of other than ongoing projects

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Balance unspent as at the beginning of the year  -    -   

Amount deposited in specified fund of schedule VII of the act 
with in 6 months  -    -   

Amount required to be spent during the year  -    -   

Amount spent during the year  -    -   
Balance unspent as at the end of the year  -    -   

21 Income tax expense

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Income tax expense recognized in Profit and Loss:

Current tax  420.44  253.00 

Deferred tax  24.79  9.94 
Total Income Tax expense recognized during the year  445.23  262.94 

Income tax reconciliation:

Profit before tax  1,776.38  1,040.27 

Applied tax rate* 25.17% 25.17%

Income tax expense calculated at applied Tax rate  447.08  261.82 

Total income tax expense recognized during the year  445.23  262.94 

Differential tax impact  (1.85)  1.12 
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21 Income tax expense (Continued)

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Differential tax impact due to the following Tax benefits / 
(Tax expense) :

Tax on exempt Income  (0.93)  (0.93)

Interest on tax liability  -    -   

Expenses not allowable, net  4.72  4.55 

Others  (5.64)  (2.51)

Total  (1.85)  1.12 

* the Company elected to exercise the option permitted under section 115BAA(1) of the Income-tax Act, 
1961 after satisfying the conditions contained in section 115BAA(2) as introduced by the Taxation Laws 
(Amendment) Ordinance, 2019.

22  Earnings per share

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company  1,331.15  777.33 

Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during 
the year (in Nos.)  2,85,97,200  2,85,97,200 

Face value of share (Rs.)  10.00  10.00 

Earnings per Share 

- Basic (Rs.)  465.48  271.82 

- Diluted (Rs.)  465.48  271.82 

23   Commitments

Capital commitments 

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities is 
as follows ( net of advances) : 

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2025

 As at 
31 March 2024

Property, plant and equipment  51.34  38.82

Investments in Vizag Multi Purpose Terminal Private Limited 
(Jointly Controlled Entity) 32.49 44.99
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Particulars  As at
31 March 2025

 As at
31 March 2024

Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debt - 
Disputed dues relating to supplies / other civil cases  0.90  0.90 

Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debt - 
Disputed dues relating to value added tax  159.10  143.14 

Disputed customs duty demand for which the Company has 
preferred an appeal before the CESTAT  112.26  98.49 

Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debt - 
Disputed refunds relating to Goods and Services Tax  468.02  253.80 

Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debt - 
Disputed dues relating to Other Indirect Tax cases  9.39  9.39 

Disputed income tax demands contested in Appeals not 
provided for:  -   -

- Appeal pending before Commissioner of Income Tax 
(Appeals) for the AY 2014-15  0.14  0.14 

(a)   Allahabad High Court in the case of PIL Rashtriya Kisan Mazdoor Sangathan VS State of U.P. passed 
a final order on March 09, 2017 directing the Cane Commissioner to decide afresh the issue as to 
whether the Sugar Mills are entitled for waiver of interest on the delayed payment of the price of 
sugarcane for the seasons 2012-13, 2013-14 and 2014-15 under the provisions of Section 17(3) of 
the U.P. Sugarcane (Regulations of Supply and Purchase) Act, 1953 (in short ‘the Act’). No order has 
yet been passed by the Cane Commissioner and the amount of interest, if any, payable has also not 
been determined. Based on the legal opinion received by the Industry Association, possibility of 
the liability crystallizing on this score is remote. Accordingly, no provision in considered necessary 
for such improbable liability.  

(b)   The Company has claimed refund under GST regulations in accordance with the provisions of 
the law. In certain states, the refunds have been admitted and in others it has been rejected. The 
refunds under rule 89(5) of Central Goods and Services Tax Rules, 2017, which has been rejected 
and for which the Company is contesting as at March 31, 2025 amounts to Rs. 1,545.37 Crores                
( March 31, 2024 : 1,070.85 Crores) The Company believes that it can successfully defend the case 
relating to refund eligible under rule 89(5).   

(c)  The Central Bureau of Investigation('CBI) has filed an FIR against the Managing director of the 
Company alleging that:

(i)  during the period 2007-2014, the fertilizers have been imported by the Company at inflated 
prices and claimed higher subsidies from Government of India ('GOI') and caused losses to 
the exchequer.

(ii)  commission were paid by the overseas suppliers to relatives of the Managing Director 
resulting in diverting and siphoning off funds.

The aforesaid matters were discussed in the Board Meeting held on June 1, 2021

Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025  
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated 
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24.  Contingent liabilities  (Continued)

Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025  
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

The Board felt that it contains unverified allegations and also based on incorrect assumptions and 
incomplete appreciation of facts on record. It is also felt that the subsidy is not Company specific and 
not a function of imports, but for the outlier method for certain period.

The Board of Directors directed the management to provide all the information relating to the case to 
all regulatory authorities as and when requested.

The Management responded to the queries raised by the authorities both through written form and 
also by way of personal appearance on various dates and there has not been any development in this 
matter since the last annual report of 2021-22. During the year 2021-22, a writ petition has been filed 
before the Honourable Hight Court of Delhi for quashing / setting aside the said FIR and the matter is 
sub-judice.

The Board of Directors believe that no independent investigation is necessary as the CBI being a premier 
investigation agency is already investigating the matter. The Managing Director continues to discharge 
his official duties as decided and approved by the Board. Financial Impact and internal control lapse 
during the check period, if any, would be known only upon the conclusion of the investigation.

The  Company  would  take  necessary  steps  as it  deem fit and take action, if any, based on the 
progress  of the case. 
 
The Company has a strong internal control mechanism in place for various activities and it would 
continue to evaluate and strengthen its internal controls.  

(d) Deputy commissioner of Income tax (Central Circle-1, Delhi) has initiated assessment proceeding 
under section 153A of Income tax Act for Financial year 2011-12 to 2018-19 vide notice dated 
December 16, 2022. Pending completion of proceeding impact of the assessment on this financial 
Statement is not ascertainable as on the date of signing these financial Statements.

25 Related party transactions

A. List of related parties

 Name of the related party and nature of relationship

 Significant influence over the entity
 Indian Farmers' Fertiliser Co-operative Limited (IFFCO)

 Subsidiaries of the above entity (IFFCO)
 IFFCO-Tokio General Insurance Company Limited
 IFFCO eBazar Limited
 Kisan International Trading FZE

 Subsidiary Company
 IPL Sugars and Bio Fuels Ltd. (Formally known as IPL Sugars & Allied Industries Ltd)
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 Associate
 Jordan Phosphate Mines Company PLC (JPMC)

 Subsidiary of the above entity (JPMC)
 Nippon Jordan Fertilizers Company Limited

 Joint Venture
 Vizag Multipurpose terminal Private Limited

 Company having common director
 Wisekey India Private Limited

 Key management personnel

 Dr.  P.S.Gahlaut, Managing Director

 Mr.  R.Srinivasan, CFO 

 Dr.  Girish Kumar, Company Secretary

 Other Directors 

 Shri. Pankaj Kumar Bansal, IAS, Chairman  
 Dr. U.S. Awasthi, Director 
 Shri. Prem Chandra Munshi, Director (Upto June 2024) 
 Shri. Rakesh Kapur, Director  
 Shri. Dileep Sanghani, Director 
 Shri. Kamal Dayani, IAS, Director 
 Shri. Kishor  Kumar Rungta (Upto August 2024) 
 Dr. Sunil Kumar Singh, Director (Upto August 2024) 
 Shri. Girish Dayalan (Upto August 2024) 
 Dr. Sekhar Babu Geddam, IFS (Upto August 2024) 
 Shri. Mallela Venkateswara Rao , Director  (Upto August 2024) 
 Shri. Shridhar Baburao Dube,  IAS, Director (Upto August 2024)" 
 Shri. Sudhir Bhargava, Director 
 Shri. Arvind Kumar Kadyan, Director  
 Ms. Vandana Chanana, Director  
 Shri. Manish Gupta, Director 
 Shri. Alok Kumar Singh, IAS, Director 
 Shri. Siva Muthukkumarasamy, Director 
 Shri. Sony Sebastian, Director 
 Shri. Manoj Kumar Jain, Director 
 Shri. Santosh Kumar Dash, OAS (SS), Director 
 Shri. Amandeep Sing Thind, Director 

25 Related party transactions (Conitinued)
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25 Related party transactions (Conitinued)
 Trusts 

 Indian Potash Limited Staff Provident Fund 
 Indian Potash Non-Executive Staff Gratuity Fund 
 Indian Potash Executive Staff Gratuity Fund 
 Indian Potash Senior Executive Staff Superannuation Fund 
Note : 
a. Related party relationships are as identified by the management and relied upon by the auditors 
b. All transactions with related parties are at arm's length price
B. Transactions with key management personnel

Particulars  Year ended 
31 March 2025

  Year ended 
31 March 2024

Remuneration and other benefits *  2.69  2.59 

Directors sitting fees, commission and others  1.00  0.65 

Total  3.69  3.24 

*   Amount attributed to post employment benefits and compensated absences have not been 
disclosed as the same cannot be identified distinctly in the actuarial valuation.  

C. Transactions with related parties other than key management personnel

Particulars   Year ended 
31 March 2025

 Year ended 
31 March 2024

Investing party - Indian Farmers' Fertiliser Co-operative Limit-
ed (IFFCO)

Sale of goods  952.60  1,178.11 

Insurance charges recovered  1.22  1.13 

Service charges recovered  0.68  0.67 

Reimbursement of Despatch  3.78  4.58 

Discounts  85.28  79.62 

Dividend paid  7.29  6.80 

Subsidiary of IFFCO-Tokio General Insurance Company Limited

Sale of services  0.14  0.18 

Services availed  28.14  26.00 
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Particulars  Year ended 
31 March 2025

 Year ended 
31 March 2024

Subsidiary of IFFCO-IFFCO eBazar Limited

Sale of goods (net of discounts)  0.91  2.95

Investing party - Indian Farmers' Fertiliser Co-operative 
Limited (IFFCO)

Purchases of Goods (net of discounts) 42.69 61.39

Associate Company - Jordan Phosphate Mines Company PLC

Purchases of Goods  541.04  188.36 

Dividend Received  1,040.09  785.51 

Issue of bonus shares  -    -   

Jointly Controlled Entity -Vizag Multipurpose Terminal Private 
Limited
Subscription to Equity shares (Previous year subscription 
includes Loan of Rs. 3 Crores converted into Equity shares)  12.50  6.01 

Interest Received  -    0.07 

Indian Potash Limited Staff Provident Fund

Contribution to Provident Fund  4.07  3.69

Indian Potash Senior Executive Staff Superannuation Fund

Contribution to Super Annuation Fund  0.92  0.83

D.    Outstanding balances arising from sales / purchase of goods and services

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2025

 As at 
31 March 2024

Indian Farmers' Fertiliser Co-operative Limited (IFFCO)

Trade Receivables  413.76  30.45 

Customer Discounts Payable  62.56  34.61 

Trade payables  7.15  29.21 

Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025  
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated 

25 C  Transactions with related parties other than key management personnel (Continued)
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D.    Outstanding balances arising from sales / purchase of goods and services (Continued)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2025

 As at 
31 March 2024

Subsidiary of IFFCO-IFFCO-Tokio General Insurance Company 
Limited

Trade Receivable  11.48  15.13 

Trade Payable  -   0.04

Subsidiary of IFFCO-IFFCO eBazar Limited

Trade Receivable  0.47  0.23

E.    Loans/Advances to related parties

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2025

 As at 
31 March 2024

IPL Sugars and Bio Fuels Ltd. (Erstwhile IPL Sugars & Allied 
Industries Ltd)

Opening balance  23.63  23.63 

Loans/Advances given  1.52  0.68 

Loans/Advances repaid  (0.39)  -   

Interest income  3.88  3.22 

Loss allowance  (5.01)  (3.90)

Closing balance  23.63  23.63 

There is no loss allowance for receivables in relation to any outstanding balances, and no loss allowance 
has been recognised during the year in respect of receivables due from related parties except for INR 
23.63 (31 March 2024: INR 23.63) provided for receivable from IPL Sugars and Bio Fuels Ltd. (Erstwhile 
IPL Sugars & Allied Industries Ltd)  

Terms and Conditions :  

Sales of goods to related parties were made at the Company's usual list prices, that prevail in arm's 
length transactions. Purchases were made at market prices. Outstanding balances at the year-end with 
related parties are unsecured (at market rates) to be settled in cash.

In respect of related party trade receivables,the Company has made allowance for bad or doubtful debts 
as per Company's Expected Credit Loss Policy  for  the year ended 31 March 2025  and 31 March 2024 
respectively  

The Company has not provided any  guarantee /received during the year ended 31 March 2025 and 31 
March 2024 relating to related party transactions 

Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025  
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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Particulars  As at 
31 March 2025

 As at 
31 March 2024

Principal amount due to suppliers under MSMED Act, as at the 
end of the year  4.71  4.83 

Interest accrued and due to suppliers under MSMED Act on 
the above amount as at the end of the year  -    -   

Payment made to suppliers (other than interest) beyond the 
appointed day, during the year  -    -   

Interest paid to suppliers under MSMED Act 
(other than Section 16)  -    -   

Interest paid to suppliers under MSMED Act 
(under Section 16)  -    -   

Interest due and payable to suppliers under MSMED Act, for 
payments already made  -    -   

Interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the year 
to suppliers under MSMED Act (ii) + (vi)  -    -   

27   Segment reporting    

Ind AS 108 establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments and related 
disclosure about product and services, geographical areas and major customers.  Based on management 
approach' as defined in  Ind AS 108, the chief operating decision maker evaluates the Company's 
performance and allocates resources based on analysis of various performance indicators by business 
segments. Accordingly information has been presented along business segment. The accounting 
principle used in the preparation of financial statements are consistently applied to record revenue and 
expenditure in individual segment and or as set out in the significant accounting policies.

Business segment of the Company comprise of:-   
(i)  Fertilisers - Trading of fertilisers

(ii)  Sugar and its related by-products.

(iii)  Others - Manufacturing of Cattle feed / Poultry feed,  Milk and Milk Products and trading of Gold 
and other precious metals.

Segment assets are measured in the same way as in the financial statements.  These assets are allocated 
based on the operations of the segment and the physical location of the assets.  Segments assets do 
not include investments and income tax assets which are managed by treasury function.  
    
Segment  liabilities are measured in the same way as in the financial statements.  These liabilities are 
allocated based on the operations of the segment.   Segments  liabilities  do not include borrowings and 
income tax liabilities which are managed by treasury function.

26. Based on and to the extent of information available with the Company under the Micro, Small and 
Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (MSMED Act), the relevant particulars as at reporting 
date are furnished below :  
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27   Segment reporting (Continued)

Additional information of Segment Reporting under Nutrition Based Subsidy (NBS) Scheme as required 
by Department of Fertilizers (DOF) :        

The Separate Segment reporting disclosure based on guidelines for evaluation of reasonableness of 
Maximum Retail Prices (MRPs) of Phosphatic and Potassic (P&K) fertilizers under the Nutrient Based 
Subsidy (NBS) Policy vide Office Memorandum F.No.23011/9/2023- P&K dated January 18, 2024  issued 
by Department of Fertilizers, Ministry of  Chemicals and Fertilizers : 

Particulars

Year Ended  31 March 2025

NBS Non -NBS Total 
Fertilizers

Import Manufactur-
ing

Non -NBS Total 
Fertilizers

Revenue from operations   14,873.43   93.42   4,007.99   18,974.84 

Identifiable operating expenses   15,024.88   87.70   3,665.91   18,778.49 

Segment operating income / (Loss)   (151.45)   5.72   342.08   196.35 

28 Fair value measurements

28.1 Financial instruments by category

Particulars
As at  31 March 2025 As at  31 March 2024

FVPL FVOCI Amortised 
cost FVPL FVOCI Amortised 

cost
Financial assets

Investment in equity 
Instruments #  -    53.37  -    -    36.05  -   

Investment in debt instruments  -    54.83  -    -    55.03  -   

Investment in government 
securities  -    -    0.15  -    -    0.14 

Investment in perpetual bonds  -    -    948.19  -    -    562.81 

Trade receivables  -    -    4,507.11  -    -    3,669.76 

Cash and cash equivalents  -    -    367.15  -    -    610.37 

Bank balances other than cash 
and cash equivalents  -    -    53.88  -    -    3.24 

Loans  -    -    39.82  -    -    27.89 

Other financial assets  -    -    270.30  -    -    145.55 

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS - 108.20 6,186.60  - 91.08 5,019.76
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28.  Fair value measurements (Continued)

Particulars
As at  31 March 2025 As at  31 March 2024

FVPL FVOCI Amortised 
cost FVPL FVOCI Amortised 

cost
Financial liabilities

Borrowings including accrued 
interest and current maturities  -    -    5,263.79  -    -   4,574.68

Trade payables  -    -    3,747.12  -    -    2,051.87 

Other financial liabilities  -    -    318.71  -    -    349.51 

Lease liabilities  -    -    19.30  -    -    14.92 

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  -    -    9,348.92  -    -   6,990.98

Excludes investments which are measured at cost being:

a)  investments in equity instruments of wholly owned subsidiaries aggregating to Rs. 1.00 (31 March 
2024: Rs. 1.00) and

b)  investments in equity instruments in Associate Company to Rs. 649.69 ( 31 March 2024: Rs.649.69)

c)  investments in equity instruments in Joint Venture Company to Rs.18.51 ( 31 March 2024: Rs. 6.01)

#  The equity securities which are not held for trading, and for which the Company has made an 
irrevocable election at initial recognition to recognise changes in fair value through OCI rather 
than profit or loss as these strategic investments and the group considered to be more relevant. 

28.2  Valuation technique and processes

The management assessed that fair value of cash and short-term deposits, trade receivables, trade 
payables, current borrowings and other current financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying 
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. The fair value of non current 
loans and security deposits have also been assessed to be approximate to their carrying amount since 
the loans are repayable on contractual terms. The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is 
included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between 
willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The fair value of the equity instruments  which are quoted are based on price quotations at reporting 
date. The fair value of unquoted Equity and Debt instruments, loans from banks and other financial 
liabilities, as well as other non-current financial liabilities is estimated by discounting future cash flows 
using rates currently available for debt on similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. In addition 
to being sensitive to a reasonably possible change in the forecast cash flows or discount rate, the fair 
value of the equity instruments is also sensitive to a reasonably possible change in the growth rates. 
The valuation requires management to use unobservable inputs in the model, of which the significant 
unobservable inputs are disclosed in the tables below. Management regularly assesses a range of 
reasonably possible alternatives for those significant unobservable inputs and determines their impact 
on the total fair value.     
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28.2  Valuation technique and processes (Continued)

Fair values of the Company’s interest-bearing borrowings and loans are determined by using discount 
rate(effective interest rate) that reflects the issuer’s borrowing rate as at the end of the reporting year. 

The Company enters into derivative financial instruments with Banks. Foreign exchange forward contracts 
are valued using valuation techniques, which employs the use of market observable inputs. The most 
frequently applied valuation techniques include forward pricing model, using present value calculations. 
As at each period presented, the marked-to-market value of derivative liability/asset position has been 
recognized in the financial statements.

28.3  Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the financial 
instruments that are (a) recognised and measured at fair value and (b) measured at amortised cost and for 
which fair values are disclosed in the financial statements. To provide an indication about the reliability 
of the inputs used in determining fair value, the Company has classified its financial instruments into the 
three levels prescribed under the accounting standard. An explanation of each level follows underneath 
the table.

28.3    Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair values 

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair values - recurring fair value measurements -  As at 31 
March 2025

Particulars Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial investments at FVTOCI 

Investment in Equity Instruments  32.02 -  21.35  53.37 

Investment in Debt Instruments  54.83 - -  54.83 

Investment in mutual funds  794.99 - -  794.99 

Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost for which fair values are disclosed - As at 31 
March 2025

Particulars Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets

Investment in government securities  -   -  0.15  0.15 

Investment in perpetual bonds  948.19 - -  948.19 

Financial liabilities - - - -

Non current borrowings -  71.80  71.80 
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28.3  Fair value hierarchy  (Continued)
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair values  (Continued)
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair values - recurring fair value measurements - As at 31 
March 2024

Particulars Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial investments at FVTOCI 

Investment in Equity Instruments  14.70  -    21.35  36.05 

Investment in Debt Instruments  55.03  -    -    55.03 

Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost for which fair values are disclosed - As at 31 
March 2024

Particulars Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets

Investment in government securities  -    -    0.14  0.14 

Investment in perpectual bonds  562.81  -   -  562.81 

Financial liabilities

Non current borrowings - -  124.99  124.99 

There have been no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the year.   

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded 
derivatives and equity securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. 
These instruments are included in level 1.    

Level 2: Traded bonds, over the counter derivaties that are not traded in an active market is determined 
using observable market data and less reliance on entity-specific estimates. 

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument 
is included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities that are included in level 3.

28.4   Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Particulars
As at  31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024

Carrying 
amount

Fair value Carrying 
amount

 Fair value

Financial assets

Investment in government securities  0.15  0.15  0.14  0.14 

Investment in perpetual bonds  948.19  948.19  562.81  562.81 

TOTAL ASSETS  948.34  948.34  562.95  562.95 
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28.4   Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (Continued)

Particulars
As at  31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024

Carrying 
amount

Fair value Carrying 
amount

 Fair value

Financial liabilities

Borrowings  71.80  71.80  124.99  124.99 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  71.80  71.80  124.99  124.99 

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, trade payables, other current financial assets and liabilities, 
cash and cash equivalents and other Bank balances are considered to be the same as their fair values, 
due to their short-term nature. The fair value of non current loans and security deposits have also been 
assessed to be approximate to their carrying amount since the loans are repayable on contractual 
terms.    

The fair values for non current borrowings have been assessed to be approximate to their carrying 
amount since the borrowings carry a variable interest rate linked to the market.

For financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value, the carrying amounts are equal to the 
fair values.

28.5    Derivative financial instruments  

Derivative financials instruments are valued based on quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in 
active markets or inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.

The Company is exposed to foreign currency fluctuations on foreign currency assets/ liabilities 
and forecasted cash flows denominated in foreign currency. The Company follows established risk 
management policies, including the use of derivatives to hedge foreign currency assets/ liabilities and 
foreign currency forecasted cash flows. The counter party in these derivative instruments is a bank and 
the Company considers the risks of non-performance by the counterparty as non-material.  

The following table presents the aggregate contracted principal amounts of the Company’s derivative 
contracts outstanding:

Particulars
 31 March 2025  31 March 2024

USD Crores USD Crores

Forward contracts (sell)  0.32  -   

Forward contracts (Buy)  1.96  -   

Foreign currency principal swap (buy) 0.07  0.36 

The foreign exchange forward contracts generally mature anywhere between 3-30 days. The foreign currency interest 
swap contracts mature anywhere between 2 to 39 months. 
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29 Financial risk management

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks : credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency 
risk and interest rate risk. The Company’s primary focus is to foresee the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seek to minimize potential adverse effects on its financial performance. 

The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are 
summarised below:      

29 (i)  Credit risk        
 Credit risk management        

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s 
receivables from customers and investment securities. Credit risk arises from cash held with banks and 
financial institutions, as well as credit exposure to clients, including outstanding accounts receivable. 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying value of the financial assets. The objective 
of managing  counterparty credit risk is to prevent losses in financial assets. The Company assesses the 
credit quality of the counterparties, taking into account their financial position, past experience and 
other factors.

a) Trade and other receivables        

The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer (Government and Non-Government). The risk relating to dues from Government (which 
represents subsidy receivable) and export customer has been assessed by the management as not to 
be material. In respect of Non-Government customers, the demographics of the customer, including the 
default risk of the industry and country in which the customer operates, also has an influence on credit 
risk assessment.  

b) Investments        

The Company limits its exposure to credit risk by generally investing in liquid securities and only with 
counterparties that have a good credit rating. The Company does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these counterparties, and does not have any significant concentration of exposures to 
specific industry sectors. 
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29 (i)  Credit risk (Continued)

Expected credit loss for trade receivables under simplified approach (Non-Government receivables 
excluding export receivables) 

As at 31 March 2025:      

Ageing
Not due 0-90  past 

due
90 to 180 
days past 

due

180 to 
270 days 
past due

270 to 
360 days 
past due

360 to 
720 days 
past due

More than 
720 days 
past due

Total

Gross carrying 
amount

 1,351.53  230.02  29.13  12.65  3.32  10.34  231.48  1,868.47 

Expected loss rate 0.61% 1.04% 2.37% 17.00% 37.95% 71.86% 100.00%

Expected credit 
losses  
(loss allowance 
provision) 

 (8.27)  (2.40)  (0.69)  (2.15)  (1.26)  (7.43)  (231.48)  (253.68)

Carrying amount of 
trade 
receivables (net of 
impairment)

 1,343.26  227.62  28.44  10.50  2.06  2.91  -    1,614.79 

As at 31 March 2024:     

Ageing
Not due 0-90  past 

due
90 to 180 
days past 

due

180 to 
270 days 
past due

270 to 
360 days 
past due

360 to 
720 days 
past due

More than 
720 days 
past due

Total

Gross carrying amount  967.10  256.02  68.47  14.54  3.58  14.99  231.05  1,555.75 

Expected loss rate 1.26% 2.78% 11.19% 23.18% 40% 85.72% 100.00%

Expected credit losses  
(loss allowance 
provision) 

 (12.20)  (7.13)  (7.66)  (3.37)  (1.43)  (12.85)  (231.05)  (275.69)

Carrying amount of 
trade receivables 
(net of impairment)

 954.90  248.89  60.81  11.17  2.15  2.14  -    1,280.06 

29(ii) Liquidity risk        

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
become due. The Company manages its liquidity risk by ensuring, as far as possible, that it will always 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due. Also, the Company has unutilized credit limits 
with banks. The Company’s corporate treasury department is responsible for liquidity, funding as well as 
settlement management. In addition, processes and policies related to such risks are overseen by senior 
management.        
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29(ii) Liquidity risk  (Continued)

Particulars  As at 31 March 
2025

 As at 31 March 
2024

Cash and cash equivalents  367.15  610.37 

Bank balances other than Cash and cash equivalents  53.88  3.24 
Total  421.03  613.61 

a)     Financing arrangements    
 The Company has access to the following undrawn borrowing facilities at the end of the reporting 

period:    

Particulars  As at 31 March 
2025

 As at 31 March 
2024

Expiring within one year - short term borrowings and other 
facilities expiring 31 March 2025 (Fund and non fund based)  17,611.84  24,961.91

b)     Maturities of financial liabilities    
 The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of significant financial 

liabilities as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 :   

Particulars
As at  31 March 2025

Less than 
one year 1-2 years 2 years 

and above Total

Fixed interest rate borrowings  5,130.13 - -  5,130.13 

Variable interest rate borrowings 
(Refer note below)  61.86  55.79  16.01  133.66 

Lease liabilities  6.34  6.34  6.62  19.30 

Trade payables  3,705.98  20.49  20.65  3,747.12 

Other financial liabilities  190.26  100.35 28.10  318.71 

Total  9,094.57  182.97  71.38  9,348.92 

Particulars
As at  31 March 2024

Less than 
one year 1-2 years 2 years and 

above Total

Fixed interest rate borrowings  4,028.18 - -  4,028.18 

Variable interest rate borrowings 
(Refer note below)  71.51  55.56  69.43  196.50 

Lease liabilities  4.78  5.26  4.88  14.92 

Trade payables  1,936.59  40.36  74.92  2,051.87 

Other financial liabilities  235.16  86.25 28.10  349.51 

Total  6,276.22  187.43  177.33  6,640.98 
Note:    
The variable interest rate borrowings carry an interest rate which are linked to the market and hence 
in absence of known amount of outflow in respect of interest, the current undiscounted amounts have 
been disclosed.       

The cash position of the Company is given below : 
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29(iii) Foreign currency risk

The Company’s exchange risk arises from foreign currency  expenses, (primarily in U.S. Dollars and Euros) 
and foreign currency borrowings (in U.S. dollars). A significant portion of the Company’s purchase of stock 
in trade are in these foreign currencies, As a result, if the value of the Indian rupee appreciates relative 
to these foreign currencies, the Company’s costs measured in rupees may decrease. The exchange rate 
between the Indian rupee and these foreign currencies has changed in recent periods and may continue 
to fluctuate in the future. The Company has a Corporate Treasury department which meets on a periodic 
basis to formulate the strategy for foreign currency risk management. The Company does not primarily 
deal with derivative instruments.

The following table presents foreign currency risk from non-derivative financial instruments as of 31 
March 2025 and 31 March 2024: 

As at  31 March 2025

Particulars  USD Crores INR Equivalent  
(in Crores)

Assets:

EEFC Account  0.03  2.86 

Trade receivables  4.18  357.56 

Liabilities:

Borrowings  59.24  5,063.53 

Trade payables  20.55  1,756.28 

As at  31 March 2024

Particulars  USD Crores INR Equivalent  
(in Crores)

Assets:

EEFC Account  0.20  16.33 

Trade receivables  0.45  37.33 

Liabilities:

Borrowings  46.91  3,912.22 

Trade payables  13.47  1,123.32 
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29(iii) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Particulars Impact on profit after tax
31 March 2025 31 March 2024

USD Sensitivity

INR/USD - Increase by 10% (31 March 2024-10%)  (661.70)  (515.60)

INR/USD - Decrease by 10% (31 March 2024-10%)  661.70  515.60 

29(iv)   Interest rate risk    

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The Company has been availing borrowings at  fixed and 
variable rate of interest. These borrowings are carried at amortised cost. The borrowings on a fixed 
rate of interest basis are not subject to the interest rate risk as defined in Ind AS 107, since neither the 
carrying amount nor the future cash flows will fluctuate because of change in interest market rates. The 
borrowings on a variable rate on interest are subject to interest rate risk as defined in Ind AS 107. 

Interest earned : Interest rates on debt instruments and Bank deposits are fixed and hence do not expose 
the Company to significant interest rate risk.

Classification of borrowings by nature of interest rate :

Particulars  31 March 2025 31 March 2024

Borrowings at variable interest rate:

 - Current  61.86  71.51 

 - Non-current  71.80  124.99 

Borrowings at fixed interest rate :

 - Current  5,130.13  4,378.18 

 - Non-current  -    -   

Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

Particulars Impact on profit after tax
31 March 2025 31 March 2024

Interest rates increase by 10 base points  (0.17)  (0.15)

Interest rates decrease by 10 base points  0.17  0.15 

The Company has availed short term loan facilities at specified interest rates and such interest rates are 
linked to RBI Repo rates (March 31, 2024: LIBOR / Treasury bill rates).  
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29(v)  Price risk

The Company is exposed to price risks arising from investments in Debt and Equity instruments. 
These investments are held for strategic purposes only and not for the purposes of trading.  The 
sensitivity analyses given below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price 
risks at the end of the reporting period.

If equity prices had been 1% higher/lower other comprehensive income/ equity for the year ended 31 
March 2025 would increase/ decrease by Rs.1.08 (31 March 2024: Rs.0.91) as a result of the changes in 
fair value of equity and debt investments measured at FVTOCI. There is no impact of change in equity 
price on profit or loss. 

30 Additional regulatory information required by Schedule III

a) Details of benami property held      
 No proceedings have been initiated on or are pending against the Company for holding benami 

property under the Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988  and Rules made thereunder. 

(b) Borrowing secured against current assets      

 The Company has borrowings from banks and financial institutions on the basis of security of 
current assets. The Company files quarterly returns or statements of current assets with banks and 
financial institutions.      

(c) Wilful defaulter      
 The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or 

government or any other government authority or other lenders    

d) Relationship with struck off companies      
 The Company does not have any relations with the companies struck off under section 248 of the 

Companies Act, 2013 or section 560 of the Companies Act, 1956.

(e) Compliance with number of layers of companies      
 The Company has complied with the number of layers prescribed under section 2(87) of the 

Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies (restriction on number of layers) Rules, 2017

(f) Compliance with approved scheme(s) of arrangements      
 The Company has not entered into any scheme of arrangement which has an accounting impact in 

the current or previous financial year      

(g) Utilisation of borrowed funds and share premium      

 The Company has not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other person(s) or entity(ies), 
including foreign entities (Intermediaries) with the understanding that the Intermediary shall:

a.  directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner 
whatsoever by or on behalf of the group (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

b.  provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the ultimate beneficiaries
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30.   Additional regulatory information required by Schedule III  (Continued)
(g) Utilisation of borrowed funds and share premium (Continued)

 The Company has not received any fund from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign 
entities (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that 
the Company shall:

a.  directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner 
whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

b.  provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the ultimate beneficiaries 
(h) Undisclosed income      
 The Company does not have any transactions not recorded in the books of accounts that has been 

surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in tax assessments under the Income-tax Act, 
1961.

(i) Details of crypto currency or virtual currency      
 The Company has not traded or invested in crypto currency or virtual currency during the current 

or previous year. 
(j) Revaluation of Property, plant & Equipment, intangible asset and investment property
 The Company has not revalued its property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) or 

intangible assets or both during the current or previous year.     
(k) Title deeds of immovable properties not held in name of the Company 
 The title deeds of all the immovable properties (other than properties where the Company is 

the lessee and the lease agreements are duly executed in favour of the lessee), as disclosed in 
note 2(a) on Property, plant and equipment, are held in the name of the Company, except for the 
following: 

Description 
of 

property

Gross 
carrying 

value 
(Rs. In 
Crores)

Net 
carrying 
amount 
(Rs. In 
Crores)

Held in 
the name of

Whether 
promoter, 
director 
or their 

relative or 
employee

Period 
held

Reason for 
not being 

held in the 
name of the 

Company

1. Industrial Factory 
building located at 
Kundli, Sonipat 
(Haryana)

 0.89  0.38 Goldline Milkfood 
and Allied 

Industries Limited

No From 
September 

2020 till date.

Refer note 1 
below

2. Freehold land of 1 
Acre located at 
Kundli, Sonipat 
(Haryana) 

 0.92  0.92 Goldline Milkfood 
and Allied 

Industries Limited

No From 
September 

2020 till date.

Refer note 1 
below

3. Industrical 
Factory located at 
Muzzafarpur 
(Bihar)

 5.41  3.87 Sri Krishna 
Fertilizers Limited

No From 
September 

2020 till date.

Refer note 1 
below
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30.   Additional regulatory information required by Schedule III  (Continued)
(k) Title deeds of immovable properties not held in name of the Company  (Continued)

In respect of the properties where the Company is the lessee, as disclosed in Note 2(b) on Right-of-use 
assets, all the agreements are duly executed in favour of the Company, except for the following:

Description of 
property

Gross 
carrying 

value 
(Rs. In 
Crores)

Net 
arrying 
amount 
(Rs. In 
Crores)

Held in 
the name of

Whether 
promoter, 
director 
or their 

relative or 
employee

Period 
held

Reason for 
not being 

held in the 
name of the 

Company

1. Leasehold land 
measuring 266 acres 
located in Motipur, 
Bihar

 56.20  43.70 Members of 
Motipur Sugar 
Factory / Bihar 

Sugar State 
Corporation 

Limited 

No From FY 
2011-12 till 

date.

Refer note 2 
below

2. Leasehold land 
located at 
Muzzafarpur, Bihar

 0.02  0.01 Sri Krishna 
Fertilizers 
Limited

No From 
September 

2020 till date.

Refer note 3 
below

Notes for       

1.  Pursuant to the merger of Goldline Milkfood and Allied Industries Limited ( including step-down 
subsidiary Sri Krishna Fertilizers Limited) with the Company, the title deeds of these immovable 
properties are still held in the name of the erstwhile entities and are yet to be registered in the 
name of the Company.      

2.  The land was leased to the Company by Bihar State Sugar Corporation Limited (BSSCL) in 2011-
12. BSSCL’s title to the land was challenged by shareholders of the sugar factory (erstwhile land 
owners). The lease agreement is yet to be registered in the name of the Company. Also, refer note 
2(c)

3.  Pursuant to the merger of Sri Krishna Fertilizers Limited with the Company, the lease agreements 
are in the name of the erstwhile entity and are yet to be executed in favour of the Company. 

(l) Registration of charges or satisfaction with Registrar of Companies 

 The Company does not have any charges or satisfaction which is yet to be registered with Registrar 
of Companies (ROC) beyond the statutory period 

(m) Utilisation of borrowings availed from banks and financial institutions 

 The borrowings obtained by the Company from banks and financial institutions have been applied 
for the purposes for which such borrowings were was taken.
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30.   Additional regulatory information required by Schedule III  (Continued)

(n) Financial ratios

Ratio Numerator Denominator Current 
Period

Previous 
Period

% Vari-
ance

Reason for 
variance

Current ratio (times) Current Assets Current 
Liabilities

 1.20 1.49 (20%)

Return on equity (%) Profit after tax (PAT) Average of 
Total equity

19.44% 13.40% 45% Note 1

Debt-equity ratio (%) Total debt * Total equity 70.30% 74.22% (5%)

Debt service cover-
age ratio (times)

Earnings available for 
debt service @

Debt service #  14.82  (94.06) (116%) Note 2

Inventory turnover 
ratio (times)

Cost of goods sold ** Average 
inventories

 4.11  4.62 (11%)

Trade receivables 
turnover ratio (times)

Revenue from opera-
tions

Average trade 
receivables

 5.06  4.59 10%

Trade payables turno-
ver ratio (times)

Net purchases *** Average trade 
payables

 12.63  4.85 161% Note 3

Net capital turnover 
ratio (times)

Revenue from 
operations

Working Capital  11.22 6.20 81% Note 4

Net profit ratio (%) Profit after tax Revenue from 
Operations

6.43% 3.71% 73% Note 5

Return on capital 
employed (%)

Earnings before 
interest, tax 

Total equity, 
total debt 
minus deferred 
tax assets

17.94% 13.39% 34% Note 6

Return on invest-
ments made by the 
Company (%)

Dividend income, 
interest income on 
bonds and income 
from sale of 
investments

Average 
investments

61.17% 76.50% (20%)

* Total debt comprises of current and non-current borrowings.   

@ Earnings available for debt service = Net Profit after Tax + Depeciation and amortization expense + 
Interest on long-term borrowings + Interest on lease liabilities     

# Debt service is the aggregate of repayment of long term borrowings and principal portion of lease 
payments, and their interest.      

** Cost of goods sold comprises Cost of materials consumed, Purchases of stock-in-trade and Changes in 
inventories of work-in-progress, stock-in-trade and finished goods     

*** Net purchases comprises of purchase of stock in trade and puchase of raw materials. 
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1.  Increase is due to higher profit after tax in current year compared to previous year 
2. Decrease in debt service coverage ratio is attributable to increase principal repayments of term 

loans and lease liabilities.
3.  Increase is due to higher purchases in current year compared to previous year driven by high 

operational activities      
4.  Increase in net capital turnover ratio is due to Increase in Current year investments
5.  Increase in profit compared to previos year      
6.  Mainly due to increase in profit compared to previous year

31 Capital management    
The Company's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain shareholders' and lenders' 
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Capital Base comprises of Equity Share 
Capital and Other Equity. The Companies monitors the return on capital as well as the level of dividends 
on its equity shares. The Companies’s objective when managing capital is to maintain an optimal 
structure so as to maximize shareholder value.    

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Borrowings and lease liabilities 5,283.09 4,589.60

Less : Cash and cash equivalents and other bank balances  (421.03)  (613.61)
Net Debt  4,862.06 3,975.99

Total equity  7,514.85  6,183.61 

Net Debt to Equity Ratio 64.70% 64.30%

The net debt to equity ratio for the current year has increased from 64.30% to 64.70% following the 
significant decrease in cash and cash equivalents during the year.

32 Distributions made and proposed

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

(i) Dividend on equity shares declared and paid

Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024: INR 7.5 per 
share (Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023: INR 
7 per share)

 21.45  20.02 

(ii) Proposed dividend

Following dividends proposed by the directors after the 
reporting date and subject to the approval at the annual 
general meeting have not been recognised as liabilities at 
the year-end: 
Proposed dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025: 
INR 20 per share (31 March 2024: Proposed dividend for the 
year ended 31 March 2024: INR 7.5 per share)

57.19 21.45

Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated 
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33. Acquisition of SSP Unit:

Pursuant to a Business Transfer Agreement (BTA) entered into with M/s. T. J. Agro Fertilizers Pvt. Ltd 
(Seller), the Company acquired the entire business of  Seller’s Navsari Unit, having manufacturing 
capacity of SSP-P of 33,000 MT and SSP-G of 22,000 MT (the business) on  “As is where is and what is” 
basis as a going concern on a slump sale along with rights, titles and interest of the seller in Navsari Unit 
for a lumpsum consideration aggregating to Rs.19.50 Crores with effect from 2nd April, 2024.

The said consideration has been allocated to the Assets and Liabilities based on the respective fair value 
as determined by the independent valuer.  The difference between the fair value of the net assets taken 
over and the lumpsum consideration paid aggregating to Rs. 4.18 Crores has been accounted as capital 
reserve and disclosed in note No.8(b) to the financial statements.

Particulars Rs. Crores
Land 13.02
Buildings 7.18
Plant & Equipment 3.24
Vehicles 0.13
Sub-total 23.57
Net Current Assets 0.11
Net Assets 23.68
Less : Purchase Consideration 19.50
Capital Reserve 4.18

As at the reporting date, Land and Buildings are transferred in the name of the Company and the 
conveyance deed registered with jurisdictional Sub-registrar office based at Navsari, State of Gujarat on 
09th April, 2024.  As per the BTA, the employees of Navsari were absorbed on the rolls of the Company 
effective from 09th April, 2024.  The liability towards terminal benefits like gratuity, PF and leave 
encashment payable to the employees as on 09th April, 2024 has been settled by the seller.  Accordingly 
as per the BTA, the Company has duly  provided accrued liability for terminal benefits including the 
employees of Navsari unit as at the reporting date.

The statement of Profit and Loss accounts of the Company includes revenue earned and the expenses 
incurred by Navsari Unit for the period from 09th April 2024 to 31st March, 2025, as the Company has 
taken over the management control of Navsari Unit from 09th April, 2024 and all key activities are 
directed and controlled by the Company effective from 09th April, 2024.
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Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated 

34 Disclosure of information in terms of section 186 (4) of the Companies Act, 2013 : 

Name of entity Nature of 
relationship 31 March 2025 31 March 2024

Carrying amount of investments made:

IPL Sugars and Bio fuels Limited Related Party  1.00  1.00 

Jordan Phosphate Mines Company PLC Related Party  649.69  649.69 

Vizag Multipurpose Terminal Private 
Limited Related Party  18.51  6.01 

Wisekey India Private Limited Related Party  0.01  0.01 

Indian Commodity Exchange Limited Not a related Party  21.34  21.34 

BSE Limited Not a related Party  32.02  14.70 

 IRFC Tax Free Bonds Not a related Party  8.66  8.59 

 NHAI Tax Free Bonds  Not a related Party  30.73  30.60 

 HUDCO Tax Free Bonds Not a related Party  15.44  15.84 

BOB Perpetual Bond Not a related Party  125.16  181.98 

Union Bank of India Perpetual Bond Not a related Party  141.49  59.94 

Canara Bank Perpetual Bond Not a related Party  80.67  55.34 

PNB Perpetual Bond Not a related Party  175.35  175.35 

Bank of Maharashtra Perpetual Bond Not a related Party  25.31  -   

Bank of India Perpetual Bond Not a related Party  25.27  -   

Cholamandalam Investment and Finance 
Co. Ltd Perpetual bond Not a related Party  150.11  -   

Tata International Ltd Perpetual bond Not a related Party  10.08  -   

Telangana State Industrial Infrastructure 
Corporation Perpetual bond Not a related Party  102.31  -   

Tata Industries Ltd Non - Convertible 
Debentures Not a related Party  12.25  -   

SBI Perpetual Bond Not a related Party  100.19  90.21 
Sub- total (A)  1,725.59 1,310.60
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Notes forming part of Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025  
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated 

34 Disclosure of information in terms of section 186 (4) of the Companies Act, 2013 :  (Continued)

Name of entity Nature of 
relationship Purpose 31 March 2025 31 March 2024

Loans given:

IPL Sugars and Bio Fuels Ltd.   
(Formally known as IPL Sugars 
& Allied Industries Ltd)"

Related Party
Business 

needs and 
exigencies

 52.18  51.42 

Sub- total (B)  52.18  51.42 

Grand Total (A + B) 1,777.77 1,362.20

Note :  
a. Above Loans are unsecured and figures include accrued interest.  
b. Loans to employees have been considered to be outside the purview of this disclosure requirement
35 Events after the reporting period    

 Subsequent to period end, the Company has proposed final dividend of Rs. 20 per fully paid share 
(Previous year : Rs. 7.50), subject to the approval of shareholders in the ensuing annual general 
meeting (Refer note 32)    

36 Previous Year's figures are recast/regrouped wherever necessary to confirm to the classification of 
the current year. 

As per our report of even date 
For M S K A & Associates         
Chartered Accountants 
Firm Registration Number: 105047W 

Pankaj Kumar Bansal  
Chairman 
DIN: 05197128 

Rakesh Kapur 
Director 
DIN:  00007230

Girish Kumar 
Company Secretary

Place: New Delhi
Date : 10th June 2025

Geetha Jeyakumar 
Partner
Membership No.: 029409  

Place : Chennai
Date : 10th June 2025

P.S. Gahlaut 
Managing Director 
DIN: 00049401

Sudhir Bhargava 
Director 
DIN: 00247515

R. Srinivasan 
Chief Financial Officer
  

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors  
Indian Potash Limited  
CIN:U14219TN1955PLC000961  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF INDIAN POTASH LIMITED 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of Indian Potash Limited 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Holding Company”),  
its subsidiaries (Holding Company and its 
subsidiary together referred to as “the Group”), 
its associates and jointly controlled entity, which 
comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 
March 31, 2025 and the Consolidated Statement 
of Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive 
Income, the Consolidated Statement of Changes 
in Equity and the Consolidated Statement of 
Cash Flows for the year then ended, and notes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements, including 
material accounting policy information and other 
explanatory information (hereinafter referred to 
as the “consolidated financial statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information 
and according to the explanations given to us, 
and based on consideration of reports of other 
auditors on separate financial statements and on 
the other financial information of the subsidiary, 
associate and jointly controlled entity, except 
for the possible effects of the matter described 
in Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our 
report, the aforesaid consolidated financial 
statements give the information required by the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner 
so required and give a true and fair view in 
conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards 
prescribed under section 133 of the Act read 
with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015, as amended (“Ind AS”) and other 
accounting principles generally accepted in India, 
of their consolidated state of affairs of the Group, 
its associate and jointly controlled entity as at 
March 31, 2025, of consolidated profit and other 
comprehensive income, consolidated changes 
in equity and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

As fully explained in Note 24(C) to the standalone 
financial statements, there is an ongoing 

investigation conducted by the Central Bureau 
of Investigation (“CBI”) against the Holding 
Company’s Managing Director, one of its Directors 
and their relatives, who were mentioned in the 
CBI First Information Report (the “FIR”), wherein 
the CBI alleged that the Holding Company had 
imported fertilizers at inflated prices, claimed 
higher subsidies from Government of India 
and made payment of commission by overseas 
supplier through complex transactions to the 
persons mentioned in the CBI FIR, resulting in 
the diversion and siphoning of funds abroad 
during the period 2007-2014, during which 
period the accounts were audited by another firm 
of Chartered Accountants.

Further, during May 2021, a writ petition had been 
filed before the Hon’ble High Court of Delhi (“the 
High Court”) for quashing and setting aside the 
FIR on grounds of lack of jurisdictional powers of 
the authorities and the High Court, vide its order 
dated May 31, 2021, had directed in this respect 
that no coercive steps shall be taken against the 
Holding Company and the above-named persons. 
The matter is pending on account of the ongoing 
investigation by the CBI, while writ petition is still 
pending in the High Court. Pending completion 
of investigation by the CBI, the Board of Directors 
of the Holding Company has not carried out 
any independent investigation and hence, any 
alleged non- compliances with the laws and 
regulations including under the Indian Penal 
Code, 1860 and the Prevention of Corruption 
Act, 1988, if any, that may arise on completion 
of such investigation and the consequential 
impact of the same on the Consolidated financial 
statements of the Company for the year ended 
March, 31, 2025 is not ascertainable at this stage.

This matter was also qualified in the previous 
year’s audit report on the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended March 31, 2024. 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with the 
Standards on Auditing (SAs), as specified under 
section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities 
under those Standards are further described in 

Account Policy Changed  2023-24  - 26-05-
2025
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the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Group, 
its associate and jointly controlled entity in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements in terms of the Code of 
Ethics issued by Institute of Chartered Accountant 
of India (“ICAI”), and the relevant provisions of 
the Act and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Key Audit Matters

The following Key Audit Matters were included in 
the audit report dated March 24, 2025, containing 
an unmodified audit opinion on the Consolidated 

financial statements for the year ended December 
31, 2024 of Jordan Phosphates Mines Company 
(“the Associate Group”), an Associate Company of 
the Holding Company issued by an independent 
firm and reproduced by us as under:

Key audit matters are those matters that, 
in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended March 
31, 2025. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to 
the matters described in the Basis for Qualified 
Opinion section we have determined the matters 
described below to be the key audit matters to 
be communicated in our report:

No Key Audit Matter How the Key Audit Matter was addressed in 
the audit

1. Revenue recognition (Refer Note 22 to 
Consolidated financial statements of 
Jordan Phosphate Mines Company – 
Associate Group)

The Associate Group focuses on revenue 
as one of its main performance measures, 
and given the importance of the amounts 
and the geographical diversity of the 
Associate Group's operations and the 
ease with which these revenues are 
exposed to the risks of overstatement in 
value and fraud, we consider the revenue 
recognition as a key audit matter. Revenues 
are recognized when the Associate Group 
meets the performance obligations in 
accordance with the contracts signed 
with customers when the goods are sold 
to customers and the invoice is issued, 
which usually occurred at a specific point 
in time.

The audit procedures in respect of this area 
includes:

The audit procedures included an assessment 
of the Associate Group’s accounting policies 
for revenue recognition in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards. We 
also tested the Associate Group’s internal controls 
around revenue recognition and key controls 
within the revenue cycle.

We have tested the accuracy of revenue recognition 
by selecting a sample of sales invoices and match 
them with contracts and selling prices agreed 
upon.

We have tested a sample of revenues journal 
entries recorded during the year based on 
predetermined standards.

We have selected a sample of revenues before and 
after year-end to ensure proper recording in the 
proper period.

We have also performed detailed revenue analysis 
using financial and non-financial information.
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2. Provisions for employees’ benefits 
(Refer Note 16 to Consolidated financial 
statements of Jordan Phosphate Mines 
Company – Associate Group)

The Associate Group has different 
employee benefit plans such as defined 
contribution plans whereas the Associate 
Group’s financial obligations are limited 
to the Company’s share of contribution 
or defined benefit plans “Death and 
Compensation fund”.

The measurement of the Death and 
Compensation fund provision is 
considered a key audit matter because 
the balance as of 31 December 2024 
amounting to JD 60,422 thousand is 
material to the Associate’s Consolidated 
financial statements.

Furthermore, measuring the defined 
benefit obligations plans liability using 
the projected unit credit method requires 
used certain assumptions related to 
the present value of future expected 
payments and the actuarial assumptions 
related to the resignation rates, salary 
increase rates and discount rates. Whereas 
the calculation of the defined benefit 
obligations plans liability is performed 
in accordance with actuarial studies as 
required by International Accounting 
Standards (IAS 19) “Employees benefits”.

The audit procedures in respect of this area 
includes:

The audit procedures included an assessment of 
the accounting policies followed by the Associate 
Group to recognize liabilities. Moreover, we 
involved our valuation experts to assist us in 
evaluating the assumptions and methodologies 
used by the actuarial expert, specifically those 
related to discount rates, resignation rates, salary 
increase rates and mortality rates. Nevertheless, 
we have assessed the extent of the independence 
and the qualification of the actuarial expert.

We tested the accuracy of the assumptions 
and information used in the calculation of the 
employees’ benefits liabilities by taking a sample 
of employees’ contracts and payroll slips.

We evaluated the sufficiency of disclosures made 
by the Associate Group regarding assumptions 
used in the measurement of these liabilities 
in accordance with International Accounting 
Standards (IAS 19).

Information Other than the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report 
Thereon

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is 
responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the information included 
in the Director’s report but does not include 
the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements does not cover the other information 

and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the 
other information that we obtained prior to the 
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date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard

Responsibilities of Management and Those 
Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is 
responsible for the preparation and presentation 
of these consolidated financial statements in 
term of the requirements of the Act that give a 
true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position, consolidated financial performance, 
consolidated changes in equity and consolidated 
cash flows of the Group including its Associate 
and Jointly controlled entity in accordance with 
the accounting principles generally accepted 
in India, including the Accounting Standards 
specified under section 133 of the Act. The 
respective Management and Board of Directors 
of the companies included in the Group and 
of its associate and jointly controlled entity 
are responsible for maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets 
of the Group and of its associate and jointly 
controlled entity for preventing and detecting 
frauds and other irregularities; the selection 
and application of appropriate accounting 
policies; making judgments and estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent; and the 
design, implementation and maintenance of 
adequate internal financial controls, that were 
operating effectively for ensuring accuracy 
and completeness of the accounting records, 
relevant to the preparation and presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view and are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, which have been used for the purpose 
of preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements by the Management and Board of 
Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial 
statements, the respective Management and 

Board of Directors of the companies included 
in the Group and of its associate and jointly 
controlled entity are responsible for assessing 
the ability of the Group and of its associate and 
jointly controlled entity to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors 
either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so.

The respective Board of Directors of the 
companies included in the Group and of its 
associates and jointly controlled entity are 
responsible for overseeing the financial reporting 
process of each company.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Standards on 
Auditing (“SAs”) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these consolidated financial statements.

We give in “Annexure A” a detailed description 
of Auditor’s responsibilities for Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Other Matters

We did not audit the financial statements of one 
subsidiary whose financial statements reflect 
total assets of Rs. 24.99 Crores as at March 31, 
2025, total Income of Rs.0.01 Crores and net 
cash outflow flows amounting to Rs.0.01 Crores 
for the year ended on that date, as considered 
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in the consolidated financial statements. The 
consolidated financial statements also include 
the Group’s share of net profit including total 
other comprehensive income of Rs. 1,479.76 
crores for the year ended December 31, 2024 
as considered in the consolidated financial 
statements, in respect of one associate, whose 
financial statements have not been audited by us. 
These financial statements have been audited by 
other auditors whose reports have been furnished 
to us by the Management and our opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements, in so far as it 
relates to the amounts and disclosures included 
in respect of the subsidiary and associate and our 
report in terms of sub-section (3) of Section 143 
of the Act, in so far as it relates to the aforesaid 
subsidiary and associate, is based solely on the 
reports of the other auditors.

The associate is located outside India whose 
financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in their respective countries and 
which have been audited by other auditors 
under generally accepted auditing standards 
applicable in their respective countries. The 
Holding Company’s management has converted 
the financial statements of such associate 
located outside India from accounting principles 
generally accepted in their respective countries 
to accounting principles generally accepted 
in India. We have audited these conversion 
adjustments made by the Holding Company’s 
management. Our opinion in so far as it relates 
to the balances and affairs of such associate 
located outside India is based on the report of 
other auditors and the conversion adjustments 
prepared by the management of the Holding 
Company and audited by us.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements is not modified in respect of the 
above matters.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements

1.  As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, 
based on our audit and on the consideration 

of the reports of the other auditors on 
the Separate Financial Statements of the 
subsidiary referred to in the Other Matters 
section above we report, to the extent 
applicable, that:

a.  We have sought and obtained all the 
information and explanations which to 
the best of our knowledge and belief were 
necessary for the purposes of our audit of the 
aforesaid consolidated financial statements.

b.  In our opinion, proper books of account as 
required by law relating to preparation of the 
aforesaid consolidated financial statements 
have been kept and so far as it appears from 
our examination of those books and the 
reports of the other auditors except for the 
effects of the matters described in the Basis 
for Qualified Opinion Paragraph above and 
for the matters stated in the paragraph 1(i)
(vi) below on reporting under Rule 11(g). 

c.  The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
including other comprehensive income, 
the Consolidated Statement of Changes 
in Equity and the Consolidated Statement 
of Cash Flow dealt with by this Report 
are in agreement with the relevant books 
of account maintained for the purpose of 
preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements.

d.  Except for the effects of the matter 
described in Basis for Qualified Opinion 
section above, in our opinion, the aforesaid 
consolidated financial statements comply 
with the Accounting Standards specified 
under Section 133 of the Act.

e. The matter described in Basis of Qualified 
Opinion section of our report, in our 
opinion, may have an adverse effect on the 
functioning of the Group.

f.  On the basis of the written representations 
received from the directors of the holding 
company as on March 31, 2025 taken on 
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record by the Board of Directors of the 
Holding company and jointly controlled 
entity and the reports of the statutory 
auditors of its subsidiary company and 
incorporated in India, none of the directors of 
the Group companies, and jointly controlled 
entity incorporated in India are disqualified 
as on March 31, 2025 from being appointed 
as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of 
the Act.

g. The reservation relating to the maintenance 
of accounts and other matters connected 
therewith are as stated in the basis of 
opinion paragraph above and paragraph 2(i)
(vi) below on reporting under Rule 11(g).

h.  With respect to the adequacy of internal 
financial controls with reference to 
consolidated financial statements of the 
Group, and the operating effectiveness of 
such controls, refer to our separate report in 
“Annexure B”.

i. With respect to the other matters to 
be included in the Auditor’s Report in 
accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies 
(Audit and Auditor’s) Rules, 2014, in our 
opinion and to the best of our information 
and according to the explanations given to 
us and based on the consideration of the 
reports of the other auditors on separate/ 
consolidated financial statements of the 
subsidiaries and associates as noted in the 
“Other Matters” paragraph:  

 i.  The consolidated financial statements 
disclose the impact of pending 
litigations on the consolidated financial 
position of the Group, associate and 
jointly controlled entity – Refer Note 
24 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

ii.  The Group and jointly controlled entity 
did not have any material foreseeable 
losses on long-term contracts including 
derivative contracts.

iii.  There has been no delay in transferring 
amounts, required to be transferred, to 
the Investor Education and Protection 
Fund by the Holding Company and its 
subsidiary company and the jointly 
controlled entity incorporated in India.

iv.(a)The Managements of the Holding 
Company, its subsidiary and Jointly 
controlled entity which are Companies 
incorporated in India whose financial 
statements have been audited under 
the Act have represented to us and 
the other auditor of such subsidiary, 
respectively that, to the best of their 
knowledge and belief, as disclosed 
in the Note 30(g) to the Consolidated 
financial statements no funds have 
been advanced or loaned or invested 
(either from borrowed funds or share 
premium or any other sources or kind 
of funds) by the Holding Company 
or any of such subsidiary to or in any 
other person(s) or entity(ies), including 
foreign entities with the understanding, 
whether recorded in writing or 
otherwise, as on the date of this audit 
report, that such parties shall, directly 
or indirectly lend or invest in other 
persons or entities identified in any 
manner whatsoever by or on behalf of 
the Holding Company or any of such 
subsidiary (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) 
or provide any guarantee, security 
or the like on behalf of the Ultimate 
Beneficiaries.

(b) The Managements of the Holding 
Company, its subsidiary and Jointly 
controlled entity which are Companies 
incorporated in India whose financial 
statements have been audited under 
the Act have represented to us and 
the other auditor of such subsidiary, 
respectively that, to the best of their 
knowledge and belief, as disclosed 
in the Note 30(g) to the Consolidated 
financial statements no funds 
have been received by the Holding 
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Company or any of such subsidiary 
from any person(s) or entity(ies), 
including foreign entities with the 
understanding, whether recorded in 
writing or otherwise, as on the date 
of this audit report, that the Holding 
Company or any of such subsidiary 
shall, directly or indirectly, lend or 
invest in other persons or entities 
identified in any manner whatsoever 
by or on behalf of the Funding Party 
(“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide 
any guarantee, security or the like on 
behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(c)  Based on the audit procedures 
performed that have been considered 
reasonable and appropriate in the 
circumstances, and according to the 
information and explanations provided 
to us by the Management in this regard 
nothing has come to our notice that 
has caused us to believe that the 
representations under sub-clause (i) 
and (ii) of Rule 11(e) as provided under 
(a) and (b) above, contain any material 
mis-statement.

v.  On the basis of our verification and on 
consideration of the reports of the statutory 
auditors of subsidiaries and joint ventures 
that are Indian companies under the Act, we 
report that: 

 The final dividend paid by the Company 
during the year in respect of the same 
declared for the previous year is in 
accordance with section 123 of the Act to 
the extent it applies to payment of dividend.

 The Board of Directors of the Company has 
proposed final dividend for the year which 
is subject to the approval of the members 
at the ensuing Annual General Meeting. 
The dividend declared is in accordance 
with Section 123 of the Act to the extent 
it applies to declaration of dividend. (refer 
Note 35 to the standalone Financials)

vi.  Based on our examination which included 
test checks, in respect of holding company 
accounting software(s) for maintaining its 
books of account which has a feature of 
recording audit trail (edit log) facility, except 
in respect to one sugar division audit trail 
feature at the application level was enabled 
from January 5, 2024 and no audit trail 
feature was enabled at the database level 
in respect of certain accounting software(s) 
to log any direct data changes

Based on the other auditor’s reports and 
our audit report of its subsidiary company 
and Jointly controlled entity Incorporated in 
India respectively whose financial statements 
have been audited under the Act, accounting 
software(s) used for maintaining their respective 
books of account for the year ended March 31, 
2025, which have a feature of recording audit 
trail (edit log) facility and the same has operated 
throughout the year for all relevant transactions 
recorded in the software(s), and further, during 
the course of audit we and the other auditor of 
above referred subsidiary did not come across 
any instance of audit trail feature being tampered 
with.

Additionally, the audit trail of prior year(s) 
has been preserved by the Holding Company 
and for the above referred subsidiary and 
Jointly controlled entity as per the statutory 
requirements for record retention to the extent 
it was enabled and recorded in respective years.

2.  In our opinion, according to information, 
explanations given to us, the remuneration 
paid by the holding Company, to its directors 
is within the limits laid prescribed under 
Section 197 read with Schedule V of the Act 
and the rules thereunder except in case of 
subsidiary, and jointly controlled entity, as 
the provisions of the aforesaid section is not 
applicable to private companies.
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Sr. 
No

Name of the Company CIN Type of Company 
(Holding /
Subsidiary/ 
Associate)

Clause number of 
the CARO Report 
which is qualified 

or Adverse

1 Indian Potash Limited U14219TN1955PLC000961 Holding (xi) (a)

2 IPL Sugars and Biofuels 
Limited

U15122DL2011PLC217940 Wholly Owned 
Subsidiary

Nil

3 Vizag Multipurpose 
Terminal Private Limited

U52242MH2023PTC398141 Jointly Controlled 
Entity

Nil

For M S K A & Associates
Chartered Accountants

ICAI Firm Registration No. 105047W

Geetha Jeyakumar
Partner

Membership No. 029409
UDIN :  25029409BMMIQM7897

Place  :  Chennai
Date   :   10th June, 2025

3.  According to the information and explanations given to us and based on the CARO report issued 
by us for the Holding Company and on consideration of CARO report issued by statutory auditor of 
Subsidiary and jointly controlled entity included in the consolidated financial statement we report 
the details of Qualifications/adverse remarks made by us, respective auditors of the subsidiary and 
jointly controlled entity in the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order 2020 (CARO) Reports issued till 
the date of our audit report for the companies included in the consolidated financial statements 
are as follows:
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ANNEXURE A TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT OF EVEN DATE ON THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIAN POTASH LIMITED
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements
As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
 Identify and assess the risks of material 

misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

  Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, 
we are also responsible for expressing our opinion 
on whether the Holding Company has adequate 
internal financial controls with reference to 
consolidated financial statements in place and the 
operating effectiveness of such controls.

  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the 
management and board of directors.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the 
management and board of director’s use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the ability of 
the Group and its associates and jointly controlled 
entity to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group and its 
associate and jointly controlled entity to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group 
and its associate and jointly controlled entity to 
express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the audit of the 
financial statements of such entities included in 
the consolidated financial statements of which we 
are the independent auditors. For the other entities 
or business activities included in the consolidated 
financial statements, which have been audited 
by other auditors, such other auditors remain 
responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audits carried out by them. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
of the Holding Company and such other entities 
included in the consolidated financial statements of 
which we are the independent auditors regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with 
a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.

For M S K A & Associates
Chartered Accountants

ICAI Firm Registration No. 105047W

Geetha Jeyakumar
Partner

Membership No. 029409
UDIN :  25029409BMMIQM7897

Place  :  Chennai
Date   :  10th June, 2025
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ANNEXURE B TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT OF EVEN DATE ON 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIAN POTASH LIMITED
[Referred to in paragraph 1 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ in the Independent 
Auditors’ Report of even date to the Members of Indian Potash Limited on the consolidated Financial 
Statements for the year ended March 31,2025

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

Opinion

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the 
year ended March 31,2025, we have audited the internal financial controls reference to consolidated 
financial statements of Indian Potash Limited(hereinafter referred to as “the Holding Company”) which 
includes the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the Holding Company’s and its 
subsidiary company (the Holding Company and its subsidiary together referred to as “the Group”), and 
jointly controlled entity, which are companies incorporated in India, as of that date.

In our opinion, and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
the Group and its jointly controlled company, which are companies incorporated in India, have, in 
all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial 
statements and such internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements 
were operating effectively as at March 31, 2025, based on the internal financial controls with reference 
to consolidated financial statements criteria established by the respective companies considering the 
essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India (“ICAI”).

Management’s and Board of Director’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The respective Management and the Board of Directors of the Group and its jointly controlled company, 
which are companies incorporated in India, are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal 
financial controls based on the internal control with reference to consolidated financial statements 
criteria established by the respective companies considering the essential components of internal control 
stated in the Guidance Note issued by ICAI. These responsibilities include the design, implementation 
and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the 
orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the respective company’s policies, 
the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and 
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, 
as required under the Act.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to 
consolidated financial statements of the Group and jointly controlled company, which are companies 
incorporated in India, based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance 
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Note issued by the ICAI and the Standards on Auditing prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act, to 
the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls. Those Standards and the Guidance Note 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial 
statements was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material 
respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements and their operating effectiveness. 
Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements included 
obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial 
statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design 
and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by the other 
auditors in terms of their reports referred to in the Other Matter paragraph below, is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to 
consolidated financial statements of the Group and, jointly controlled company, which are companies 
incorporated in India.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls With Reference to Consolidated Financial Statements

A Company's internal financial control with reference to consolidated financial statements is a process 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial control with reference to consolidated 
financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance 
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions 
of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as 
necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial 
statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls With Reference to Consolidated Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial 
statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, 
material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements to 
future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control with reference to consolidated 
financial statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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Other Matter

Our aforesaid report under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of 
the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements insofar as it relates 
to one subsidiary company, which is a company incorporated in India, is based on the corresponding 
reports of the auditor of such subsidiary company.

For M S K A & Associates 
Chartered Accountants

ICAI Firm Registration No. 105047W

Geetha Jeyakumar 
Partner

Membership No. 029409
UDIN :  25029409BMMIQM7897

Place  :  Chennai
Date   :  10th June, 2025
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated financial statements.

ASSETS   
Non-current assets   

Property, plant and equipment 2 (a)   1,541.86   1,212.15 
Capital work-in-progress 2(b)   83.38   217.04 
Right-of-use assets 2(c)   523.85   108.95 
Investment Property 2(d)   14.01   14.44 
Intangible assets 3  0.59   0.68 
Investments accounted for using equity method 31  5,760.31   5,115.25 
Financial assets   

  i.  Investments 4(a)(i)  1,194.83   654.03 
 ii.  Other financial assets 4(f)  94.68   30.31 

Other non-current assets  6  1,659.12  24.37 
Total non-current assets   10,872.63   7,377.22 

Current assets   
Inventories 7  4,689.84   3,791.79 
Financial assets   

 i.  Investments 4(a)(ii)  794.99   -   
 ii.  Trade receivables 4(b)  4,507.11   3,669.76 
 iii.  Cash and cash equivalents 4(c)  367.18   610.41 
 iv.  Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents 4(d)  53.88   3.24 
 v.  Loans 4(e)  16.19   4.26 
 vi.  Other financial assets 4(f)  175.62   115.24 

Other current assets 6  632.41   2,049.48 
Total current assets   11,237.22  10,244.18 
TOTAL ASSETS   22,109.85   17,621.40 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   
Equity   
Equity share capital 8(a)  28.60   28.60 
Other equity 8(b)  11,292.89   9,487.61 
TOTAL EQUITY   11,321.49  9,516.21 

LIABILITIES   
Non-current liabilities   

Financial liabilities   
 i.  Borrowings 9(a)(i)  71.80   124.99 
 ii.  Lease liabilities 2(c)   12.96   10.14 
 iii.  Other financial liabilities 9(c)  128.45   114.35 

Deferred tax liabilities (net) 5  1,174.64   986.12 
Provisions 10  1.86   1.68 
Other Non - Current liabilities 12  5.66   - 
Total non-current liabilities   1,395.37   1,237.28 

Current liabilities   
Financial liabilities   
 i.  Borrowings 9(a)(ii)  5,191.99   4,449.69 
 ii.  Lease liabilities 2(c)   6.34   4.78 
 iii.  Trade payables 9(b)  
  - total outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises   4.71   4.83 
  - total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and   3,742.41   2,047.04 
     small enterprises
 iv.  Other financial liabilities 9(c)  190.26   235.16 

Provisions 10  22.02   23.13 
Current tax liabilities (net) 11  178.07   41.77 
Other current liabilities 12  57.19   61.51

Total current liabilities   9,392.99  6,867.91 
Total liabilities   10,788.36   8,105.19 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   22,109.85   17,621.40

As per our report of even date 
For M S K A & Associates 
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration Number: 105047W

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Indian Potash Limited 
Pankaj Kumar Bansal 
Chairman 
DIN: 05197128 
Rakesh Kapur 
Director 
DIN: 00007230 
Girish Kumar
Company Secretary
Place: New Delhi
Date : 10th June 2025

Geetha Jeyakumar
Partner
Membership No. 029409 

Place : Chennai
Date : 10th June 2025

P.S. Gahlaut 
Managing Director 
DIN: 00049401 
Sudhir Bhargava 
Director 
DIN: 00247515 
R. Srinivasan 
Chief Financial Officer 
 

Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated CIN No. : U14219TN1955PLC000961

Particulars Note As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024
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As per our report of even date 
For M S K A & Associates 
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration Number: 105047W

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Indian Potash Limited 
Pankaj Kumar Bansal 
Chairman 
DIN: 05197128 
Rakesh Kapur 
Director 
DIN: 00007230 
Girish Kumar
Company Secretary
Place: New Delhi
Date : 10th June 2025

Geetha Jeyakumar
Partner
Membership No. 029409 

Place : Chennai
Date : 10th June 2025

P.S. Gahlaut 
Managing Director 
DIN: 00049401 
Sudhir Bhargava 
Director 
DIN: 00247515 
R. Srinivasan 
Chief Financial Officer 
 

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  CIN No. : U14219TN1955PLC000961 

Particulars Note Year Ended
31 March 2025

Year Ended
31 March 2024

Income   

Revenue from operations 13  20,688.91   20,946.43 

Other income 14  223.07  297.91 

Total income   20,911.98  21,244.34 

Expenses   

Cost of materials consumed  15  1,414.24   1,228.22 

Purchases of stock-in-trade   16,855.11   16,582.31 

Changes in inventories of work-in-progress, stock-in-trade and finished goods 16  (851.06)  231.04 

Employee benefits expense 17  131.53   129.97 

Finance costs 18  499.42   383.76 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 19  68.37   60.71 

Other expenses 20  2,056.71  2,374.57 

Total expenses   20,174.32  20,990.58 

Profit before share of profit of associate and tax   737.66   253.76 

Share of profit before tax of Associate & Jointly Controlled Entity 31  1,948.97   1,959.42 

Profit before tax   2,686.63   2,213.18 

Income tax expense 21.  

Current tax   420.44  253.00 

Share of Current tax of Associate & Jointly Controlled Entity 31  469.17   530.47 

Deferred tax charge   135.67   171.88 

Total tax expense   1,025.28   955.35 

Profit for the year   1,661.35   1,257.83 

Other comprehensive income   

Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss:   

Debt instruments through other comprehensive income 8(b)  (0.20)  (3.32)

Exchange difference on translation on foreign operations  8(b)  205.01   36.94 

Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified to profit or loss(FVOCI)   (50.83)  (5.87)

    153.98   27.75 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:   

Gain/ losses on equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive 8(b)  17.52   13.91
income (FVTOCI) 

Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations 8(b)  4.49   (5.61)

Share of other comprehensive income of associate accounted using equity method 8(b)  (12.76)  0.46 

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss   (2.02)  2.13 

    7.23  10.89 

Total other comprehensive Income, net of tax   161.20  38.64 

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax   1,822.55  1,296.47 

Earnings per equity share of Rs.10 each 22.  

  Basic (in Rs.)   580.95  439.84 

  Diluted (in Rs.)    580.95   439.84

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2025   
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
a. Equity share capital  

Particulars Note As at 31 March 2025
 No of Shares Amount

Balance as at 1 April 2023  2,85,97,200  28.60 

Changes in equity share capital during 2023-24 8(a)  -    -   

Balance as at 31 March 2024  2,85,97,200  28.60 
Changes in equity share capital during 2024-25 8(a)  -   
Balance as at 31 March 2025  2,85,97,200  28.60 

b.  Other Equity

As per our report of even date 
For M S K A & Associates
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration Number: 105047W

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Indian Potash Limited 

Pankaj Kumar Bansal 
Chairman 
DIN: 05197128 

Rakesh Kapur 
Director 
DIN: 00007230 

Girish Kumar
Company Secretary

Place: New Delhi
Date : 10th June 2025

Geetha Jeyakumar
Partner
Membership No.: 029409 

Place : Chennai
Date : 10th June 2025

P.S. Gahlaut 
Managing Director 
DIN: 00049401 

Sudhir Bhargava 
Director 
DIN: 00247515
 
R. Srinivasan 
Chief Financial Officer 
 

Particulars

Other Equity
Total 

Equity
attribut-
able to
Equity 

holders 
of the 
Group

Reserves & surplus  
(Refer note 8(b))

Other Comprehensive
 Income (OCI)(Refer 

note 8(b))
Capital 
reserve

General 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Molasses 
Storage 
Facility 
Reserve 

Fund

Debt 
instrument 

through other 
comprehen-
sive income

Equity 
instrument 

through 
other com-
prehensive 

income

Foreign 
Currency 

translation 
reserve

-Opening balance as at 1 April 2023  100.52   415.57   7,348.65   1.73   49.20   2.30   293.19   8,211.16 

Profit for the year  -     -     1,257.83   -     -     -     -     1,257.83 

Other comprehensive income /Losses (net of tax)  -     -     (5.15)  -     0.11   14.72   28.96   38.64 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -     -     1,252.68   -     0.11   14.72   28.96   1,296.47 

Transfer to Molasses Storage Facility Reserve   -     -     (0.16)  0.16   -     -     -     - 
Fund (Refer Note 8(b))  

Final dividend  -     -     (20.02)  -     -     -     -     (20.02)

Closing balance As at 31 March 2024  100.52   415.57   8,581.15   1.89   49.31   17.02   322.15   9,487.61 
Opening balance as at 1 April 2024  100.52   415.57   8,581.15   1.89   49.31   17.02   322.15   9,487.61 
Profit for the year - -  1,661.35  - - - -  1,661.35 

Acquistion of Navsari unit (Refer note 36)  4.18   -  - - - - -  4.18 

Other comprehensive income /Losses (net of tax) - -  (6.19) -  0.59   13.41   153.39   161.20 

Total comprehensive income for the year  4.18   -     1,655.16   -     0.59   13.41   153.39   1,826.73 

Molasses Storage Facilities Reserve Fund)  -     -     (0.26)  0.26   -     -     -     -
(Refer Note 8(b)

Final dividend  -     -     (21.45)  -     -     -     -     (21.45)

Closing balance as at 31 March 2025  104.70   415.57   10,214.60   2.15   49.90   30.43   475.54   11,292.89

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2025
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated CIN No. : U14219TN1955PLC000961  

Particulars Year ended 
31 March 2025

Year ended 
31 March 2024

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit before tax  2,686.63  2,213.18 

Adjustments for

Depreciation and amortisation expense  68.37  60.71 

Finance costs  499.42  383.76 

Unrealised Exchange difference on translation of assets and liabilities  9.72  22.13 

Impairment of Good will  -    4.10 

Provision for doubtful trade and other receivables, loans and 
advances,(Written back)/ made

 (22.19)  43.82 

Share of net profits of investments accounted for using equity method  (1,948.97)  (1,959.42)

Dividend from Investments  (0.09)  (0.36)

Interest Income on financial assets  (73.32)  (58.58)

Profit on sale of investments, net  (96.68)  (84.76)

(Profit) /Loss on disposal of PPE, net  (0.29)  0.20 
Operating Profit before working captial changes  1,122.60  624.78 
Change in operating assets and liabilities

(Increase)/ Decrease in trade receivables  (802.53)  1,734.47 

Increase in other financial assets  (100.87)  (6.92)

(Increase)/ Decrease in other non-current assets  (1,634.75)  35.87 

Decrease/ (Increase) in other current assets  1,417.07  (343.12)

(Increase)/ Decrease in inventories  (898.05)  221.05 

Increase/ (Decrease) in trade payables  1,709.46  (3,296.81)

Decrease in other financial liabilities  (30.80)  (15.65)

Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions  3.56  (69.46)

Increase / (Decrease) in other liabilities  2.11  (32.32)

Cash generated from/ (used) in operations  787.80  (1,148.11)

Less: Income taxes paid  (284.14)  (320.88)

Net cash generated from/ (used in) operating activities  503.66  (1,468.99)

Cash flow from investing activities:

Payments for property, plant and equipment, intangible assets,ROU and 
capital work in progress

 (656.04)  (256.19)

Acquisition of Business unit ( Refer note 36)  (19.50)  -   

Sale proceeds of property, plant and equipment  1.21  0.31 

Net Increase in non current investments  (536.17)  (241.30)

Investment in Mutual Funds sold (net of Purchases)  (696.28)  146.17 

Net increase in bank deposits  (50.64)  184.16 

Dividend received from Investments  1,040.18  785.87 

Interest received on financial assets  36.13  56.59 

Net cash (used in) / Generated from investing activities  (881.11)  675.61 
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Consolidated  Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated CIN No. : U14219TN1955PLC000961

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated financial statements. 
 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Indian Potash Limited 

Pankaj Kumar Bansal 
Chairman 
DIN: 05197128 

Rakesh Kapur 
Director 
DIN: 00007230 

Girish Kumar
Company Secretary

Place: New Delhi
Date : 10th June 2025

As per our report of even date 
For M S K A & Associates  
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration Number: 105047W

Geetha Jeyakumar
Partner
Membership No. 029409 

Place : Chennai
Date : 10th June 2025

P.S. Gahlaut 
Managing Director 
DIN: 00049401 

Sudhir Bhargava 
Director 
DIN: 00247515
 
R. Srinivasan 
Chief Financial Officer 
 

 

Particulars Year ended 
31 March 2025

Year ended 
31 March 2024

Cash flow from financing activities

Repayment from long term borrowings  (86.44)  (75.40)

Proceeds from long term borrowings  23.60  100.88 

Proceeds from short term borrowings and cane bills payable to banks  741.04  575.96 

Principal paid on lease payments  (25.84)  (5.38)

Dividend paid on equity shares  (21.45)  (20.02)
Finance costs paid  (499.42)  (383.76)

Net cash generated from financing activities  131.49  192.28 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (245.96)  (601.10)

"Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the  
financial year"

 610.41  1,213.31 

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  2.73  (1.80)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  367.18  610.41 

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents as per statement of cash flows:

Cash and cash equivalents (refer note 4(c))  367.18  610.41 

Balances as per statement of cash flows  367.18  610.41 
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Overview and significant accounting policies

1.1. Group overview 

Indian Potash Limited (IPL) (‘Holding Company’) is a leading importer involved in distribution of Muriate 
of Potash, Di-Ammonium Phosphate, Sulphate of Potash, Urea, Rock Phosphate, Gypsum etc. across the 
country including certain in-accessible areas, duly serviced by Regional offices operating in almost all 
State Capitals. 

The Group is involved in the business of manufacturing of Cattle feed products, Milk and milk products, 
Sulphitation and refined Sugar and trading of Gold and other precious metals.  

Holding company along with its Associate and Jointly Controlled Entity is also involved in mining and 
marketing of Phosphate rock, logistics and cargo handling services.  

1.2. Basis of preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements

Compliance with Ind AS  

These Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards 
(Ind AS) under the historical cost convention on the accrual basis except for certain financial instruments 
which are measured at fair values, at the end of each reporting period as explained in the accounting 
policies below, and have complied in all material respects with the provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013 (‘the Act’) (to the extent notified). The Ind AS are prescribed under Section 133 of the Act read 
with Rule 3 of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 and relevant amendment rules 
issued thereafter.

Historical cost convention

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and 
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is 
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an 
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market 
participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the 
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these Consolidated 
Financial Statements is determined on such a basis, except for leasing transactions that are within the 
scope of Ind AS 116, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, 
such as net realisable value in Ind AS 2 or value in use in Ind AS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the entity can access at the measurement date;

 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e.as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);

 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025



148

Accounting policies have been consistently applied except where a newly-issued accounting standard 
is initially adopted or a revision to an existing accounting standard requires a change in the accounting 
policy hitherto in use.

1.2.1. Basis for consolidation
Indian Potash Limited consolidates entities which it owns or controls. The Consolidated Financial 
Statements comprise the Financial Statements of the Company and entities (including structured 
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiary. Control exists when the parent has power over 
the entity, is exposed, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns by using its power over the entity. Power is demonstrated through existing 
rights that give the ability to direct relevant activities, those which significantly affect the entity’s returns. 

Consolidation of subsidiary begins when the parent obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 
the parent loses control of its subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the Consolidated statement of profit and loss from the date 
the parent gains control until the date when the parent ceases to control the subsidiary.

The Financial Statements of the Group companies are Consolidated on a line-by-line basis and intra-
Group balances and transactions, including unrealized gain / loss from such transactions, are eliminated 
upon consolidation. These Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared by applying uniform 
accounting policies in use at the Group. Non-controlling interests which represent part of net profit 
or loss and net assets of subsidiaries that are not, directly or indirectly, owned or controlled by the 
Company, are excluded.

Name of the entity Country of 
Incorporation

% of Holding and voting power either directly or 
indirectly through subsidiary as at

31 March 2025 31 March 2024

IPL Sugars & Biofuels 
Limited  
(Early known as 
IPL Sugars and Allied 
Industries Limited) 

India 100% 100%

1.2.2  Investments in Associates and Jointly Controlled Entities 
An Associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the 
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or 
joint control over those policies.
The results and assets and liabilities of Associates or Jointly Controlled Entity are incorporated in these 
Consolidated Financial Statements using the equity method of accounting based on the accounting 
policy followed by the Associate. 
An investment in an Associate or a Jointly Controlled Entity is accounted for using the equity method 
from the date on which the investee becomes an Associate or a Jointly Controlled Entity. On acquisition 
of the investment in an Associate or a Jointly Controlled Entity, any excess of the cost of the investment 
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is 
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess 
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the 
investment, after reassessment, is recognised directly in equity as capital reserve in the period in which 
the investment is acquired.
After application of the equity method of accounting, the Group determines whether there is any objective 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
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evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of 
the net investment in an Associate or a Jointly Controlled Entity and that event (or events) has an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows from the net investment that can be reliably estimated. If there exists 
such an objective evidence of impairment, then it is necessary to recognise impairment loss with respect 
to the Group’s investment in an Associate or a Jointly Controlled Entity.

When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment in accordance 
with Ind AS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount with its 
carrying amount.  Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. 
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with Ind AS 36 to the extent that the 
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a Group entity transacts with an Associate or a Jointly Controlled Entity of the Group, profits and 
losses resulting from the transactions with the Associate or Jointly Controlled Entity are recognised in 
the Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements only to the extent of interests in the Associate or Jointly 
Controlled Entity that are not related to the Group.

The Financial Statements of the Associate are prepared as of a date different from that used by the 
Company.  Adjustments if any, are made for the effects of significant transactions or events that occur 
between that date and the date of the Company’s Financial Statements.  The difference between the end 
of the reporting period of the Associate and that of the Group is not more than three months. 

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be 
an Associate or a Jointly Controlled Entity, or when the investment is classified as held for sale.

1.3 Use of Estimates and Judgements
In preparing these Consolidated Financial Statements, Management has made judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

1.3.1.  Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis.  Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised prospectively.

1.3.2.  Judgements are made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on 
the amounts recognised in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

a.  NRV - Expenses related to purchases like freight subsidy is adjusted for calculating the NRV

b.  Tax provision - Management uses its judgement on the probability of the outcome of the case and 
accordingly provision is created.

1.3.3. Assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material 
adjustment are reviewed on an on-going basis.

The areas involving critical estimates and judgements are :

S.No. Note

1. Fair value measurements and valuation processes 
(including impairment evaluation) 1.8 & 1.9

2. Revenue recognition (including Sale of goods, principal vs agent 
considerations and Government Grant)w 1.4

3. Provision for doubtful receivables 1.9
4. Physical verification of inventories 1.6
5. Provision for employee benefits 1.14

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
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1.4. Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the value of the consideration received or receivable on sale of goods  / rendering 
of services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods are transferred to 
the customer.  The Group has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements, 
except for certain arrangements, because it typically controls the goods before transferring them to the 
customer.

For certain arrangements, the Group acts as either as a principal or an agent. The role of the Group either 
as an agent or a principal is determined based on evaluation of its role as a primary obligor, has the 
pricing latitude in the said arrangements, its exposure to inventory risks, on a case to case basis. If the 
Group is a principal, gross revenue is recognised and if the Group is an agent, net revenue / commission 
is recognised. 

The Group recognises revenue from sale of goods based on a five step model as set out in Ind AS 115, 
Revenue from contracts with customers.

The Group accounts for a contract when it has approval and commitment from the customer, the rights 
of the parties are identified, payment terms are identified, the contract has commercial substance and 
collectability of consideration is probable. The Group applies judgement in determining the customer’s 
ability and intention to pay based on a variety of factors including the customer’s historical payment 
experience.

The Group considers the terms of the contract in determining the transaction price. The transaction price 
is based upon the amount the Group expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring of promised 
goods and services to the customer after deducting returns, trade allowances and rebates and excludes 
applicable indirect taxes.

1.4.1. Sale of goods 

Revenue in respect of sale of goods is recognised at a point in time when control of the goods has 
transferred, being when the goods are delivered to the buyer, the buyer has full discretion over the 
goods and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the buyer’s acceptance of the goods. 
Revenue from the sales is recognised based on price specified in the contract. The Group accounts for 
volume discounts, other discounts and pricing rebates to customers as a reduction of revenue based on 
the rateable allocation of the discounts/rebates amount to each of the underlying revenue transaction 
that results in progress by the customer towards earning the discount/rebate. 

1.4.2. Government Grant 

Subsidy income is from sale of products recognised on the basis of the rate notified from time to time 
by the Government of India in accordance with Nutrient Based Subsidy (NBS) policy on the quantity of 
Fertilizers sold by the Group for the period for which notification has been issued. 

Freight and other subsidies are recognised based on the notified rates/policy and when there is a 
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with all necessary conditions attached to Subsidy.

Cane subsidy for the Sugar operations from the State Government is recognised when there is reasonable 
assurance that the subsidy will be received and all attaching conditions are complied with.

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
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1.4.3. Other income 

Other income comprises primarily of interest income, dividend income, exchange gain / loss on forward 
contracts and on translation of other assets and liabilities. Interest income is recognised using the 
effective interest method and accounted on accrual basis. Dividend income is recognised when the right 
to receive payment is established.  

Interest on trade receivables, dispatch/demurrage claim and compensation/recoveries made from 
Government of India are accounted as and when received, on account of uncertainty in their collection.

Insurance claims are accounted for on the basis of claims admitted and to the extent that the amount 
recoverable can be measured reliably and it is reasonable to expect ultimate collection.

1.5. Property,  plant and equipment

Freehold land is carried at historical cost and is not depreciated.  All other items of property, plant and 
equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.  

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits Associated with the item will flow 
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  The carrying amount of any component 
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced.  All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to statement of profit and loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the 
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is included in the profit & loss 
within ‘Other Income’.

Advances paid towards acquisition of property,  plant and equipment outstanding at each Balance Sheet 
date is classified as capital advances under other non-current assets and the cost of assets not ready for 
use before such date are disclosed under “Capital work-in-progress”.  

Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual value

The Group depreciates property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives using the 
straight-line method.  The useful lives of the assets are based on useful lives as prescribed under Part 
C of Schedule II to the Companies Act, 2013.  The residual values are not more than 5% of the original 
cost of the asset.  The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, 
at the end of each reporting period.

1.6. Inventories 

Raw materials and stores, work in progress, traded and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost 
on weighted average basis and net realisable value after providing for obsolescence and other losses, 
where considered necessary.  

Cost of raw materials and traded goods comprises cost of purchases. Cost of work-in-progress and 
finished goods comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and 
fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
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Cost of inventories also include other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition.  Cost of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts.  Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The Group’s fertilizers are stored in various ports in the form of heaps.  The same is verified and measured 
by independent surveyors.  Stocks are stored with CFA agents and the availability of the same has 
been confirmed by them. The Group appoints surveyors to estimate the inventories based on volumetric 
analysis and density of the stock.

1.7. Financial instruments

1.7.1. Initial recognition

The Group recognises financial assets and financial liabilities when it becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments.  

All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not at fair 
value through profit or loss, are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost of 
fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.

1.7.2. Subsequent measurement

a.  Non-derivative financial instruments 

(i)  Financial assets carried at amortized cost 

Financial asset that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost (except 
for financial assets that are designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition):

• the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

(ii)  Financial assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI)

Financial asset that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (except for financial assets that are designated at fair value through profit 
or loss on initial recognition):

• the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
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Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

Further, in cases where the Group has made an irrevocable election based on its business model, for 
its investments which are classified as equity instruments, the subsequent changes in fair value are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. This election is not permitted if the equity investment is 
held for trading. These elected investments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the “Reserve for equity instruments 
through other comprehensive income”.  The cumulative gain or loss is not classified to profit or loss on 
disposal of the investments.

Dividends from such investments are recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s 
right to receive payments is established,  it is probable that the economic benefits Associated with 
the dividend will flow to the entity,  the dividend does not represent a recovery of part of cost of the 
investment and the amount of dividend can be measured reliably. 

(iii)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

A financial asset which is not classified in any of the above categories is subsequently fair valued through 
profit or loss.  A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at fair value through 
profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss and presented 
net in the statement of profit and loss and included in other Income in the period in which it arises.             
Interest income from these financial assets is included in other income.

(iv) Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method.              
For trade and other payables maturing within one year from the Balance Sheet date, the carrying 
amounts approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these instruments.

1.7.3. De-recognition of financial instruments

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire or it transfers the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for de-recognition under Ind AS 
109.  A financial liability (or a part of financial liability) is derecognised from the Group’s Balance Sheet 
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.

1.8. Fair value of financial instruments

In determining the fair value of its financial instruments, the Group uses a variety of methods and 
assumptions that are based on market conditions and risks existing at each reporting date. The methods 
used to determine fair value include discounted cash flow analysis, available quoted market prices and 
dealer quotes.  All methods of assessing fair value result in general approximation of value, and such 
value may never actually be realized.

The Group has made certain investments which are not held for trading.  The Group has elected the 
FVTOCI irrevocable option for these investments. 

1.9. Impairment

a.   Financial assets 

The Group recognises loss allowances using the expected credit loss (ECL) model for the financial assets 
which are not fair valued through profit or loss.  Loss allowance for trade receivables with no significant 
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financing component is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.  For all other financial assets, ECLs 
are measured at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk from initial recognition in which case those are measured at lifetime ECL, as applicable, as 
the case may be.  The amount of ECLs (or reversals, if any) that is required to adjust the loss allowance 
at the reporting date to the amount that is required to be recognised is recognised as an impairment 
gain or loss in the profit or loss

b.  Non-financial assets 

(i)   Intangible assets and property,  plant and equipment

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are evaluated for recoverability whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable.  For the purpose 
of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of fair value less cost to sell and the value-
in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets.  In such cases, the recoverable amount is determined for 
the cash generating units to which the asset belongs.

If such assets are considered to be impaired,  the impairment to be recognised in the Statement of Profit 
and Loss is measured by the amount by which the carrying value of the assets exceeds the estimated 
recoverable amount of the asset.  An impairment loss is reversed in the Statement of Profit and Loss 
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  The carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any accumulated amortization or 
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.

1.10  Trade and other payables

The amount represents liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of 
financial year which are unpaid.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid as per payment terms 
of the contract. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not 
due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are recognised initially at their fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

1.11.   Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction 
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings 
using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised 
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be 
drawn down.  

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability 
that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any 
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other gains/(losses).

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.  

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
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1.11.1  Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete 
and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale 

1.12.  Foreign currency translation

(i)  Functional and presentation currency 

The functional currency of the Group is the Indian rupee. The Financial Statements are presented in 
Indian rupee (rounded off to crores ; one crore equals 100 lakhs). 

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign-currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities are translated into the relevant functional 
currency at exchange rate in effect at the Balance Sheet date. The gains or losses resulting from such 
translations are included in the Statement of Profit and Loss.  

Transaction gains or losses realized upon settlement of foreign currency transactions are included in 
determining net profit for the period in which the transaction is settled.  Revenue, expense and cash-
flow items denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the relevant functional currencies 
using the exchange rate in effect on the date of the transaction.

Foreign exchange differences regarded as an adjustment to borrowing costs are presented in the 
statement of profit and loss, within finance costs.  All other foreign exchange gains and losses are 
presented in the statement of profit and loss on a net basis within other gains / (losses).

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign operations are recongised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate reserve within equity. 

1.13.  Income taxes 

The income tax expense comprises current and deferred income tax.  Income tax expense or credit for 
the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income using the income tax rates and tax 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date.  The Group periodically 
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is 
subject to interpretation.  It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected 
to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all temporary difference arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the Financial Statements.  Deferred 
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that the related tax benefit will be realized.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date and are expected to apply to taxable income 
in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.

The effect of changes in tax rates on deferred income tax assets and liabilities is recognised as income 
or expense in the period that includes the enactment or the substantive enactment date.  A deferred tax 
asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilized.

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
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Deferred tax assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and 
tax bases of investments in subsidiary where it is not probable that the differences will reverse in the 
foreseeable future and taxable profit will not be available against which the temporary difference can 
be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. 
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and 
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.  In this case, the tax is also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

1.14.  Employee benefits

1.14.1.  Short-term employee obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits that are expected to be settled 
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service 
are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured 
at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as 
current employee benefit obligations in the balance sheet.

1.14.2. Other long-term employee obligations

The Group has a policy on compensated absences which are both accumulating and non-accumulating in 
nature.  The expected cost of accumulating compensated absences is determined by actuarial valuation 
performed by an independent actuary at each Balance Sheet date using projected unit credit method 
on the additional amount expected to be paid / availed as a result of the unused entitlement that has 
accumulated at the balance sheet date and remeasurements as a result of experience adjustments 
and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in statement of profit and loss. Expense on non-
accumulating compensated absences is recognised in the period in which the absences occur.

1.14.3. Post employment obligations

1.14.3.1.  Gratuity

The Group provides for gratuity, a defined benefit retirement plan (‘the Gratuity Plan’) covering eligible 
employees. The Gratuity Plan provides a lump-sum payment to vested employees at retirement, death, 
incapacitation or termination of employment, of an amount based on the respective employee’s salary 
and tenure of employment with the Group.

Liabilities with regard to the Gratuity Plan are determined by actuarial valuation, performed by an 
Independent actuary, at each Balance Sheet date using the projected unit credit method. The Group fully 
contributes all ascertained liabilities to the “Indian Potash Executive Gratuity Fund Trust (‘the Trust’) 
and to “Indian Potash Non-executive Gratuity Fund Trust (‘the Trust’).  Trustees of the fund administrator 
makes contributions to the Trusts and contribution are invested in a scheme with SBI Life Insurance 
Group Limited. 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
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The Group recognises the net obligation of a defined benefit plan in its Balance Sheet as an asset 
or liability.  Gains and losses through re-measurements, if any, of the net defined benefit liability / 
(asset) are recognised in other comprehensive income. The actual return of the portfolio of the plan 
assets, in excess of the yields computed by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 
benefit obligation is recognised in other comprehensive income. The effect of any plan amendments are 
recognised in the Statement of profit and loss.

1.14.3.2.  Superannuation

Certain employees of Indian Potash Limited are participants in a defined contribution plan.  The Group has 
no further obligations to the plan beyond its monthly contributions which are periodically contributed to 
a trust fund, the corpus of which is invested with SBI Life Insurance Group Limited.

1.14.3.3.  Provident fund

Eligible employees of Indian Potash Limited receive benefits from a provident fund, which is a defined 
benefit plan.  Both the eligible employee and the Group make monthly contributions to the provident fund 
plan equal to a specified percentage of the covered employee’s salary. The Group contributes a portion 
to the Indian Potash Staff Provident Fund Trust. The trust invests in specific designated instruments 
as permitted by Indian law. The remaining portion is contributed to the government-administered 
pension fund. The rate at which the annual interest is payable to the beneficiaries by the trust is being 
administered by the government. The Group has an obligation to make good the shortfall, if any, between 
the return from the investments of the trust and the notified interest rate. 

1.15.   Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision maker.

The board of directors of the Group assesses the financial performance and position of the Group and 
makes strategic decisions. The board of directors has been identified as the chief operating decision 
maker. Refer note 27 for segment information presented. 

1.16.   Rounding off amounts 

All amounts disclosed in the Consolidated Financial Statements and notes have been rounded off to the 
nearest lakhs as per the requirement of Schedule III, unless otherwise stated.

1.17.    Recent regulatory updates and accounting pronouncements

Ministry of Corporate Affairs ("MCA") notifies new standards or amendments to the existing standards 
under Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. For the year ended 
March 31, 2025 MCA has not notified any new standards or amendment to the existing standards 
applicable to the Company.
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Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

2(b)  Capital work-in-progress

Particulars
As at  

1 April 
2024

 Expenditure 
incurred during 

the year

Capitalised 
during the 

year

Written 
off

Closing as at 
31 March 2025

Capital work-in-progress  217.04  106.68  (236.76)  (3.58)  83.38 

Particulars
As at 

1 April 
2023

 Expenditure 
incurred during 

the year

Capitalised 
during the 

year

Written 
off

Closing as at 
31 March 2024

Capital work-in-progress  24.46  251.86  (59.28)  -    217.04 

A.  Ageing of Capital work-in-progress

Particulars
Amounts in capital work-in-progress for

Less than 
one year

1 – 2 years 2 – 3 years More than 
3 years

Total

As at 31 March 2025: 

(i) Projects in progress  22.23  57.64  3.39  -    83.26 
(ii) Projects temporarily suspended  -    0.12  -    -    0.12 
Total  22.23  57.76  3.39  -    83.38 

B. There are no projects under capital work-in-progress has exceeded its cost compared to its original 
plan as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 and there are no projects under capital work-in-
progress that whose completion  is overdue as of 31 March 2025 and  31 March 2024 

2(c)  Right-of-use assets

Particulars Land Buildings  Plant and 
Machinery 

 Total 

Balance as at 01 April 1,2023  93.82  17.63  1.15  112.60 

Additions  4.04  0.15  -    4.19 

Amortisation  (2.00)  (4.61)  (1.07)  (7.68)

Disposals  -    (0.16)  (0.16)
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As at 31 March 2024: 

(i) Projects in progress  209.22  7.51  0.31  -    217.04 
(ii) Projects temporarily suspended  -    -    -    -    -   
Total   209.22   7.51  0.31  -    217.04 

Balance as at 31 March, 2024  95.86  13.01  0.08  108.95 

Additions  24.45  -    402.06  426.51 

Amortisation  (2.76)  (4.63)  (4.13)  (11.52)

Disposals  -    -    (0.09)  (0.09)
Balance as at 31 March, 2025  117.55  8.38  397.92  523.85 
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2(c)  Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Movement of Lease Liability

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Opening Balance  14.92  20.30 

Lease Liabilities addition during the year  30.33  0.15 

Lease Liabilities deletion during the year  (0.11)  (0.20)

Interest  1.51  1.26 

Repayment of Lease Liability  (27.35)  (6.59)
Closing Balance  19.30  14.92 

(i)  Variable lease payments     

The Group did not enter into lease contracts that contain variable lease options.

(ii)  Extension of termination options     

Extension and termination options are included in a number of property, plant and equipment leases 
across the Group. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets 
used in the Group's operations. The majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable 
only by the Group and not by the respective lessor.     

Right-of-use assets include unamortised portion of  Rs.43.70(31 March 2024: Rs.44.64 ) pertaining to 
the amount paid for leasehold land measuring 266 acres located at Motipur, Bihar. The Land was leased 
to the Group by Bihar State Sugar Corporation Limited (BSSCL) in 2011-2012. BSSCL’s title to the land 
was challenged by shareholders of the sugar factory (erstwhile owners of the land) and consequently the 
lease to the Group was also questioned as illegal. The petition filed by the shareholders of Sugar Factory 
is pending before the Supreme Court of India. In the meanwhile, the Group had filed an arbitration 
petition before High Court of Patna against BSSCL for recovery of the Group's losses as a result of the 
aforesaid proceedings. High Court of Patna appointed a sole arbitrator, who passed an order granting 
an award of Rs. 38.27 in favour of the Group. The Group has filed an execution petition before High 
Court of Patna to give effect to the award and the matter is still pending with the High Court. The lease 
agreement is yet to be registered in the name of the Group.     

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

Lease liabilities

Non-current  12.96  10.14 

Current  6.34  4.78 
Total  19.30  14.92 

Expense relating to short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets (shown as ""Godown Rent"" and ""Rent including lease 
rentals"" in Note 20 -Other expenses)

 34.54  46.19 
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During the year, the company entered into lease agreements for three sugar manufacturing units located 
in Gujarat. The details of these agreements are as follows :     

Particulars Valsad  Kodinar Talala Total

Lessor
Valsad Sahakari 
Khand Udyog 

Mandli Ltd 

Shree  Bileshwar 
Khand Udyog 

Khedut Sahakari 
Mandali Ltd, Kodinar

 Shree Talala 
Sahakari Khand 
Udyog Mandali 

Ltd

 

Tenure (in Years)  40  30  30 -

ROU Recognised (in Rs.Crores)  314.21  78 .17  23.55  415.93

2(d)  Investment Property

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Carrying Amounts of:

Land & Building  14.01  14.44 

Total  14.01  14.44 

Gross Carrying Amount

Opening Balance  15.01  -   

Reclassified from Property, Plant and Equipment (Refer note 
2(a)(ii))  -    15.01 

Disposals  -    -   

Closing Balance  15.01  15.01 

Accumulated Depreciation

Opening Balance  0.57  -   

Reclassified from Property, Plant and Equipment (Refer note 
2(a)(ii))

-  0.18 

Depreciation for the year  0.43  0.39 

Closing Balance  1.00  0.57 

Fair value of the Group’s investment properties   
The following table gives details of the fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at March 31, 2025  
 

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Land & Building#  19.76  19.76

#Portion of building which was given on rent to which IND AS 40 applies 
Refer Note 2(a)(ii)

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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a. The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at March 31, 2024 have been arrived at on the 
basis of a valuation carried out by M/s. A One Valuer, independent valuers not related to the Group.
Fair value was derived using the market comparable approach based on recent market/government 
guideline prices without any significant adjustments being made to the market observable data. 
In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their 
current use.  

b. During the year ended 31 March 2025, Rs. 1.46 Crore (Previous year : Rs.1 Crore) was recognised in 
statement of Profit and loss account in relation to rental income from investment property (Refer 
note 14)      

3 Intangible assets
Particulars Computer  software  Total 

Year ended 31 March 2024:
GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT

As at 1 April 2023  11.31  11.31 
Additions  0.02  0.02 
Disposals -  -   
Balance as at 31 March 2024  11.33  11.33 
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION 

As at 1 April 2023  10.45  10.45 
Amortisation charge for the year  0.20  0.20 
Balance as at 31 March 2024  10.65  10.65 
NET CARRYING AMOUNT
As at 31 March 2024  0.68  0.68
Year ended 31 March 2025:
GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT

As at 1 April 2024  11.33  11.33 

Additions  -    -   
Disposals  -    -   
Balance as at 31 March 2025  11.33  11.33 
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION 

As at 1 April 2024  10.65  10.65 

Amortisation charge for the year  0.09  0.09 
Balance as at 31 March 2025  10.74  10.74 
NET CARRYING AMOUNT
As at 31 March 2025  0.59  0.59 

Refer Note 30 for additional Disclosures

2(d)  Investment Property ( Continued)

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  



163

4. Financial assets
4(a) Investments
4(a)(i) Non-current investments

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Investments in equity instruments (fully paid-up)
Quoted
58,440 (31 March 2024: 58,440) equity shares of BSE 
Limited  32.02  14.70 

Sub - Total (A)  32.02  14.70 

Unquoted

2,66,75,000 (31 March 2024: 2,66,75,000) equity shares of 
Indian Commodity Exchange Limited  21.34  21.34 

1,00,000 (31 March 2024: 1,00,000) equity shares of 
Wisekey India Private Limited  0.01  0.01 

Sub - Total (B)  21.35  21.35 

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Investments in government securities
Unquoted   

119 (31 March 2024 :109) units of National Savings 
Certificate - VIII Issue (Face value: Rs.10,000)  0.12  0.11 

51 (31 March 2024:51) units of National Savings 
Certificate - VIII Issue (Face value: Rs.5,000)  0.03  0.03 

15 (31 March 2024 : 15) units of National Savings 
Certificate - VIII Issue (Face value: Rs.1,000)*  0.00  0.00 

2 (31 March 2024: 2) units of National Savings Certificate - 
VIII Issue (Face value: Rs.500)*  0.00  0.00 

Sub - Total (D)  0.15  0.14 

Investments in Debt Instruments
Quoted
75,500 (31 March 2024: 75,500) units of IRFC Tax Free 
Bonds - 2030 - 7.28%  8.66  8.59 

2,85,698 (31 March 2024: 2,85,698) units of NHAI Tax Free 
Bonds - 2031 - 7.35%  30.73  30.60 

1,40,139 (31 March 2024: 1,40,139) units of HUDCO Tax 
Free Bonds- 2031 - 7.39%  15.44  15.84 

Sub - Total (C)  54.83  55.03 

*Amounts are less than lakhs

Investments carried at Amortised Cost
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4(a) (i) Non-Current Investments (Continued)

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

Investments carried at Amortised Cost (Continued)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Investments in trust securities
Unquoted
13,829 (31 March 2024: Nil) Units of Alternative 
Investment Funds  * (Face value: Rs.1,00,000)  138.29  -   

Sub - Total (E)  138.29  -   
Investments in Debt Instruments 
Quoted
500 (31 March 2024 :500) units of Bank of Baroda  
Perpetual Bond - 8.50%  50.00  50.00 

Nil (31 March 2024 :560) units of Bank of Baroda 
Perpetual Bond - 8.70%  -    56.82 

250 (31 March 2024 :250) units of Bank of Baroda 
Perpetual Bond - 8.25%  25.16  25.16 

500 (31 March 2024 :500) units of Bank of Baroda 
Perpetual Bond - 8.15%  50.00  50.00 

25 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Bank of Maharashtra 
Perpetual Bond - 8.74%  25.31  -   

25 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Bank of India Perpetual Bond 
- 8.57%  25.27  -   

550 (31 March 2024 :550) units of Canara Bank Perpetual 
Bond - 8.5%  55.34  55.34 

25 (31 March 2024 :Nil)  units of Canara Bank Perpetual Bond 
- 8.40%  25.33  -   

75 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Cholamandalam 
Investment and Finance Co. Ltd-9.5%  75.11  -   

75 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Cholamandalam 
Investment and Finance Co. Ltd-9.5%  75.00  -   

25 (31 March 2024:25) units of Punjab National Bank 
Perpetual Bond - 8.40%  24.97  24.97 

150 (31 March 2024:150) units of Punjab National Bank Per-
petual Bond - 8.59%  150.38  150.38 

80 (31 March 2024 :80) units of State Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 7.72%  80.18  80.18 

100 (31 March 2024:100) units of State Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 7.55%  10.02  10.02 

50 (31 March 2024 : Nil)  units of State Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 7.74%  5.00  -   

* Pending for allotment as on 31st March 2025 and units were alloted on April 04, 2025
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Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

4(a) (i) Non-Current Investments (Continued)
Investments carried at Amortised Cost (Continued)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

50 (31 March 2024 :Nil)  units of State Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 7.73%  4.99  -   

100 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Tata International Ltd, - 
9.10%  10.08  -   

100 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Tata Industries Ltd 
Non - Convertible Debentures  12.25  -   

10,000(31 March 2024 :Nil) Units of Telangana State 
Industrial Infrastructure Corporation-9.35%  102.31  -   

60 (31 March 2024:60 ) units of Union Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 8.40%  59.94  59.94 

25 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Union Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 8.40%  25.18  -   

40 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Union Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 8.40%  40.25  -   

5 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Union Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 8.40%  5.04  -   

1 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Union Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 8.64%  1.00  -   

10 (31 March 2024 :Nil) units of Union Bank of India 
Perpetual Bond - 8.73%  10.08  -   

Sub - Total (F)  948.19  562.81 
Total non-current investments (A+B+C+D+E+F)  1,194.83  654.03

Aggregate amount of quoted investments  1,035.04  632.54 

Aggregate market value of quoted investments  1,035.04  632.54 

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments  21.50  21.49 

Aggregate amount of impairment in the value of 
investments  -    -   

4(a) (ii) Current investments

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Investments measured at FVTPL
Investments in Debt Instruments
Unquoted

Investments in mutual funds  794.99  -   
Total current investments  794.99  -   
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4(b) Trade Receivables(Unsecured, Considered good unless otherwise stated)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Trade receivables  
(including subsidy receivables Rs.2,805.49 (March 31, 2024: 
Rs.2,266.86)

 4,788.10  3,995.86 

Less: Allowance for credit loss 
(including provision on subsidy receivables Rs.27.67 (March 
31, 2024: Rs. 50.42)

 (280.99)  (326.10)

Total Trade receivables  4,507.11  3,669.76 

Non-current  -    -   

Current  4,507.11  3,669.76 

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Trade receivables considered good - Unsecured  4,788.10  3,995.86 

Trade receivables which have significant increase in credit risk  -    -   

Trade receivables - credit impaired  -    -   

Sub Total  4,788.10  3,995.86 

Allowance for credit loss  (280.99)  (326.10)
Net trade receivables  4,507.11  3,669.76 

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

The movement in allowances for Expected credit loss is as 
follows:

Opening balance  326.10  282.28 

Addition  -    43.82 

Reversal of Provision (22.19) -

Set off aganist write off of  Receivables (22.92) -

Closing Balance  280.99  326.10 

Notes:        

i) The Group trade receivables do not carry a significant financing element. In accordance with Ind 
AS 109, the Group uses the expected credit loss (“ECL”) model for measurement and recognition of 
impairment loss on its trade receivables. For this purpose, the Group uses a simplified approach to 
compute the expected credit loss amount for trade receivables. This approach takes into account 
external and internal credit risk factors and historical data of credit losses from various customers 
adjusted for forward looking estimates.        

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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ii) There are no trade or other receivable which are either due from directors or other officers of 
the Group either severally or jointly with any other person nor any trade or other receivable are 
due from firms or private companies respectively in which any director is a partner, a director or a 
member. 

iii) Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 15 to 90 days. 
iv) Refer note 9 (a)(ii) for information on trade receivables pledged as security by the Group.
v) Refer note 29 (i) Credit risk for information on Expected Credit Loss
vi) Refer note 25 for related party disclosures       

Particulars Unbilled Not due

Outstanding for following periods from due 
date of payment Total

Less than  
6 Months

6 months 
–  1 year  1-2 years  2-3 years More than  

3 years

As at 31 March 2025
Undisputed trade 
receivables
– considered good  1,190.01  1,352.77  1,063.05  309.86  441.16  65.62  201.70  4,624.17 
– which have significant 
increase in credit risk  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

– credit impaired  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
Disputed trade receivables

– considered good  -    -    -    1.16  2.86  8.39  151.52  163.93 
– which have significant 
increase in credit risk  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

– credit impaired  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total  1,190.01  1,352.77  1,063.05  311.02  444.02  74.01  353.22  4,788.10 

Less: Allowance for Expected Credit Loss  (280.99)
Total Trade receivables  4,507.11 

Particulars Unbilled Not due

Outstanding for following periods from due 
date of payment Total

Less than  
6 Months

6 months 
–  1 year  1-2 years  2-3 years More than  

3 years

As at 31 March 2024
Undisputed trade 
receivables
– considered good  1,325.30  1,150.83  469.98  581.54  125.91  72.96  133.03  3,859.55 
– which have significant 
increase in credit risk  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

– credit impaired  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
Disputed trade receivables  -   

– considered good *  -    -    0.21  0.00  7.98  9.37  118.75  136.31 

– which have significant 
increase in credit risk  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

– credit impaired  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
Total  1,325.30  1,150.83  470.19  581.54  133.88  82.33  251.78  3,995.86 

Less: Allowance for Expected Credit Loss  (326.10)
Total Trade receivables  3,669.76 

4(b) Trade Receivables(Unsecured, Considered good unless otherwise stated) (Continued)

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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4(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Bank balances in current accounts*  314.10  593.87 

Bank balances in EEFC accounts  2.86  16.32 

Bank deposits with original maturity of less than three 
months  50.00  -   

Cash on hand  0.22  0.22 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents  367.18  610.41 

Note:   
*Bank balances in current accounts includes Rs.3.67 (31 March 2024: Rs. 4.75) held in a separate bank 
account for unspent ongoing CSR Projects.   
4(d) Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Bank balances in dividend accounts(Refer Note 9c)  1.73  1.35 

Bank deposits with original maturity of more than 3 months 
and less than 12 months  50.00  -   

Molasses storage fund deposit account (Refer note 8(b))  2.15  1.89 

Total Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents  53.88  3.24 

4(e) Loans

Particulars As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
Current Non-current Current Non-current

Unsecured and considered good

Loans to employees  3.19 -  4.26  -   

Loans to Others  13.00 -  -    -   

Total Loans  16.19 -  4.26  -   

Deposits earmarked against Molasses Storage Facility Reserve 
Fund  2.15  1.89 

Deposits under lien with Pollution Control Boards  0.32  0.25 

Other lien marked deposits  17.03  15.43 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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4(f) Other financial assets
 (Unsecured, Considered good, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
Current Non-current Current Non-current

Security deposits  1.40  9.24  8.38  2.31 

Bank deposits with original maturity 
of more than twelve months  105.74  19.88  -    28.00 

Advances to employees  0.13  -    0.19  -   

Interest accrued on deposits  12.58  -    2.13  -   

Interest accrued on bonds and 
Government securities  36.14  -  22.71  -   

Claims receivable* 19.63  65.56  81.83  -   

Total Other financial assets  175.62  94.68  115.24  30.31 

* Claims receivable includes amount receivable of Rs.65.56 crores (net) from a vendor supplying to 
the Group. During the Financial year 2022-23, the Group has filed an Arbitration claim against the 
vendor for failure of supply of urea as per contractual terms.Rs.84.59 crores has been accounted as 
claims receivable and adjusted with an amount of Rs. 19.03 crores payable to vendor which was due to 
invocation of Bank guarantee issued by the vendor. 

5  Deferred tax assets

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Deferred tax assets:

Provision for compensated absences  2.89  2.33 

Provision for doubtful assets  192.67  202.78 

Disallowances under Section 40(a)(i), 43B of the Income Tax 
Act, 1961  5.14  2.39 

Others (including lease liabilities)  4.86  3.76 

Total of Deferred tax assets  205.56  211.26 
Deferred tax liabilities:

On difference between book balance and tax balance of PPE  60.58  46.16 

On reserve for debt and equity instruments through OCI  2.90  (2.75)

Right of Use Assets  27.68  27.42 

On exchange difference on translation on foreign operations  159.52  107.90 

On share of net profits of investments accounted for using 
equity method  1,129.52  1,018.65 

Total of Deferred Tax Liabilities  1,380.20  1,197.38 

Deferred tax assets (net)  (1,174.64) (986.12)
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5   Deferred tax assets  (Continued)

Movement in deferred tax assets / 
(liabilities)

Opening 
balance

Credited / 
(Charged) in 
profit or loss

Credited in 
Other 

Comprehen-
sive Income

Closing 
balance

For the year 2024-25: 

Deferred tax (liabilities) / asset in relation 
to:

Provision for compensated absences  2.33  0.56  -    2.89 

Provision for doubtful assets  202.78  (10.11)  -    192.67 

Disallowances under Section 40(a)(i), 43B 
of the Income Tax Act, 1961  2.39  (1.67)  4.42  5.14 

Others (including lease liabilities)  3.76  1.10  -    4.86 

Right of Use Assets  (27.42)  (0.26)  -    (27.68)

Property, plant and equipment  (46.16)  (14.42)  -    (60.58)

Debt and equity instruments through OCI  2.75  -    (5.65)  (2.90)

On share of net profits of investments 
accounted for using equity method  (1,018.65)  (110.87)  -    (1,129.52)

On Foreign currency translation reserve  (107.90)  -    (51.62)  (159.52)

Net Deferred tax assets  (986.12)  (135.67)  (52.85)  (1,174.64)

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

For the year 2023-24

Deferred tax (liabilities) / asset in relation 
to:

Provision for compensated absences  2.12  0.21  -    2.33 

Provision for doubtful assets  198.05  4.73  -    202.78 

Disallowances under Section 40(a)(i), 43B 
of the Income Tax Act, 1961  1.70  (0.63)  1.32  2.39 

Others (including lease liabilities)  0.77  2.99  -    3.76 

Right of Use Assets  -    (27.42)  (27.42)

Property, plant and equipment  (42.04)  (4.12)  -    (46.16)

Debt and equity instruments through OCI  (15.90)  14.41  4.24  2.75 

On share of net profits of investments 
accounted for using equity method  (856.60)  (162.05)  -    (1,018.65)

On Foreign currency translation reserve  (98.60)  -    (9.30)  (107.90)

Net Deferred tax assets  (810.50)  (171.88)  (3.74)  (986.12)
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6.    Other assets
       (Unsecured, Considered good, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
Current Non-current Current Non-current

Capital advances  25.46  -    24.37 

Advance to suppliers  98.52  77.54  245.99  -   

Balances with statutory authorities:

-Goods and service tax (net of 
provision)  531.26  1,556.12  1,800.84  -   

- Others  0.18  -    0.52  -   

Prepaid expenses  2.45  -    2.13  -   

Total  632.41 1,659.12  2,049.48 24.37

7. Inventories
        (At lower of cost and Net Realisable value) 

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Raw materials  66.53  24.90 

Packing Materials  24.70  19.94 

Work-in-progress  31.43  27.28 

Finished goods (other than those acquired for trading)  968.92  890.28 

Stock-in-trade (acquired for trading) * #  3,582.49  2,814.22 

Stores and spares  15.77  15.17 

Total Inventories  4,689.84  3,791.79 

* Includes Goods in transit 1,223.53  659.76 

# A possible reasonable change in the estimates is not expected to have a significant impact on the amounts 
recognised as the same would be recovered from the agent who is managing the inventory. 

The cost of inventories recognised an expense in 'Changes in inventories of work-in-progress, stock-in-
trade and finished goods' includes Rs.0.37 Crores  (31 March 2024:Rs 42.56 crores) in respect of write 
down of inventories to net realisable value. 

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year was Rs. 17,418.29 Crores (31 March 24: 
Rs. 18,041.57 Crores) 

Refer Note 9(a)(ii) for details of inventory pledged as security 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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8(a) Equity share capital

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Authorised 

6,12,00,000 (31 March 2024: 6,12,00,000) equity shares of 
Rs 10/- each  61.20  61.20 

Issued, subscribed and paid-up

2,85,97,200 (31 March 2024: 2,85,97,200) equity shares of 
Rs 10/- each, fully paid up  28.60  28.60 

Total  28.60  28.60 

(i)  Movement in equity share capital

Particulars As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
No. of shares Amount No. of shares  Amount 

Equity Shares

At the commencement of the year  2,85,97,200  28.60  2,85,97,200  28.60 

Add: Shares issued during the year  -    -    -    -   

At the end of the year  2,85,97,200  28.60  2,85,97,200  28.60 

(ii) Terms and rights attached to equity shares
The Group has one class of equity shares having a face value of Rs. 10 each.  Each shareholder is eligible 
for one vote per share held. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval 
of the Shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting, except in the case of interim dividend. Every 
holder of equity shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a 
poll each share is entitled to one vote.

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

(iii) Particulars of shareholders holding more than 5% of equity shares  

Particulars
As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024

No. of shares % of equity 
shares

No. of shares   % of equity 
shares 

Equity shares of Rs 10/- each fully 
paid up, held by:
Indian Farmers Fertilisers 
Cooperative Limited  97,20,000 33.99  97,20,000  33.99 

Gujarat State Co-operative Marketing 
Federation Limited  29,88,000 10.45  29,88,000  10.45 

Gujarat State Fertilisers and 
Chemicals Limited  22,50,000 7.87  22,50,000  7.87 

Andhra Pradesh State Cooperative 
Marketing Federation Limited  17,82,000 6.23  17,82,000  6.23 

Madras Fertilisers Limited  15,84,000 5.54  15,84,000  5.54 
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8(a) Equity share capital (Continued)

(iv)  The Group has no promoters based on the annual return filed with Registrar of Companies. 
Consequently, this disclosure relating to details of shareholding of promoters is not applicable.  

(v)   The Group has not undertaken any buy back of shares during the period of five years immediately 
preceding the reporting date 

8(b)   Other Equity

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Capital reserve  104.70  100.52 

General reserve  415.57  415.57 

Retained earnings  10,214.60  8,581.15 

Molasses Storage Facility Reserve Fund  2.15  1.89 

Reserve for debt instruments fair value  through OCI  49.90  49.31 

Reserve for equity instruments fair value through OCI  30.43  17.02 

Foreign currency translation reserve  475.54  322.15 

Total Other Equity  11,292.89  9,487.61 

8(b) (i) Capital reserve

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Opening balance  100.52  100.52 

Movements on acquistion of Navsari Unit(Refer Note 36)  4.18  -   

Closing balance  104.70  100.52 

Represents reserve created on account of business combination and merger which is not available for 
distribution as dividend.

8(b) (ii) General reserve

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Opening balance  415.57  415.57 

Movements   -    -   

Closing balance  415.57  415.57 

General reserve is a free reserve arising from transfers from retained earnings made in the previous 
years.  The balance is available for distribution to the members as dividend or for paying up unissued 
shares to be issued to the members of the Group as fully paid bonus shares. 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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8(b) Other Equity (Continued)

8(b) (iii) Retained earnings

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Opening balance  8,581.15  7,348.65 

Profit attributable to owners of the Group  1,661.35  1,257.83 

Other comprehensive income arising from 
remeasurement of defined benefit obligation, net of tax  3.36  (5.61)

Share of other comprehensive income of associate 
accounted using equity method  (9.55)  0.46 

Final dividend  (21.45)  (20.02)

Others - Transferred to Molasses Storage Facility Reserve Fund  (0.26)  (0.16)

Closing balance  10,214.60  8,581.15 

Group's share of cumulative earnings since its formation minus the dividends/capitalisation and earnings 
transferred to  general reserve.

8(b)  (iv) Molasses Storage Facility Reserve Fund

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Opening Balance  1.89  1.73 

Transferred  from Retained Earnings  0.26  0.16 

Closing Balance  2.15  1.89 

Represents amount transferred from Retained earnings for utilization towards maintenance of adequate 
storage facilities in accordance with the order issued by the Controller of Uttar Pradesh State Sugar 
Corporation at the stipulated rate. The Group has earmarked bank deposits corresponding to this 
reserve.  

8(b)  (v) Reserve for debt instruments through OCI

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Opening balance  49.31  49.20 

Changes in fair value of debt instruments  (0.20)  (3.32)

Deferred tax on the above  0.79  3.43 

Closing balance  49.90  49.31 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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8(b) Other Equity (Continued)

8(b) (vi) Reserve for equity instruments through OCI

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Opening balance  17.02  2.30 

Changes in fair value of equity instruments  17.52  13.91 

Tax on the above  (4.11)  0.81 

Closing balance  30.43  17.02 

The Group has elected to recognise changes in the fair value of certain investments in equity/debt 
securities in other comprehensive income.   

These changes are accumulated within reserve for equity/debt investments through OCI within equity. 

8(b) (vii) Foreign currency translation reserve

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Opening balance 322.15 293.19

Exchange difference on translation 205.01 36.94

Deferred tax on the above  (51.62)  (7.98)

Closing balance  475.54  322.15 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

9.         Financial liabilities
9(a)      Borrowings
9(a)(i)  Non-current borrowings

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Secured, at amortised cost

From a bank

Term Loan  133.66  196.50 

Total non-current borrowings  133.66  196.50 

Less: Current maturities of long-term debt [included in 
Current borrowings]  (61.86)  (71.51)

Non - current borrowings  71.80  124.99 
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9.         Financial liabilities
            Non-current borrowings (Continued)

Nature of security and terms of repayment for non-current borrowings:  

Term loan from HDFC Bank *  
Maturity date June 2025 
Terms of Repayment 19 quaterly installments 
Installment amount INR 2.5 (FY 2023-24 : INR 2.5) 
Rate of Interest 9.65% per annum (FY 2023-24 : 9.40 % Per annum) 
Security Exclusive charge on the Fixed and floating asset of the    
 distillery and CNG plant 
Term loan from HDFC Bank *  
Maturity date June 2025 
Terms of Repayment 16 quaterly installments 
installment amount INR 2.54 (FY 2023-24 : INR 2.54) 
Rate of Interest 9.40 % per annum (FY 2023-24 : 9.26 % Per annum) 
Security Exclusive charge on the Fixed and floating asset of the    
 distillery and CNG plant
Term loan from HDFC Bank *    
Maturity date June 2025   
Terms of Repayment 16 quaterly installments   
installment amount INR 0.28 (FY 2023-24 :INR 0.28) 
Rate of Interest 9.40 % per annum (FY 2023-24 : 9.36 % Per annum)  
Security Exclusive charge on the Fixed and floating asset of the    
 distillery and CNG plant   
Term loan from Axis Bank *    
Maturity date September 2027   
Terms of Repayment 17 quaterly installments   
installment amount INR 8.69 (FY 2023-24 : INR 7.3) 
Rate of Interest 12M  MCLR (FY 2023-24 : 12M MCLR)   
Security Exclusive charge on the Fixed asset (movable / immovable)  
 of the Greenfield Distillery project at Jaring, Nandol,District   
 Kalahandi, Odisha.   
Term loan from Kotak Mahindra Bank*    
Maturity date December 2027   
Terms of Repayment 19 quaterly installments   
installment amount INR 5.26 (FY 2023-24 : INR 5.26) 
Rate of Interest Repo + 1.85% P.A (FY 2023-24 : Repo + 1.85% P.A)  
Security Mortgage on exclusive basis over land 
 (around 116.74 acres)  and building (incl. movable fixed    
 assets) located at Village Haripur and Village Korian, of   
 District Dhenkanal, Odisha in the name of the Group.

*The Group has entered into interest rate swap agreement (derivative instrument) with HDFC bank on 
term loans obtained from HDFC bank and this derivative instrument is valid till  26-06-2025
    
Refer note 2(a) for securities mentioned above    

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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9(a)(ii) Current borrowings

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Unsecured, at amortised cost

From banks

Other working capital loans  -    350.00 

Secured, at amortised cost

From banks

Buyers' credit  5,130.13  4,028.18 

Current maturities of long-term debt  61.86  71.51 

Current borrowings (as per balance sheet) 5,191.99  4,449.69 

Nature of security and terms of repayment for current borrowings:   

(a)  Secured buyers' credit from consortium of banks are secured against stock and trade receivables 
of the Group and are repayable generally within 180 days of availment. The facilities availed carry 
interest rates based upon SOFR plus agreed basis points with the bankers.

Net Debt Reconciliation

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Cash and cash equivalents  367.18  610.41 

Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents  53.88  3.24 

Current Borrowings  (5,130.13)  (4,378.18)

Non-current borrowings including current maturities  (133.66)  (196.50)

Net Debt  (4,842.73)  (3,961.03)

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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9 (a) (ii)   Current borrowings  (Continued)
                Net Debt Reconciliation (Continued)

Particulars

Liabilities from financing 
activities TotalNon-current 

borrowings
Current 

borrowings
Net Debt as at April 1, 2023  (171.02)  (3,792.76)  (3,963.78)

Cash Flows  (25.73)  (487.42)  (513.15)

Foreign Exchange adjustments  (78.06)  (78.06)

Interest expense  (9.81)  (313.90)  (323.71)

Interest paid  10.06  293.95  304.01 

Net Debt as at March 31, 2024  (196.50)  (4,378.18)  (4,574.68)

Cash Flows  62.51  (627.31)  (564.80)

Foreign Exchange adjustments  (140.52)  (140.52)

Interest expense  (7.07)  (299.75)  (306.82)

Interest paid  7.40  315.63  323.03 

Net Debt as at March 31, 2025  (133.66)  (5,130.13)  (5,263.79)

9(b)  Trade payables 

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Trade payables

- total outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises#  4.71  4.83 

- total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and 
small enterprises *  3,742.41  2,047.04 

Total  3,747.12  2,051.87 

* Of the above trade payables, the Group has issued letter of credits aggregating to Rs. 3,283.64                       
(31 March 2024 : Rs. 1,634.90 ). Refer note 25 for related party disclosures

# Determined based on the information available with the Group and refer note 26 for MSME disclosures

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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9(b)  Trade payables (Continued)

Particulars Unbilled
Outstanding for following periods from the due date

TotalLess than 6 
months

6 months - 
1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 

3 years

As at 31 March 2025

Undisputed trade payables

Micro and small enterprises  -    4.71  4.71 

Others  -    3,685.44  15.83  20.49  1.44  19.21  3,742.41 

Disputed trade payables

Micro and small enterprises  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Others  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total  -    3,690.15  15.83  20.49  1.44  19.21  3,747.12 

9(c)  Other financial liabilities

Particulars As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
Current Non-current Current  Non-current 

Cane bills payable to banks  -   -  48.62  -   

Interest accrued but not due  46.03 -  63.08  -   

Unpaid dividends  1.73 -  1.35  -   

Payables on purchase of Property, 
plant and equipment *  125.13  28.10  12.56  28.10 

Customer discounts  -    5.02  7.56  -   

Employee benefits payable  14.87  5.44  13.60  -   

Trade / security deposits received  2.50  89.89  88.39  86.25 

Total  190.26  128.45  235.16  114.35 

*Includes Rs.107.31 Crores towards liability taken over against three newly acquired sugars units    
      
 

As at 31 March 2024

Undisputed trade payables

Micro and small enterprises  -    4.83  -    -    -    -    4.83

Others  -    1,912.30  19.46  40.36  7.46  67.46  2,047.04 

Disputed trade payables  -    -        

Micro and small enterprises  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Others - -  -    -    -    -    -   

Total  -    1,917.13  19.46  40.36 7.46 67.46  2,051.87   

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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10  Provisions

Particulars As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
Current Non-current Current  Non-current 

Provisions for Employee Benefits :

- Gratuity  7.67  9.50  -   

- Compensated absences & Medical 
Leave  9.58  1.86  7.54  1.68 

-Provident fund (Refer Note 10B)  -    1.32  -   

Provisions for indirect tax litigations  
(Refer note 24)  4.77  4.77  -   

Total Provisions  22.02  1.86  23.13  1.68 

A   Provisions for Gratuity  

The actuary has assessed the calculations of the Interest Rate Guarantees based on the guidance note 
issued by the Institute of Actuaries of India. The disclosures required under Ind AS 19 are provided 
below   

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet and the movements in the net defined benefit obligation 
over the year are as follows:  

Disclosure of Post employment benefits: Gratuity  (Funded)
 31 March 2025  31 March 2024

Interest cost                                                                                                          3.67  3.40 

Current service cost  2.82  2.41 

Expected return on plan assets  (2.98)  (2.90)

Total expense recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss  3.51  2.91 

Remeasurements: 

Actuarial losses/ (gains)

- Demographic assumption changes in DBO

- Financial assumption changes in DBO  2.86  0.68 

- Experience changes on DBO  (7.47)  4.07 

Rate on Plan assets less than discount rate  0.12  0.09 

Total expense recognised in the Other Comprehensive Income  (4.49)  4.84 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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10  Provisions (Continued)

Disclosure of Post employment benefits: Gratuity  (Funded)
 31 March 2025  31 March 2024

Net defined benefit liability recognised in the balance sheet:

Present value of Defined benefit obligation (DBO)  48.09  51.28 

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year  40.42  41.78 
Net defined benefit liability recognised in the balance sheet  (7.67)  (9.50)
Changes in the Defined Benefit Obligation (DBO) during the 
year: 

Present value of DBO at the beginning of year  51.28  45.61 

Interest cost  3.67  3.40 

Current service cost  2.82  2.41 

Actuarial (gains) / losses                                                                                      (4.61)  4.75 

Liabilities Transferred In /Acquisistions  -    -   

Employees contribution  -    -   

Benefits paid                                                                                                        (5.07)  (4.90)

Liabilities assumed / (settled)  -    -   
Present value of DBO at the end of year                                             48.09 51.28

Changes in the fair value of assets during the year:                         

Plan assets at beginning of  year                                               41.78  38.83 

Expected return on plan assets                                                                                2.98  2.90 
Remeasurements due to actual return on plan assets less 
interest on plan assets -  -   

Actual Group contributions                                                                                                          0.85  5.04 

Employee contributions -  -   

Benefits paid                                                                                                            (5.07)  (4.90)

Assets acquired / (settled)  -   

Actuarial gain / (loss)  (0.12)  (0.09)
Plan assets as at end of year                                                           40.42  41.78 

Current portion  7.67  9.50 

Non-current portion -  -   
 7.67  9.50 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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10  Provisions (Continued)

Disclosure of Post employment benefits:
Gratuity  (Funded)

 31 March 2025  31 March 2024
Actuarial assumptions:

Discount Rate 7.20% 7.20%

Expected rate of salary Increase 5.00% 5.00%

Attrition Rate 5.00% 5.00%

Mortality 

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2012-14) 
Ultimate

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2012-14) 
Ultimate

Experience adjustments 2024-25 2023-24

Present value of DBO  48.09  51.28 

Fair value of plan assets  40.42  41.78 

Funded status [Surplus / (Deficit)]  (7.67)  (9.50)

Experience gain / (loss) adjustments on plan liabilities  4.61  4.75 

Experience gain / (loss) adjustments on plan assets - -

Provisions for Employee Benefits

Sensitivity analysis    

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is:

Change in assumption 
(Gratuity)

Impact on Defined Benefit Obligation
Increase in assumption Decrease in assumption

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

Discount rate 1% 1%  (2.46)  (2.50)  2.76  2.80 

Salary growth 1% 1%  2.51  2.58  (2.31)  (2.38)
 

The above sensitivity analysis are based on a change in assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. 
When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions 
the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit 
credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the defined 
benefit liability recognized in the balance sheet. 

The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change 
compared to the prior period.    
  

     

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

Defined benefit liability and employer contributions 
The Group has agreed that it will aim to eliminate the deficit in defined benefit gratuity plan on an yearly 
basis. Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis and the current agreed contribution rate is 12% 
of the basic salaries in India. The Group considers that the contribution rates set at the last valuation 
date are sufficient to eliminate the deficit over the agreed period and that regular contributions, which 
are based on service costs, will not increase significantly.
Expected contributions to post-employment benefit plans for the year ending 31 March 2026 are INR 
6.63 Crores 
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation ranging upto 9 years (31 March 2024 
: 9 years) for executive and non-executive employees respectively. The expected maturity analysis of 
gratuity is as follows :

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Less than 1 year  7.01  8.48 

Between 1 -2 years  4.89  5.25 

Between 2-5 years  5.93  6.52 

Over 5 years  5.33  5.83 
Total  23.16  26.08 

Major category of plan assets

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Asset classification 

Insurance Fund  40.42  41.78

B  Note on Provident Fund    
With respect to employees,who are covered under Provident Fund Trust adminstered by the Group, the 
Group shall make good deficiency, if any in the interest rate declared by Trust over statutory limit. Having 
regards to the assets of the Fund and the return on the investments, the Group does not expect any 
deficiency in the foreseeable future. The actuary has assessed the calculations of the Interest Rate 
Guarantees based on the guidance note issued by the Institute of Actuaries of India. The disclosures 
required under Ind AS 19 is as set out below:

Fund and Plan Asset position as follows: As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Present Value of Benefit obligation at the end of the year  93.42  86.98 

Fair value of Plan assets at the end of the year  95.59  85.66 

(Surplus)/Defecit available  (2.17)  1.32 

Liability recognised in Balance Sheet  -    1.32 

The Plan assets are  primarily invested in government Securities, Debt instruments & Special deposit scheme

10  Provisions (Continued)
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10  Provisions (Continued)

B   Note on Provident Fund (Continued)
Assumptions for present value of interest rate guarantee are as follows

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Discount rate 6.72% 7.46%

Expected guarantee rate 8.25% 8.15%

Attritation rate 5% 5%

C.   Compensated absences & Medical Leave (Unfunded)
      The defined benefit obligations which are provided for but not funded are as under

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Compensated absences

 -Non-Current  1.86  1.68 

- Current  9.58  7.54 
Total  11.44  9.22 

Actuarial assumptions:

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Discount Rate 6.72% 7.20%

Salary Escalation 5% 5%

Attrition Rate 5% 5%

Mortality 

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2012-14) 
Ultimate

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2012-14) 
Ultimate

11.   Current tax (assets) / liabilities

Particulars As at  
31 March 2025

As at  
31 March 2024

Current tax assets 

Advance tax and tax deducted at source  2,752.23  2,703.08 
Total Current tax assets  2,752.23  2,703.08 

Current tax liabilities

Income tax payable  2,930.30  2,744.85 

Total Current tax liabilities  2,930.30  2,744.85 
Net current tax  liabilities  178.07  41.77

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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12   Other current liabilities

Particulars As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
Current Non-current Current  Non-current 

Advances from customers*  34.01 -  42.52 -

Statutory dues payables  7.24 -  10.65 -

Deferred Income#  0.57 5.66  -    -   

Liability towards CSR@  15.37  - 8.34  - 
Total  57.19  5.66  61.51  - 

*Refer note 4(b) for terms and conditions   
# Deferred Income represents unamortised portion of Government grants of Rs. 6.23 Crores on account 
of setting up of 10200 Kg/ day Bio CNG Plant.   
@ Represents CSR unspent amount   
13.  Revenue from operations

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Sale of products  14,080.06  14,724.29 

Less : Sales discounts  (316.64)  (334.03)

Less : Freight allowance  (77.59)  (96.23)
Sub Total (A)  13,685.83  14,294.03 
Government subsidy (B)  6,450.63  6,022.73 
Revenue from Urea canalizing agent transactions (High sea 
sales)

[Sale Value of goods  5,222.42  12,109.27 

Less: Cost of Quantity imported on Government Account - Also 
refer note below*]  (5,207.45)  (12,075.49)

Sub Total (C)  14.97  33.78 

Sale of services (D)  491.72  569.19 

Other operating revenues (E)  45.76  26.70 
Total revenue from operations ( F=A+B+C+D+E)  20,688.91  20,946.43 

*  For arrangements of import of Urea on Government Account, Group acts as a canalizing agent. The role of 
the Group either as an agent or a principal is determined based on evaluation of its role as a primary obligor, 
has the pricing latitude in the said arrangements, its exposure to inventory risks, on case to case basis. Net 
Income representing the trade margin is recognized as revenue as per the terms of agreement when such 
amounts become entitled.
The Group has determined that a disaggregation of revenue using existing segments and the timing of the 
transfer of goods or services is adequate for its circumstances. Refer note 27 - Segment Reporting for related 
disclosures and refer note 25 for related party disclosures   
No element of financing is deemed to be present as the sales are made with the credit term for a period less 
than one year.     
Revenue is recognised at the point in time when control of the goods is transferred to the customer   
 
    

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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14   Other income

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Interest Income

- Interest income earned on financial assets that are not des-
ignated as at FVTPL  0.09  3.40 

-Bank Deposits (at amortised cost)  8.65  5.21 

- Interest income from Debt instruments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income  64.58  49.97 

Dividend on Investments  0.09  0.36 

Profit on sale of investments, net  96.68  84.76 

Gain/(loss) on sale of Property,Plant and Equipment (net)  0.29  (0.20)

Reversal of ECL Provision  22.36  -   

Receipts towards insurance claims  -    14.11 

Receipts towards Settlement of Claims  -    34.52 

Liabilities no longer required (Refer note 10)  -    76.17 

Income from Investment Property  1.46  1.00 

Miscellaneous Income  28.87  28.61 

Total Other Income  223.07  297.91 

15  Cost of materials consumed

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Raw materials

Raw materials at the beginning of the year  24.90  20.70 

Add: Purchases  1,455.87  1,232.42 

Less: Raw materials at the end of the year  66.53  24.90 
Total cost of materials consumed  1,414.24  1,228.22 
Material consumed comprises:

Sugarcane  1,256.25  1,137.80 

Others  157.99  90.42 
Total  1,414.24  1,228.22 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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16    Changes in inventories of Finished goods, work-in-progress and Stock-in-trade 

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Inventory at the beginning of the year

Finished goods  890.28  835.55 

Work in progress  27.28  34.70 

Stock-in-trade  2,814.22  3,092.57 

Inventory at the end of the year

Finished goods  (968.92)  (890.28)

Work in progress  (31.43)  (27.28)

Stock-in-trade  (3,582.49)  (2,814.22)
Net (increase) / decrease in inventories of finished goods, 
work-in progress and stock in trade (851.06)  231.04

17    Employee benefits expense

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Salaries, wages and bonus  108.02  105.63 

Contribution to provident and other funds  10.73  11.08 

Post-Employment Gratuity Benefits*  3.51  2.91 

Leave Compensation Expenses  4.55  4.76 

Staff welfare expenses  4.72  5.59 
Total  131.53  129.97 

*Refer Note 10 for disclosures
18   Finance costs

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Interest on bank overdraft and loans  310.50  252.20 

Interest on delayed remittance of income taxes  0.36  0.15 

Interest expense on lease liability  1.51  1.26 

Exchange difference regarded as an adjustment to borrowing 
costs  140.52  78.06 

Other interest & bank charges  46.53  52.09 

Total  499.42  383.76 

Note : 
During the year, Group has capitalised borrowing cost of Rs.7.41 crores (31 March 2024 : 3.65 crores)  

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

19   Depreciation and amortisation expense

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  56.33  52.16 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets  11.52  7.96 

Amortisation of intangible assets  0.09  0.20 

Depreciation of Investment Property  0.43  0.39 
Total  68.37  60.71 

20  Other expenses

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Consumption of stores and spare parts  49.00  64.93 

Power and fuel  24.75  21.20 

Freight and Forwarding charges  1,144.87  1,167.25 

Discharge & clearance expenses  346.47  388.82 

Packing materials Consumed - indigenous  188.14  192.48 

Godown Rent  33.21  44.96 

Rent including lease rentals  1.33  1.23 

Repairs and maintenance - Buildings  3.96  9.33 

Repairs and maintenance - Machinery  54.80  46.58 

Repairs and maintenance - Others  12.74  13.65 

Restitching & Rebagging Charges  1.52  0.69 

Storage & Transit Insurance  17.84  13.90 

Rates and Taxes  30.01  7.07 

Communication  2.10  2.02 

Travelling and conveyance  10.75  7.65 

 Printing and Stationery  0.73  1.62 

Business promotion  11.97  11.28 

Legal and professional Charges  11.41  15.03 

Payments to auditors [Refer note 20(a) below]  0.77  1.38 

Corporate social responsibility expenses [Refer note 20(c) 
below]  17.91  17.43 

Directors sitting fees and commission  1.00  0.65 
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Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
20  Other expenses  (Continued)

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Provision for doubtful trade and other receivables, loans (net) 
Refer Note 20 (b)

 -  43.82 

Net loss on foreign currency transactions and translation  54.00  267.06 

Impairment of Good will -  4.10

Miscellaneous expenses  37.43  30.44 
Total other expenses  2,056.71  2,374.57 

20(a)  Details of payments to auditors:
Particulars 31 March 2025  31 March 2024

As auditor:

  - Statutory Audit fee  0.32  0.32 

  - Tax audit fee  0.04  0.04 

Certification fees  0.37  0.97 

Reimbursement of expenses  0.04  0.05 

Total  0.77  1.38 

20(b)  Details of Provision for doubtful trade and other receivables, loans (net) 
Particulars 31 March 2025  31 March 2024

ECL Provision (Reversal) / Created (22.92) 43.82

Add : Write off of Trade Receivables 22.92 -
Provision for doubtful trade and other receivables, loans (net) - 43.82

20(c)  Corporate Social Responsibility expenditure
Particulars 31 March 2025  31 March 2024

Contribution to projects for rural development, skills develop-
ment, healthcare, education and environmental conservation  6.21  11.10 

Accrual towards unspent obligations in respect to:

Ongoing project  11.70  6.33 

Other than ongoing projects  -   
Total  17.91  17.43 

Amount required to be spent as per Section 135 of the Act  17.58  16.09 

Amount spent during the year on

(i) Construction/acquisition of an asset

(ii) On purposes other than (i) above  6.21  11.10 
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20  Other expenses  (Continued)

Details of ongoing CSR projects under Section 135(5) of the Act 

Balance as at 1 April 2024 Amount 
required to 

be spent 
during the 

year

Amount spent during the 
year

Balance as at 31 March 
2025

With the 
Holding 

Company

In separate CSR 
unspent account

From the 
Holding 

Company 
bank 

account

From 
separate 

CSR unspent 
account

With the 
Holding 

Company *

In separate 
CSR unspent 

account

 6.33  4.75  17.91  8.95  4.67  11.70  3.67 

*The Holding Company has transferred the unspent CSR amount to a separate CSR unspent account 
subsequent to the balance sheet date, within the statutory timelines.  

Details of CSR expenditure under Section 135(5) of the Act in respect of other than ongoing projects  

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Balance unspent as at the beginning of the year  -   -

Amount deposited in specified fund of schedule VII of the act 
with in 6 months  -   -

Amount required to be spent during the year  -    -   

Amount spent during the year  -    -   
Balance unspent as at the end of the year  -    -   

21  Income tax expense

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

A. Income tax expense recognized in Profit and Loss:

Current tax  420.44  253.00 

Share of Current tax of Associate Group  469.17  530.47 

Deferred tax  135.66  171.88 

Income tax reconciliation:

Profit before tax  2,686.63  2,213.18 

Applied tax rate 25.17% 25.17%

Income tax expense calculated at Applied Tax rate  676.22  557.06 

Total income tax expense recognized during the year  1,025.28  955.35 

Differential tax impact  349.06  398.29 
  

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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21 Income tax expense (Continued)

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Differential tax impact due to the following Tax benefits / (Tax 
expense) :

Tax on exempt Income  (0.93)  (0.93)

Interest on tax liability  -   

Expenses not allowable, net  4.72  4.55 

Tax difference on  Share of Current tax pertains to invest-
ments accounted for using equity method  321.47  397.18 

Others  23.80  (2.51)

Total  349.06  398.29 

22  Earnings per share

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Group  1,661.35  1,257.83

Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during 
the year (in Nos.)  2,85,97,200  2,85,97,200

Face value of share (Rs.) 10.00  10.00

Earnings per Share 

- Basic (Rs.)  580.95  439.84 

- Diluted (Rs.)  580.95  439.84 

23.   Commitments

Capital commitments 

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities is 
as follows:  

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2025

 As at 
31 March 2024

Property, plant and equipment  51.34  38.82 

Investements in Vizag Multipurpose Terminal Private Limited 
(Jointly Controlled Entity)  32.49  44.99 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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24  Contingent liabilities

Particulars  As at
31 March 2025

As at
31 March 2024

Claims against the Group not acknowledged as debt - 
Disputed dues relating to supplies / other civil cases  0.90  0.90 

Claims against the Group not acknowledged as debt - 
Disputed dues relating to value added tax  159.10  143.14 

Disputed customs duty demand for which the Group has pre-
ferred an appeal before the CESTAT  112.26  98.49 

Claims against the Group not acknowledged as debt - 
Disputed refunds relating to Goods and Services Tax  468.02  253.80 

Claims against the Group not acknowledged as debt - 
Disputed dues relating to Other Indirect Tax cases  9.39  9.39 

Disputed income tax demands contested in Appeals not 
provided for:
- Appeal pending before Commissioner of Income Tax 
(Appeals) for the AY 2014-15  0.14  0.13 

(a)   Allahabad High Court in the case of PIL Rashtriya Kisan Mazdoor Sangathan VS State of U.P. passed 
a final order on March 09, 2017 directing the Cane Commissioner to decide afresh the issue as to 
whether the Sugar Mills are entitled for waiver of interest on the delayed payment of the price of 
sugarcane for the seasons 2012-13, 2013-14 and 2014-15 under the provisions of Section 17(3) of 
the U.P. Sugarcane (Regulations of Supply and Purchase) Act, 1953 (in short ‘the Act’). No order has 
yet been passed by the Cane Commissioner and the amount of interest, if any, payable has also not 
been determined. Based on the legal opinion received by the Industry Association, possibility of 
the liability crystallizing on this score is remote. Accordingly, no provision in considered necessary 
for such improbable liability.  

(b)  The Group has claimed refund under GST regulations in accordance with the provisions of the law. 
In certain states, the refunds have been admitted and in others it has been rejected. The refunds 
under rule 89(5) of Central Goods and Services Tax Rules, 2017, which has been rejected and for 
which the Group is contesting as at March 31, 2025 amounts to Rs.1,545.37 Crores( March 31, 
2024 : 1,070.85 Crores) The Group believes that it can successfully defend the case relating to 
refund eligible under rule 89(5).   

(c) The Central Bureau of Investigation('CBI"") has filed an FIR against the Managing director of the 
Holding Company alleging that:

(i)  during the period 2007-2014, the fertilizers have been imported by the Holding Company 
at inflated prices and claimed higher subsidies from Government of India ('GOI') and caused 
losses to the exchequer.

(ii)  commission were paid by the overseas suppliers to relatives of the Managing Director 
resulting in diverting and siphoning off funds.

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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24.  Contingent liabilities  (Continued)

The aforesaid matters were discussed in the Board Meeting held on June 1, 2021.

The Board felt that it contains unverified allegations and also based on incorrect assumptions and 
incomplete appreciation of facts on record. It is also felt that the subsidy is not Group specific and not a 
function of imports, but for the outlier method for certain period.

The Board of Directors directed the management to provide all the information relating to the case to 
all regulatory authorities as and when requested. 

The Management responded to the queries raised by the authorities both through written form and also 
by way of personal appearance on various dates and there has not been any development in this matter 
since the last annual report of 2021-22.  During the year 2021-22, a writ petition has been filed before 
the Honourable Hight Court of Delhi for quashing / setting aside the said FIR and the matter is sub-judice. 
 
The Board of Directors believe that no independent investigation is necessary as the CBI being a premier 
investigation agency is already investigating the matter. The Managing Director continues to discharge 
his official duties as decided and approved by the Board. Financial Impact and internal control lapse 
during the check period, if any, would be known only upon the conclusion of the investigation.

The Group would take necessary steps as it  deem fit and take action, if any, based on the progress of the case. 
 
The Group has a strong internal control mechanism in place for various activities and it would continue 
to evaluate and strengthen its internal controls.  

(d)  Deputy commissioner of Income tax (Central Circle-1, Delhi) has initiated assessment proceeding 
under section 153A of Income tax Act for Financial year 2011-12 to 2018-19 vide notice dated 
December 16, 2022. Pending completion of proceeding impact of the assessment on this 
consolidated financial Statement is not ascertainable as on the date of signing this Statement.  

25. Related party transactions

A. List of related parties
 Name of the related party and nature of relationship
 Significant influence over the entity
 Indian Farmers' Fertiliser Co-operative Limited (IFFCO)

 Subsidiaries of the above entity
 IFFCO-Tokio General Insurance Company Limited
 IFFCO eBazar Limited
 Kisan International Trading FZE

 Associate
 Jordan Phosphate Mines Company PLC (JPMC)
 
 Subsidiary of the above entity (JPMC)
 Nippon Jordan Fertilizers Company Limited

 Jointly Controlled Entity
 Vizag Multipurpose terminal Private Limited

 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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 Group having common director
 Wisekey India Private Limited

 Key management personnel
 Dr.P.S.Gahlaut, MD
 Mr. R.Srinivasan, CFO 
 Dr. Girish Kumar, Company Secretary

 Other Directors

 Shri. Pankaj Kumar Bansal, IAS, Chairman 

 Dr. U.S.Awasthi, Director

 Shri. Prem Chandra Munshi, Director (Upto June 2024)

 Shri. Rakesh Kapur, Director 

 Shri. Dileep Sanghani, Director

 Shri. Kamal Dayani, IAS, Director

 Shri. Kishor Kumar Rungta (Upto August 2024)

 Dr.  Sunil Kumar Singh, Director (Upto August 2024)

 Shri. Girish Dayalan (Upto August 2024)

 Dr. Sekhar Babu Geddam, IFS (Upto August 2024)

 Shri. Mallela Venkateswara Rao, Director  (Upto August 2024)

 Shri. Shridhar Baburao Dube,  IAS, Director (Upto August 2024)

 Shri. Sudhir Bhargava, Director

 Shri. Arvind Kumar Kadyan, Director 

 Ms. Vandana Chanana, Director 

 Shri. Manish Gupta, Director

 Shri. Alok Kumar Singh, IAS, Director

 Shri. Sivappirakasam Muthukkumarasamy, Director

 Shri. Sony Sebastian, Director

 Shri. Manoj Kumar Jain, Director

 Shri. Santosh Kumar Dash, OAS (SS), Director

 Shri. Amandeep Sing Thind, Director

25 Related party transactions (Conitinued)

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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25 Related party transactions (Conitinued)

 Trusts

 Indian Potash Limited Staff Provident Fund
 Indian Potash Non-Executive Staff Gratuity Fund
 Indian Potash Executive Staff Gratuity Fund
 Indian Potash Senior Executive Staff Superannuation Fund
Note :

a. Related party relationships are as identified by the management and relied upon by the auditors
b. All transactions with related parties are at arm's length price

B. Transactions with key management personnel

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Remuneration and other benefits *  2.69  2.59 

Directors sitting fees, commission and others  1.00  0.65 

Total  3.69  3.25 

*   Amount attributed to post employment benefits and compensated absences have not been 
disclosed as the same cannot be identified distinctly in the actuarial valuation.    

C. Transactions with related parties other than key management personnel

Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Investing party - Indian Farmers' Fertiliser Co-operative 
Limited (IFFCO)

Sale of goods  952.60  1,178.11 

Insurance charges recovered  1.22  1.13 

Service charges recovered  0.68  0.67 

Reimbursement of Despatch  3.78  4.58 

Discounts  85.28  79.62 

Dividend paid  7.29  6.80 

Subsidiary of IFFCO-IFFCO-Tokio General Insurance Company 
Limited

Sale of services  0.14  0.18 

Services availed  28.14  26.00 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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Particulars  Year Ended 
31 March 2025

 Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Subsidiary of IFFCO-IFFCO eBazar Limited

Sale of goods (net of discounts)  0.91  2.95
Investing party - Indian Farmers' Fertiliser Co-operative 
Limited (IFFCO)

Purchases of Goods (net of discounts) 42.69  61.39 

Associate Company - Jordan Phosphate Mines Company PLC

Purchases of Goods  541.04  188.36 

Dividend Received  1,040.09  785.51 

Issue of bonus shares  -    -   

Jointly Controlled Entiry -Vizag Multipurpose Terminal Private 
Limited

Subscription to Equity shares ( Previous year subscription 
includes Loan of Rs. 3 Crores converted into Equity shares)  12.50  6.01 

Interest Received  -    0.07 

Indian Potash Limited Staff Provident Fund

Contribution to provident fund  4.07  3.69 

Indian Potash Senior Executive Staff Superannuation Fund

Contribution to super annuation fund  0.92  0.83 

D.    Outstanding balances arising from sales / purchase of goods and services

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2025

 As at 
31 March 2024

Indian Farmers' Fertiliser Co-operative Limited (IFFCO)

Trade receivable (Sale of goods & services)  413.76  30.45 

Customer Discounts Payable  62.56  34.61 

Trade payables  7.15  29.21 
Subsidiary of IFFCO-IFFCO-Tokio General Insurance Company 
Limited

Trade receivable  11.48  15.13 

Trade Payable  -    0.04 

Subsidiary of IFFCO-IFFCO eBazar Limited

Trade receivable  0.47  0.23 

Terms and Conditions :  
Sales of goods to related parties were made at the Group's usual list prices, that prevail in arm's length 
transactions. Purchases were made at market prices. Outstanding balances at the year-end with related 
parties are unsecured (at market rates) to be settled in cash.

25 C  Transactions with related parties other than key management personnel (Continued)

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

D.    Outstanding balances arising from sales / purchase of goods and services (Continued)

In respect of related party trade receivables, the Group has made allowance for bad and doubtful 
debts as per Group's Expected Credit Loss Policy for the year ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 
respectively  
The Group has not provided any  guarantee /received during the year ended 31 March 2025 and 31 
March 2024 relating to related party transactions 
26.  Based on and to the extent of information available with the Group under the Micro, Small and 

Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (MSMED Act), the relevant particulars as at reporting 
date are furnished below:

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2025

 As at 
31 March 2024

Principal amount due to suppliers under MSMED Act, as at the 
end of the year  4.71  4.83 

Interest accrued and due to suppliers under MSMED Act on 
the above amount as at the end of the year  -    -   

Payment made to suppliers (other than interest) beyond the 
appointed day, during the year  -    -   

Interest paid to suppliers under MSMED Act (other than 
Section 16)  -    -   

Interest paid to suppliers under MSMED Act (under Section 
16)  -    -   

Interest due and payable to suppliers under MSMED Act, for 
payments already made  -    -   

Interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the year 
to suppliers under MSMED Act (ii) + (vi)  -    -   

27.    Segment reporting
Ind AS 108 establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments and related 
disclosure about product and services, geographical areas and major customers.  Based on management 
approach' as defined in  Ind AS 108, the chief operating decision maker evaluates the Group's performance 
and allocates resources based on analysis of various performance indicators by business segments. 
Accordingly information has been presented along business segment. The accounting principle used in 
the preparation of financial statements are consistently applied to record revenue and expenditure in 
individual segment and or as set out in the significant accounting policies.
Business segment of the Group comprise of:- 
(i)     Fertilisers - Trading of fertilisers
(ii)    Sugar and its related by-products.
(iii)  Others - Manufacturing of Cattle feed / Poultry feed,  Milk and Milk Products and trading of Gold 

and other precious metals.
Segment assets are measured in the same way as in the financial statements. These assets are allocated 
based on the operations of the segment and the physical location of the assets.  Segments assets do not 
include investments and income tax assets which are managed by treasury function. 
Segment liabilities are measured in the same way as in the financial statements. These liabilities are 
allocated based on the operations of the segment.  Segments liabilities do not include borrowings and 
income tax liabilities which are managed by treasury function.    
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Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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28 Fair value measurements

28.1 Financial instruments by category

Particulars
As at  31 March 2025 As at  31 March 2024

FVPL FVOCI Amortised 
cost FVPL FVOCI Amortised 

cost
Financial assets

Investment in equity 
Instruments # -  53.37 - -  36.05 -

Investment in debt instruments -  54.83 - -  55.03 -

Investment in government 
securities -  0.15 - -  0.14 

Investment in perpetual bonds -  948.19 - -  562.81 

Trade receivables -  4,507.11 - -  3,669.76 

Cash and cash equivalents -  367.18 - -  610.41 

Bank balances other than cash 
and cash equivalents -  53.88 - -  3.24 

Loans -  16.19 - -  4.26 

Other financial assets -  270.30 - -  145.55 
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS -  108.20  6,163.00 -  91.08 4,996.17

Particulars
As at  31 March 2025 As at  31 March 2024

FVPL FVOCI Amortised 
cost FVPL FVOCI Amortised 

cost

Financial liabilities   

Borrowings including accrued 
interest and current maturities  -    -    5,263.79  -    -    4,574.68 

Trade payables  -    -    3,747.12  -    -    2,051.87 

Other financial liabilities  -    -    318.71  -    -    349.51 

Lease liabilities - -    19.30  -    -    14.92 

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  -    -    9,348.92  -  -  6,990.98

Excludes investment which is measured at cost (after equity pick) being investments in equity instruments 
in Associate Group to Rs. 5,760.31 (31 March 2024: Rs.5,115.25)

# The equity securities which are not held for trading, and for which the Group has made an irrevocable 
election at initial recognition to recognise changes in fair value through OCI rather than profit or loss as 
these strategic investments and the group considered to be more relevant.

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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28.2  Valuation technique and processes

The management assessed that fair value of cash and short-term deposits, trade receivables, trade 
payables, current borrowings and other current financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying 
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. The fair value of non current 
loans and security deposits have also been assessed to be approximate to their carrying amount since 
they are repayable on demand. The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the 
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, 
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. 

The fair value of the equity instruments which are quoted are based on price quotations at reporting 
date. The fair value of unquoted Equity and Debt instruments, loans from banks and other financial 
liabilities, as well as other non-current financial liabilities is estimated by discounting future cash flows 
using rates currently available for debt on similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. In addition 
to being sensitive to a reasonably possible change in the forecast cash flows or discount rate, the fair 
value of the equity instruments is also sensitive to a reasonably possible change in the growth rates. 
The valuation requires management to use unobservable inputs in the model, of which the significant 
unobservable inputs are disclosed in the tables below. Management regularly assesses a range of 
reasonably possible alternatives for those significant unobservable inputs and determines their impact 
on the total fair value.

Fair values of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings and loans are determined by using discount rate 
(effective interest rate) that reflects the issuer’s borrowing rate as at the end of the reporting year.

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with Banks. Foreign exchange forward contracts 
are valued using valuation techniques, which employs the use of market observable inputs. The most 
frequently applied valuation techniques include forward pricing model, using present value calculations. 
As at each period presented, the marked-to-market value of derivative liability/asset position has been 
recognized in the financial statements.

28.3  Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the financial 
instruments that are (a) recognised and measured at fair value and (b) measured at amortised cost 
and for which fair values are disclosed in the financial statements. To provide an indication about the 
reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the Group has classified its financial instruments 
into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standard. An explanation of each level follows 
underneath the table.

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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28.3  Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair values - recurring fair value measurements - As at 31 
March 2025

Particulars Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial investments at FVTOCI 

Investment in Equity Instruments  32.02  -    21.35  53.37 

Investment in Debt Instruments  54.83  -    -    54.83 

Financial investments at FVTPL

Investment in mutual funds  794.99  -    -    794.99 

Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost for which fair values are disclosed - As at 31 
March 2025

Particulars Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets

Investment in government securities  -    -    0.15  0.15 

Investment in perpetual bonds  948.19  -    -    948.19 

Financial liabilities

Non current borrowings  -    -    71.80  71.80 

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair values - recurring fair value measurements - As at 31 
March 2024

Particulars Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets

Financial investments at FVTOCI 

Investment in Equity Instruments  14.70  -   21.35  36.05 

Investment in Debt Instruments  55.03  -    -    55.03 

Financial investments at FVTPL

Investment in mutual funds  -    -    -    -   

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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28.3  Fair value hierarchy  (Continued)
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair values (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost for which fair values are disclosed - As at 31 
March 2024

Particulars Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets

Investment in government securities  -    -    0.14  0.14 

Investment in perpetual bonds  562.81  -    -    562.81 

Financial liabilities

Non current borrowings  -    -    124.99  124.99 

There have been no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the year.

Level 1 : The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded 
derivatives and equity securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. 
The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These 
instruments are included in level 1. 

Level 2 – Traded bonds, over the counter derivaties that are not traded in an active market is determined 
using observable market data and less reliance on entity-specific estimates.   

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument 
is included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities, contingent consideration and 
indemnification asset included in level 3.    

28.4   Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Particulars
As at  31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024

Carrying 
amount

Fair value Carrying 
amount

 Fair value

Financial assets

Investment in government securities  0.15  0.15  0.14  0.14 

Investment in perpetual bonds  948.19  948.19  562.81  562.81 

TOTAL ASSETS  948.34  948.34  562.95  562.95 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

Financial liabilities

Borrowings  71.80  71.80  124.99  124.99 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 71.80 71.80 124.99 124.99
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28.4   Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (Continued)

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, trade payables, other current financial assets and liabilities, 
cash and cash equivalents and other Bank balances are considered to be the same as their fair values, 
due to their short-term nature. The fair value of non current loans and security deposits have also been 
assessed to be approximate to their carrying amount since the loans are repayable on contractual terms.

The fair values for non current borrowings have been assessed to be approximate to their carrying 
amount since the borrowings carry a variable interest rate linked to the market. 

For financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value, the carrying amounts are equal to the 
fair values.

28.5    Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financials instruments are valued based on quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in 
active markets or inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.

The Group is exposed to foreign currency fluctuations on foreign currency assets/ liabilities and 
forecasted cash flows denominated in foreign currency. The Group follows established risk management 
policies, including the use of derivatives to hedge foreign currency assets/ liabilities and foreign 
currency forecasted cash flows. The counter party in these derivative instruments is a bank and the 
Group considers the risks of non-performance by the counterparty as non-material.  

The following table presents the aggregate contracted principal amounts of the Group’s derivative 
contracts outstanding :  

Particulars
 31 March 2025  31 March 2024

USD Crores USD Crores

Forward contracts (sell)  0.32  -   

Forward contracts (Buy)  1.96  -   

Foreign currency principal swap (buy) 0.07  0.36 

The foreign exchange forward contracts generally mature anywhere between 3-30 days. The foreign 
currency interest swap contracts mature anywhere between 2 to 39 months. 

29  Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency 
risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s primary focus is to foresee the unpredictability of financial markets 
and seek to minimize potential adverse effects on its financial performance. 

The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are 
summarised below : 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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29  Financial risk management (Continued)

29(i) Credit risk        

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers 
and investment securities. Credit risk arises from cash held with banks and financial institutions, as well 
as credit exposure to clients, including outstanding accounts receivable. The maximum exposure to credit 
risk is equal to the carrying value of the financial assets. The objective of managing  counterparty credit 
risk is to prevent losses in financial assets. The Group assesses the credit quality of the counterparties, 
taking into account their financial position, past experience and other factors.

a)  Trade and other receivables        

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer 
(Government and Non-Government). The risk relating to Trade receivables, dues from Government (which 
represents subsidy receivable) and export customer has been assessed by the management as not to 
be material. In respect of Non-Government customers, the demographics of the customer, including the 
default risk of the industry and country in which the customer operates, also has an influence on credit 
risk assessment.  

b) Investments        

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by generally investing in liquid securities and only with 
counterparties that have a good credit rating. The Group does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these counterparties, and does not have any significant concentration of exposures to 
specific industry sectors.       

Expected credit loss for trade receivables under simplified approach (Non-Government receivables 
excluding export receivables)      

As at 31 March 2025:      

Ageing
Not due 0-90  past 

due
90 to 180 
days past 

due

180 to 
270 days 
past due

270 to 
360 days 
past due

360 to 
720 days 
past due

More than 
720 days 
past due

Total

Gross carrying 
amount

 1,351.53  230.02  29.13  12.65  3.32  10.34  231.48  1,868.47 

Expected loss rate 0.61% 1.04% 2.37% 17.00% 37.95% 71.86% 100.00%

Expected credit 
losses  
(loss allowance 
provision) 

 (8.27)  (2.40)  (0.69)  (2.15)  (1.26)  (7.43)  (231.48)  (253.68)

Carrying amount of 
trade receivables 
(net of impairment)

 1,343.26  227.62  28.44  10.50  2.06  2.91  -    1,614.79 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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29 (i)  Credit risk (Continued)
Expected credit loss for trade receivables under simplified approach (Non-Government receivables 
excluding export receivables) (Continued)
 As at 31 March 2024:     

Ageing
Not due 0-90  past 

due
90 to 180 
days past 

due

180 to 
270 days 
past due

270 to 
360 days 
past due

360 to 
720 days 
past due

More than 
720 days 
past due

Total

Gross carrying amount  967.10  256.02  68.47  14.54  3.58  14.99  231.05  1,555.75 

Expected loss rate 1.26% 2.78% 11.19% 23.18% 39.94% 85.72% 100.00%

Expected credit losses  
(loss allowance 
provision) 

 (12.20)  (7.13)  (7.66)  (3.37)  (1.43)  (12.85)  (231.05)  (275.69)

Carrying amount of 
trade receivables (net of 
impairment)

 954.90  248.89  60.81  11.17  2.15  2.14  -    1,280.06 

29(ii) Liquidity risk        

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
become due. The Group manages its liquidity risk by ensuring, as far as possible, that it will always 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due. Also, the Group has unutilized credit limits 
with banks. The Group’s corporate treasury department is responsible for liquidity, funding as well 
as settlement management. In addition, processes and policies related to such risks are overseen by 
senior management. 

The cash position of the Group is given below:

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2025

 As at 
31 March 2024

Cash and cash equivalents  367.18  610.41 

Bank balances other than Cash and cash equivalents  53.88  3.24 

Total  421.06  613.65 

a)     Financing arrangements     

 The Group has access to the following undrawn borrowing facilities at the end of the reporting 
period:        

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2025

 As at 
31 March 2024

Expiring within one year - short term borrowings and other 
facilities expiring 31 March 2025 (Fund and non fund based)   17,611.84  24,961.91

 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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29(ii) Liquidity risk  (Continued)

b)     Maturities of financial liabilities     

 The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of significant financial 
liabilities As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024:

Particulars
As at  31 March 2025

Less than 
one year 1-2 years 2 years and 

above Total

Fixed interest rate borrowings  5,130.13  5,130.13 

Variable interest rate borrowings 
(Refer note below)  61.86  55.79  16.01  133.67 

Lease liabilities  6.34  6.34  6.62  19.30 

Trade payables  3,705.98  20.49  20.65  3,747.12 

Other financial liabilities  190.26  100.35  28.10  318.71 

Total  9,094.57  182.97  71.38  9,348.92 

Particulars
As at  31 March 2024

Less than 
one year 1-2 years 2 years and 

above Total

Fixed interest rate borrowings  4,028.18  4,028.18 

Variable interest rate borrowings (Refer note 
below)  71.51  55.56  69.43  196.50 

Lease liabilities  4.78  5.26  4.88  14.92 

Trade payables  1,936.59  40.36  74.92  2,051.87 

Other financial liabilities  235.16  86.25  28.10  349.51 

Total  6,276.22  187.43  177.33  6,640.98 

Note:    

The variable interest rate borrowings carry an interest rate which are linked to the market and hence 
in absence of known amount of outflow in respect of interest, the current undiscounted amounts have 
been disclosed. 

29(iii) Foreign currency risk        

The Group’s exchange risk arises from foreign currency  expenses, (primarily in U.S. Dollars and Euros) 
and foreign currency borrowings (in U.S. dollars). A significant portion of the Group’s purchase of stock 
in trade are in these foreign currencies, As a result, if the value of the Indian rupee appreciates relative 
to these foreign currencies, the Group’s costs measured in rupees may decrease. The exchange rate 
between the Indian rupee and these foreign currencies has changed in recent periods and may continue 
to fluctuate in the future. The Group has a Corporate Treasury department which meets on a periodic 
basis to formulate the strategy for foreign currency risk management. The Group does not primarily deal 
with derivative instruments.         

         

         

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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29(iii) Foreign currency risk  (Continued)

The following table presents foreign currency risk from non-derivative financial instruments as of 31 
March 2025 and 31 March 2024 :       

As at  31 March 2025

Particulars  USD Crores INR Equivalent  
(in Crores)

Assets:

EEFC Account  0.03  2.86 

Trade receivables  4.18  357.56 

Liabilities:

Borrowings  59.24  5,063.53 

Trade payables  20.55  1,756.28 

As at  31 March 2024

Particulars  USD Crores INR Equivalent  
(in Crores)

Assets:

EEFC Account  0.20  16.33 

Trade receivables  0.45  37.33 

Liabilities:

Borrowings  46.91  3,912.22 

Trade payables 13.47 1,123.32

Sensitivity analysis

Particulars Impact on profit after tax
31 March 2025 31 March 2024

USD Sensitivity

INR/USD - Increase by 10% (31 March 2024-10%)  (661.70)  (515.60)

INR/USD - Decrease by 10% (31 March 2024-10%)  661.70  515.60 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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29(iii) Foreign currency risk  (Continued)

29(iv)   Interest rate risk    

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group has been availing borrowings at  fixed and 
variable rate of interest. These borrowings are carried at amortised cost. The borrowings on a fixed 
rate of interest basis are not subject to the interest rate risk as defined in Ind AS 107, since neither the 
carrying amount nor the future cash flows will fluctuate because of change in interest market rates. The 
borrowings on a variable rate of interest are subject to interest rate risk as defined in Ind AS 107.

Interest earned : Interest rates on debt instruments and Bank deposits  are fixed and hence do not 
expose the Group to significant interest rate risk.

Classification of borrowings by nature of interest rate :

Particulars As at 
31 March 2025

As at 
31 March 2024

Borrowings at variable interest rate :

 - Current  61.86  71.51 

 - Non-current  71.80  124.99 

Borrowings at fixed interest rate :

 - Current  5,130.13  4,378.18 

 - Non-current  -    -   

Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

Particulars Impact on profit after tax
31 March 2025 31 March 2024

Interest rates increase by 10 base points*  (0.17)  (0.15)

Interest rates decrease by 10 base points  0.17  0.15 

*The Group has availed short term loan facilities at specified interest rates and such interest rates are 
linked to RBI Repo rates (March 31, 2024 : LIBOR/Treasury bill rates).  

29(v) Price Risk        

The  Group is exposed to price risks arising from investments in Debt and Equity instruments. These 
investments are held for strategic purposes only and not for the purposes of trading.  The sensitivity 
analyses given below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the end of 
the reporting period.

If equity prices had been 1% higher/lower other comprehensive income / equity for the year ended 31 
March 2025 would increase/ decrease by Rs.1.08 (31 March 2024 : Rs.0.91) as a result of the changes in 
fair value of equity and debt investments measured at FVTOCI. There is no impact of change in equity 
price on profit or loss.       

         

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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30 Additional regulatory information required by Schedule III

(a) Details of benami property held      

 No proceedings have been initiated on or are pending against the Group for holding benami 
property under the Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 (45 of 1988) and Rules made 
thereunder.      

(b) Borrowing secured against current assets      

 The Group has borrowings from banks and financial institutions on the basis of security of current 
assets. The Group files quarterly returns or statements of current assets with banks and financial 
institutions.      

(c) Wilful defaulter      

 The Group has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or government 
or any government authority.      

(d) Relationship with struck off companies      

 The Group does not have any relations with the companies struck off under section 248 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 or section 560 of the Companies Act, 1956.    

(e) Compliance with number of layers of companies      
 The Group has complied with the number of layers prescribed under section 2(87) of the Companies 

Act, 2013 read with Companies (restriction on number of layers) Rules, 2017   

(f) Compliance with approved scheme(s) of arrangements      

 The Group has not entered into any scheme of arrangement which has an accounting impact on 
current financial year.      

(g) Utilisation of borrowed funds and share premium      

 The Group has not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other person(s) or entity(ies), 
including foreign entities (Intermediaries) with the understanding that the Intermediary shall:

a.  directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner 
whatsoever by or on behalf of the group (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

b.  provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the ultimate beneficiaries.

 The Group has not received any fund from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities 
(Funding Party) with the understanding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Group 
shall :

a.  directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner 
whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

b.  provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the ultimate beneficiaries.  
     

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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30.   Additional regulatory information required by Schedule III  (Continued)       

(h) Undisclosed income      

 The Group does not have any transactions not recorded in the books of accounts that has been 
surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in tax assessments under the Income-tax Act, 
1961.      

(i) Details of crypto currency or virtual currency      

 The Group has not traded or invested in crypto currency or virtual currency during the current or 
previous year.      

(j) Revaluation of Property,plant & Equipment,intangible asset and investment property

 The Group has not revalued its property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) or 
intangible assets or both during the current or previous year. 

31 Interests in other entities    

(a)  Subsidiaries       

The group's subsidiaries at 31 March 2025 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share 
capital consisting solely of equity shares that are held directly by the group, and the proportion of 
ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the group. The Country of incorporation or 
registration is also their principal place of business. 

Name of 
entity

Place of 
business/ 
Country of 

incorporation

Ownership interest 
held by the group

Ownership interest held by 
non controlling interests

Principal 
activities

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

IPL Sugars 
and Bio Fuels 
Ltd

India 100% 100%  -    -   
Manufacture 
of sugar and 

allied products

(i)  Summarised cash flows

Particulars IPL Sugars and Bio Fuels Ltd
31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

Summarised cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities  (5.02)  (3.90)

Cash flows from investing activities  -    -   

Cash flows from financing activities  5.01  3.90 

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (0.00)  (0.00)

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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(b)  Jointly Controlled Entiry       

The group's Jointly Conrolled Entity (JCE) venture at 31 March 2025 are set out below. Unless otherwise 
stated, they have share capital consisting solely of equity shares that are held directly by the group, and 
the proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the group. The Country of 
incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business.      
 

Name of 
entity

Place of 
business/ 
Country of 

incorporation

Ownership interest 
held by the group

Ownership interest held by 
non controlling interests

Principal 
activities

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

Vizag 
Multipurpose 
Terminal 
Private 
Limited

India 50% 50% 50% 50%
Logistics and 

cargo handling 
services

(i)  Summarised cash flows

Particulars
Vizag Multipurpose terminal private 

Limited
31-Mar-25 31-Mar-23

Cash flows from operating activities  0.26  (4.20)

Cash flows from investing activities  (29.40)  (3.12)

Cash flows from financing activities  54.73  12.01 

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  25.59  (4.20)

(c)  Interests in Associates
Set out below are the associates of the group As at 31 March 2025 which, in the opinion of the directors, 
are material to the group. The entities listed below have share capital consisting solely of equity shares, 
which are held directly by the group. The Country of incorporation or registration is also their principal 
place of business, and the portion of ownership interest is the same as the portion of voting rights 
held. 

Name of 
entity

Place of 
business/ 
Country of 

incorporation

% of 
own-
ership 

interest

Accounting 
method

Fair value * Carrying 
amount

Fair value 
* 

Carrying 
amount

31-Mar
2025

31-Mar
2025

31-Mar
2024

31-Mar
2024

Jordan 
Phosphate 
Mines 
Company 
Plc

Jordan 27.38% Equity 
method  14,359.00  5,742.12  8,913.90  5,109.71 

* Fair value for 31 March 2025 and 2024 are considered based on quoted prices.

31 Interests in other entities  (Continued)

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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31 Interests in other entities  (Continued)

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

Jordan Phosphate Mines Company aims at mining and processing phosphate ore in Jordan. Its products 
complement the business of the Group. The same is classified as a Level 1 (31 March 2024: Level 1) 
investment in accordance with Ind AS 113. The investment is not allocated to a specific segment. 

In May 2018, Indian Potash Limited acquired 27.38% shares in Jordan Phosphate Mines Company Plc. 
The Group has accounted based on equity method of the profits for the year January  2024 to December 
2024 and January 2023 to December 2023 for the year ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 
respectively subject to notional purchase price allocation and its related adjustments. The Group in 
the previous years has considered the acquisition price as the fair value since it was based on market 
price and confirmed by an independent valuer. Consequently no goodwill / capital reserve arose on 
acquisition.

(i)  Commitments and contingent liabilities in respect of associate  

Particulars As at 
31 March 2025

As at 
31 March 2024

Outstanding letter of credit  500.24  457.72 

Outstanding letter of guarantee  216.19  181.19 

Litigations  1,766.99  1,846.11 

(d)  Summarised financial information for Associate  and Jointly Controlled Entity

The table below provide summarised financial information for associate & Jointly Controlled Entity 
that is material to the group. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the financial 
statements of the associate & Jointly Controlled Entity and not Indian Potash Limited's share of those 
amounts. They have been amended to reflect adjustments made by the entity when using the equity 
method, including fair value adjustments made at the time of acquisition and modifications for difference 
in accounting policies.

(i)  Summarised balance sheet

Particulars

Jordan Phosphate Mines 
Company Plc

As at 
31 December 2024

As at 
31 December 2023

Total current assets  15,994.14  15,816.30 

Total non current assets  9,942.78  9,347.68 

Total current liabilities  1,983.30  3,462.22 

Total non current liabilities  2,026.69  1,948.00 
Net assets  21,926.93  19,753.76 
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31 Interests in other entities  (Continued)

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

(ii) Reconciliation to carrying amounts of Jordan Phosphate Mines Company Plc

Particulars

Jordan Phosphate 
Mines Company Plc

As at 
31 December 2024

As at 
31 December 2023

Opening net assets  18,662.22  16,175.59 

Profit for the year (Previous year: 31 December 2023)  5,372.98  5,169.55 

Other comprehensive income for the year (Previous year: 
31 December 2023)  (46.61)  1.68 

Dividends paid  (3,796.93)  (2,882.88)

Purchase Price allocation adjustments impact during the 
year  31.56  51.16 

Inter group elimination Profit/Loss  -    -   

Exchange difference on translation  748.74  147.12 
Closing net assets  20,971.96  18,662.22 

Group's share in % 27.38% 27.38%

Group's share in INR  5,742.12  5,109.71 

Less: Impairment loss  -    -   
Carrying amount  5,742.12  5,109.71 

(iii)  Summarised statement of profit and loss

Particulars
Jordan Phosphate Mines Company Plc

Year Ended
31 December 2024

Year Ended 
31 December 2023

Revenue  14,317.66  14,318.12 

Profit for the year  5,403.38  5,204.65 

Other comprehensive income  (46.97)  1.28 

Total comprehensive income  5,356.41  5,205.93 

Dividends received  1,040.09  785.51 

Particulars Year ended  
31 March 2025

Year ended  
31 March 2024

Share of profits before tax from associate  1,948.72  1,959.90 

Less : Tax  (468.96)  (530.47)
Total share of profits from associate (after adjusting for 
impairment loss / reversal of impairment)  1,479.76  1,429.43 
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Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

31 Interests in other entities  (Continued)

(d)  Summarised financial information for Associate  and Jointly Controlled Entity (Continued)

(iv) Reconciliation to carrying amounts of Vizag Multipurpose Terminal Private Limited

Particulars

Vizag Multipurpose Terminal Private 
Limited

As at 
31 March 2025

As at 
31 March 2024

Carrying amount ( Group share is 50 %)  18.19  5.54 

Share of profits/(Loss) before tax from Jointly Controlled Entity  0.25  (0.48)

Less : Tax  (0.21)  -   
Total share of profits from joint venture (after adjusting for 
impairment loss / reversal of impairment)  0.04  (0.48)

32. Capital management      

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain shareholders' and lenders' 
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Capital Base comprises of Equity Share 
Capital and Other Equity. The Group monitors the return on capital as well as the level of dividends on 
its equity shares. The Group’s objective when managing capital is to maintain an optimal structure so as 
to maximize shareholder value.

Particulars As at 
31 March 2025

As at 
31 March 2024

Borrowings and lease liabilities  5,263.79  4,574.68 

Less :Cash and cash equivalents and other bank balances  (421.06)  (613.65)

Net Debt  4,842.73  3,961.03 

Total equity  11,321.49  9,516.21 

Net Debt to Equity Ratio 42.77% 41.62%

The net debt to equity ratio for the current year has increased from 41.62% to 42.77% following the 
significant decrease in cash and cash equivalents during the year.     
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Distributions made and proposed 

Particulars As at 
31 March 2025

As at 
31 March 2024

(i) Dividend on equity shares declared and paid

Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024: INR 7.5 
per share (Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023 :       
INR 7 per share)

 21.45  20.02 

Particulars As at 
31 March 2025

As at 
31 March 2024

(ii) Proposed dividend

"Following dividends proposed by the directors after the 
reporting date and subject to the approval at the annual 
general meeting have not been recognised as liabilities at the 
year-end: 
Proposed dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025: INR 
20 per share (31 March 2024: Proposed dividend for the year 
ended 31 March 2024: INR 7.5 per share)"

 57.19  21.45 

33. Disclosure of information in terms of section 186 (4) of the Companies Act, 2013 :

Name of entity Nature of 
relationship 31 March 2025 31 March 2024

Jordan Phosphate Mines Company PLC Related Party  5,742.12  5,109.71 

Vizag Multipurpose Terminal Private 
Limited Related Party  18.19  5.54 

Indian Commodity Exchange Limited Not a related Party  21.34  21.34 

BSE Limited Not a related Party  32.02  14.70 

 IRFC Tax Free Bonds Not a related Party  8.66  8.59 

 NHAI Tax Free Bonds  Not a related Party  30.73  30.60 

 HUDCO Tax Free Bonds Not a related Party  15.44  15.84 

BOB Perpetual Bond Not a related Party  125.16  181.98 

Union Bank of India Perpetual Bond Not a related Party  141.49  59.94 

Canara Bank Perpetual Bond Not a related Party  80.67  55.34 

PNB Perpetual Bond Not a related Party  175.35  175.35 

Bank of Maharashtra Perpetual Bond Not a related Party  25.31  -   

Bank of India Perpetual Bond Not a related Party  25.27  -   

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

32. Capital management  (Continued)
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Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

33. Disclosure of information in terms of section 186 (4) of the Companies Act, 2013 : (Continued)

Name of entity Nature of 
relationship 31 March 2025 31 March 2024

Cholamandalam Investment and Finance 
Co. Ltd Perpetual bond Not a related Party  150.11  -   

Tata International Ltd Perpetual bond Not a related Party  10.08  -   

Telangana State Industrial Infrastructure 
Corporation Perpetual bond Not a related Party  102.31  -   

Tata Industries Ltd Non - Convertible 
Debentures Not a related Party  12.25  -   

SBI Perpetual Bond Not a related Party  100.19  90.21 
Total  6,816.69  5,769.14 

Note :  
Loans to employees have been considered to be outside the purview of this disclosure requirement

34. Additional information as required by Paragraph 2 of the General Instructions for preparation of 
Consolidated Financial Statements to Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013 

For the year ended 31 March 2025

Particulars

Net assets, i.e., total assets 
minus total liabilities Share of profit or loss

As % of 
consolidated 

net assets
Amount

As % of 
consolidated 
profit or loss

Amount

Indian Potash Limited 49.36%  5,588.77 11.18%  185.57 

IPL Sugars and Bio Fuels Ltd (0.24%)  (27.59) (0.24%)  (4.02)

Jordan Phosphate Mines Company Plc 50.72%  5,742.12 89.07%  1,479.76 

Vizag Multipurpose Terminal Private 
Limited 0.16%  18.19 0.00%  0.04 

Total 100.00%  11,321.49 100.00%  1,661.35 
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Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

34. Additional information as required by Paragraph 2 of the General Instructions for preparation of 
Consolidated Financial Statements to Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013  (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Continued)

Particulars

Share in other 
comprehensive income 

Share in total 
comprehensive income

As % of 
consolidated 
other com-
prehensive 

income 

Amount
As % of total 
comprehen-
sive income

Amount

Indian Potash Limited 129.14%  208.17 21.64%  393.74 

IPL Sugars and Bio Fuels Ltd 0.00%  -   (0.22%)  (4.02)

Jordan Phosphate Mines Company Plc (29.14%)  (46.97) 78.57%  1,429.43 

Vizag Multipurpose Terminal Private 
Limited 0.00%  -   0.01%  0.04 

Total 100.00%  161.20 100.00%  1,819.19 

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Particulars

Net assets, i.e., total assets 
minus total liabilities Share of profit or loss

As % of 
consolidated 

net assets
Amount

As % of 
consolidated 
profit or loss

Amount

Indian Potash Limited 46.49%  4,424.54 (13.31%)  (167.40)

IPL Sugars and Bio Fuels Ltd (0.25%)  (23.58) (0.30%)  (3.72)

Jordan Phosphate Mines Company Plc 53.69%  5,109.71 113.64%  1,429.43 

Vizag Multipurpose Terminal Private 
Limited 0.06%  5.54 (0.04%)  (0.48)

Total 100.00% 9516.21 100.00% 1,257.83

Particulars

Share in other 
comprehensive income 

Share in total 
comprehensive income

As % of 
consolidated 
other com-
prehensive 

income 

Amount
As % of total 
comprehen-
sive income

Amount

Indian Potash Limited 96.69%  37.36 (10.03%)  (130.04)

IPL Sugars and Bio Fuels Ltd 0.00%  -   (0.29%)  (3.72)

Jordan Phosphate Mines Company Plc 3.31%  1.28 110.35%  1,430.71 

Vizag Multipurpose Terminal Private 
Limited 0.00%  -   (0.04%)  (0.48)

Total 100.00% 38.64 100.00% 1,296.47
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35. Extracts of revenue details and Provision for employee benefits - Note 22 and Note 16 of 
Consolidated Financial Statements of Jordan Phosphate Mines Company Plc

Particulars

Sales  
(in thousands of Jordanian Dinars) 
Year Ended

31 December 2024
Year Ended

31 December 2023

Phosphate unit  6,28,450  6,98,094 

Fertilizer unit  3,05,263  2,61,757 

Indo Jordan  1,33,713  1,28,590 

Nippon  1,32,411  1,27,810 

Trading in raw materials  13,436  12,983 
Total  12,13,273  12,29,234 

Provisions for employees' benefits    

The table below illustrates the details of provisions for employees’ benefits as of 31 December is as 
follow :  

Particulars

Amount 
(in thousands of Jordanian Dinars)

As at
31 December 2024

As at 
31 December 2023

Defined benefit plans (A)  64,806  84,723 

Employees’ compensations (B)  903  849 

Employees incentives and retirees’ grants (c)  735  735 
Total  66,444  86,307 

Current portion  8,716  44,865 

Non-current portion  57,728  55,864 
Total  66,444  1,00,729 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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35. Extracts of revenue details and Provision for employee benefits - Note 22 and Note 16 of 
Consolidated Financial Statements of Jordan Phosphate Mines Company Plc (Continued)

Defined benefit plans

The following is the movement on the provision of defined benefit plans:  

Particulars

31 December 2024 
(in thousands of Jordanian Dinars)

End of 
Service Bonus 

Compensa-
tion*

Death and 
Compensation 

fund**

Compensation 
bonus for six 

months
Total

Balance as of 1 January 2024 2,384.00 80,578.00 1,761.00 84,723.00 

Service cost 100.00 4,903.00 158.00 5,161.00 

Interest cost 100.00 4,258.00 0.00 4,358.00 

Employees contributions 0.00 381.00 0.00 381.00 

Paid benefits during the year  (35.00)  (34,751.00)  (162.00) (34,948.00)

Employee share of payments  -    (381.00)  -   (381.00)

Actuarial loss due to experience  -    4,371.00  16.00 4,387.00 

Actuarial loss due to change in financial 
assumptions  -    1,063.00  62.00 1,125.00 

Balance as of 31 December 2024  2,549.00  60,422.00  1,835.00  64,806.00 

Particulars

31 December 2023 
(in thousands of Jordanian Dinars)

End of Service 
Bonus 

Compensation

Death and 
Compensation 

fund

Compensation 
bonus for six 

months

Total

Balance as of 1 January 2023 2,302.00 95,165.00 1,760.00 99,227.00 

Service cost 100.00 10,761.00 170.00 11,031.00 

Interest cost 100.00 4,915.00 0.00 5,015.00 

Employees contributions 0.00 460.00 0.00 460.00 

Paid benefits during the year  (118.00)  (29,752.00)  (222.00) (30,092.00)

Employee share of payments  -    (460.00)  -   (460.00)

Actuarial loss due to experience  -    (821.00)  (18.00) (839.00)

Actuarial loss due to change in financial 
assumptions  -    310.00  71.00 381.00 

Balance as of 31 December 2023  2,384.00  80,578.00  1,761.00  84,723.00 

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  
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Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

35. Extracts of revenue details and Provision for employee benefits - Note 22 and Note 16 of Consol-
idated Financial Statements of Jordan Phosphate Mines Company Plc (Continued)

* During 2011, the Group calculated the provision for employees’ end-of-service bonus based on JD 1,000 
per each service year for each employee in accordance with the signed agreement with the Jordanian 
Mines Employees Labor Union on 9 June 2011 and according to the Board of Directors decisions made 
on the 2 July 2011 and 28 July 2011 which set the end of service bonus basis. The Board of Directors 
decided in 2018 to grant employees who are included in this program and are still on their jobs, if they 
wish to terminate their services before 31 December 2018, an incentive by increasing the compensation 
to become JD 2,000 for each year of service.

End-of-service bonus compensation is earned based on years of service and the liability is determined 
based on the present value of the gross liability at the date of the consolidated financial statements. The 
end-of-service bonus compensation using the projected unit credit method. 

"** During March 2015, the Group established the Death and Compensation Fund in accordance with 
the Board of Directors resolution. The Fund grants the employees included in the Fund plan upon their 
retirement, an average of two months’ salary as a bonus for each year of service with a maximum of 23 
years of service and the bonus amount is determined based on the last salary subject to social security 
and capped at JD 4,000. The fund objectives are as follow:

1. Reducing the cost of employees’ salaries.

2. Reducing the number of employees in the Group as a technical study showed that Group’s 
operations can be handled with no more than 2,000 employees.

3.  Multiplicity of compensation schemes for the years (2000-2011) failing to reduce number of 
employees or cost of salaries.

According to the defined benefit obligation, the Death and Compensation fund’s liability is calculated 
based on year of service and the present value of the defined obligation is determined by discounting 
estimated future cash flows using the interest rate on high quality governmental bonds.  

Significant actuarial assumptions used to determine death and compensation fund liability as of 31 
December are as follow:

Particulars 31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

Discount rate 6.47% - 6.77% 6.95% - 7.09%

Salary increase rate 3.5% - 6% 3.5% - 6%

Resignation rate:

Up to the age of 34 years 3% - 5% 3% - 5%

From the age of 35 to 49 years 2% - 5% 2% - 5%

Age 50 years and over 0% - 5% 0% - 5%
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Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  

35. Extracts of revenue details and Provision for employee benefits - Note 22 and Note 16 of Consol-
idated Financial Statements of Jordan Phosphate Mines Company Plc (Continued)

*The following table represents sensitivity analysis of changes in significant actuarial assumptions used 
to determine the present value of death and compensation fund liability as of 31 December: 

Discount Rate Increment salary 
increase rate Resignation rate

Percentage
%

Increase
/ (Decrease)

(in 
thousands 

of Jordanian 
Dinars) 

Percentage
%

Increase
/ (Decrease)

(in 
thousands 

of Jordanian 
Dinars) 

Percentage

%

Increase
/ (Decrease)

(in 
thousands of 

Jordanian  
Dinars)

2024 - +1  (4,224.00) +1  4,435.00 +1  435.00 

-1  4,691.00 -1  (4,289.00) -1  (463.00)

2023 - +1  (3,945.00) +1  4,168.00 +1  486.00 

-1  4,402.00 -1  (4,018.00) -1  (519.00)

36.   Acquisition of Sugar Unit :       

Pursuant to a Business Transfer Agreement (BTA) entered into with M/s.T.J.Agro Fertilizers Pvt. Ltd          
(Seller), the Company acquired the entire business of  Seller’s Navsari Unit, having manufacturing capac-
ity of SSP-P of 33,000 MT and SSP-G of 22,000 MT (the business) on  “As is where is and what is” basis 
as a going concern on a slump sale along with rights, titles and interest of the seller in Navsari Unit for 
a lumpsum consideration aggregating to Rs.19.50 Crores with effect from 2nd April, 2024.

The said consideration has been allocated to the Assets and Liabilities based on the respective fair value 
as determined by the independent valuer.  The difference between the fair value of the net assets taken 
over and the lumpsum consideration paid aggregating to Rs. 4.18 Crores has been accounted as capital 
reserve and disclosed in note No.8(b) to the financial statements.

Particulars Amount in Crores
Land 13.02
Buildings 7.18
Plant & Equipment 3.24
Vehicles 0.13
Sub-total 23.57
Net Current Assets 0.11
Net Assets 23.68
Less : Purchase Consideration 19.50
Capital Reserve 4.18
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36. Acquisition of Sugar Unit :  ( Continued)      

As at the reporting date, Land and Buildings are transferred in the name of the Company and the 
conveyance deed registered with jurisdictional Sub-registrar office based at Navsari, State of Gujarat on 
09th April, 2024.  As per the BTA, the employees of Navsari were absorbed on the rolls of the Company 
effective from 09th April, 2024.  The liability towards terminal benefits like gratuity, PF and leave 
encashment payable to the employees as on 09th April, 2024 has been settled by the seller.  Accordingly 
as per the BTA, the Company has duly  provided accrued liability for terminal benefits including the 
employees of Navsari unit as at the reporting date.

The statement of Profit and Loss accounts of the Company includes revenue earned and the expenses 
incurred by Navsari Unit for the period from 09th April 2024 to 31st March, 2025, as the Company has 
taken over the management control of Navsari Unit from 09th April, 2024 and all key activities are 
directed and controlled by the Company effective from 09th April, 2024.

37. Events after the reporting date      

(i) Subsequent to period end, the Holding Company  has proposed final dividend of Rs. 20 per fully 
paid share, subject to the approval of shareholders in the ensuing annual general meeting (Refer 
note 32)

38. Previous Year's figures are recast/regrouped wherever necessary to conform to the classification of 
the current year.           

As per our report of even date 
For M S K A & Associates         
Chartered Accountants 
Firm Registration Number: 105047W 

Pankaj Kumar Bansal  
Chairman 
DIN: 05197128 

Rakesh Kapur 
Director 
DIN:  00007230

Girish Kumar 
Company Secretary

Place: New Delhi
Date : 10th June 2025

Geetha Jeyakumar 
Partner
Membership No.: 029409  

Place : Chennai
Date : 10th June 2025

P.S. Gahlaut 
Managing Director 
DIN: 00049401

Sudhir Bhargava 
Director 
DIN: 00247515

R. Srinivasan 
Chief Financial Officer
  

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors  
Indian Potash Limited  
CIN:U14219TN1955PLC000961  

Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
All amounts in Indian Rupees Crores, unless otherwise stated  




